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James Lanter Paul O. Wickes

State Bar No. 11940700 State Bar No. 00788663
JAMES LANTER, P.C. WICKES LAW, PLLC
560 N. Walnut Creek 5600 Tennyson Parkway
Suite 120 Suite 205

Mansfield, Texas 76063 Plano, Texas 75024
(817) 453-4800 (972) 473-6900

(817) 453-4801 FAX (972) 767-3225 FAX
jim.lanter@lanter-law.com pwickes@wickeslaw.com

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS,
FORT WORTH DIVISION

In re: § Chapter 11
8
VISTA PROPPANTS AND LOGISTICS, § Case No. 20-42002-ELM-11
LLC,ETAL.! 8
8
Debtors 8  Jointly Administered
8
MAALT, LP, §
8
Plaintiff, 8
§
VS. § Adversary No.
§
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, 8 Removed from Cause No. CVV19-003 in
8 the 51st Judicial District Court, Irion
Defendant. § County, Texas
§

NOTICE OF REMOVAL

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Plaintiff, Maalt, LP (“Maalt” or “Plaintift”), by its

undersigned counsel, submits this Notice of Removal in accordance with Rule 9027 of the Federal

1The Debtors in these Chapter 11 cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor’s federal tax identification
number, are: Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC (7817) (“Vista HoldCo”); VPROP Operating, LLC (0269)
(“VPROP”); Lonestar Prospects Management, L.L.C. (8451) (“Lonestar Management”); MAALT Specialized Bulk,
LLC (2001) (“Bulk”); Denetz Logistics, LLC (8177) (“Denetz”); Lonestar Prospects, Ltd. (4483) (“Lonestar Ltd.”);
and MAALT, LP (5198) (“MAALT”). The location of the Debtors’ service address is 4413 Carey Street, Fort Worth,
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Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure and 28 U.S.C. 8§ 157, 1334, and 1452(a), and respectfully
represents as follows:

1. On June 9, 2020 (the “Petition Date”), Maalt and certain affiliates (“ collectively
with Maalt the “Debtors™) filed voluntary petitions (the “Bankruptcy Cases”) for relief under
Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) in the United States
Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas, Fort Worth Division. The Bankruptcy Cases
are being jointly administered under case number 20-42002-ELM-11, the Honorable Edward L.
Morris presiding. The Debtors are currently operating as debtors-in-possession.

2. On February 13, 2019, the Plaintiff filed its Plaintiff’s Original Petition against
Sequitur Permian, LLC (“Sequitur” or the “Defendant”) in the 51st Judicial District Court, Irion
County, Texas (the “State Court”) bearing the caption Maalt, LP, Plaintiff vs. Sequitur Permian,
LLC, Defendant, Cause No. CV19-003 (the “Civil Action”). The Defendant answered in the Civil
Action and filed a counterclaim against Maalt. Until the filing of this Notice of Removal, the Civil
Action was pending before the State Court.

3. Pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 9027(a)(1), the parties to the Civil Action and their
respective attorneys are as follows:

A Plaintiff:

Maalt, LP
Attorneys:
James Lanter
State Bar No. 11940700
JAMES LANTER, P.C.
560 N. Walnut Creek, Ste. 120
Mansfield, Texas 76063
(817) 453-4800
(817) 453-4801 FAX

jim.lanter@lanter-law.com

Paul O. Wickes
State Bar No. 00788663

NOTICE OF REMOVAL Page 2
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WICKES LAw, PLLC

5600 Tennyson Parkway, Ste. 205
Plano, Texas 75024

(972) 473-6900

(972) 767-3225 FAX
pwickes@wickeslaw.com

Samuel S. Allen

State Bar No. 01057000
JACKSON WALKER LLP
135 W. Twohig Avenue
Suite C

San Angelo, Texas 76093
sallen@jw.com

B. Third Party Defendant
Vista Proppants and Logistics, Inc.
Attorneys:

James Lanter

State Bar No. 11940700
JAMES LANTER, P.C.

560 N. Walnut Creek, Ste. 120
Mansfield, Texas 76063

(817) 453-4800

(817) 453-4801 FAX
jim.lanter@lanter-law.com

Paul O. Wickes

State Bar No. 00788663

WiCKES LAw, PLLC

5600 Tennyson Parkway, Ste. 205
Plano, Texas 75024

(972) 473-6900

(972) 767-3225 FAX
pwickes@wickeslaw.com

Samuel S. Allen

State Bar No. 01057000
JACKSON WALKER LLP
135 W. Twohig Avenue
Suite C

San Angelo, Texas 76093
sallen@jw.com

NOTICE OF REMOVAL Page 3
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C. Defendant:
Sequitur Permian, LLC

Attorneys:
Matthew A. Kornhauser
Dylan B. Russell
HOOVER SLOVACEK LLP
Galleria Tower 11
5051 Westheimer, Ste. 1200
Houston, Texas 77056
Paul B. Stipanovic
GOSSETT HARRISON MILLICAN & STIPANOVIC, P.C.
2 S. Koenigheim Steet
San Angelo, Texas 76902

4. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 88 1334(b), 157(a), 157(b)(2)(N), (A) and (O), and 1334(b)
and the August 3, 1984 Order of Reference of Bankruptcy Cases and Proceedings Nunc Pro Tunc
(Miscellaneous Rule 33) entered by the United States District Court for the Northern District of
Texas, this Court has jurisdiction over the Debtors’ chapter 11 cases and any civil proceedings
arising under, arising in or related to the Debtors’ chapter 11 cases.

5. The Civil Action, including each and every separate claim and cause of action
asserted therein, is a civil action other than a proceeding before the United States Tax Court, and
is not a civil action by a governmental unit to enforce such governmental unit’s police or regulatory
power.

6. Each and all of the claims raised by the Plaintiff and Defendant in its counterclaim
are “core” proceedings arising under or arising in the Bankruptcy Cases, or — at a minimum — are
“related to” the Bankruptcy Cases. In summary, Maalt alleged in the Original Petition and
subsequent amendments that Defendant breached a Terminal Services Agreement, and that breach
caused Maalt significant damages, among other things. The Defendant alleges in its counterclaim

that Maalt fraudulently or negligently induced it to take certain actions and that it relied on such

to its detriment. Maalt denied those allegations. The claims asserted by Defendant in its

NOTICE OF REMOVAL Page 4
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counterclaim form the basis of the claims filed in this case by Defendant as claims numbered 142
and 143.

7. The entire Civil Action and each and every separate claim or cause of action therein
is a “core” proceeding within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(2)(A), (N) and (O). Resolution
of each of the claims in the Civil Action will also materially affect the administration and
reorganization of the Debtors’ estates. To the extent that any of the Plaintiff’s claims include any
“non-core” proceedings, the Plaintiff consents to entry of final orders and judgment by this Court.

8. In the event that it is determined that this Court, absent consent of the parties, cannot
enter a final order or judgment consistent with Article 111 of the United States Constitution, Plaintiff
consents to the entry of final orders and judgment by this Court.

9. In accordance with Bankruptcy Rule 9027(a)(3), the Plaintiff is filing this Notice
of Removal within 90 days of the filing of the Bankruptcy Cases. This Notice of Removal is
accompanied by an Appendix containing copies of the process and all pleadings filed in the Civil
Action prior to its removal from the State Court.

10. Removal to this Court of the Civil Action and each and every separate claim or
cause of action asserted in the Civil Action is authorized and appropriate under 28 U.S.C. 8§ 157,
1334, and 1452 and Bankruptcy Rule 9027.

NOW THEREFORE, all parties to the Civil Action pending in the State Court as Cause
No. CV19-003 are HEREBY NOTIFIED, pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 9027, as follows: Removal
of the Civil Action and each and every claim and cause of action therein is effective upon the filing
of a copy of this Notice of Removal with the Clerk of the State Court pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule
9027(c). The parties to the Civil Action shall proceed no further in the State Court unless and until

the action is remanded to the State Court.

NOTICE OF REMOVAL Page 5
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DATED: September 4, 2020

NOTICE OF REMOVAL

Respectfully submitted,

By:_/s/ James Lanter
James Lanter

State Bar No. 11940700
JAMES LANTER, P.C.

560 N. Walnut Creek
Suite 120

Mansfield, Texas 76063
(817) 453-4800

(817) 453-4801 FAX
jim.lanter@lanter-law.com

Paul O. Wickes

State Bar No. 00788663
WICKES LAW, PLLC
5600 Tennyson Parkway
Suite 205

Plano, Texas 75024

(972) 473-6900

(972) 767-3225 FAX
pwickes@wickeslaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF, MAALT, LP

and THIRD PARTY DEFENDANT VISTA
PROPPANTS AND LOGISTICS, INC.

Page 6
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that on September 4, 2020, a true and correct copy of the
foregoing document was served (i) by electronic mail (where indicated) or by first class mail,
postage prepaid, on the parties listed below, and (ii) by electronic mail to the parties registered or
otherwise entitled to receive electronic notices in these cases pursuant to the Electronic Filing
Procedures in this District:

Matthew A. Kornhauser
kornhauser@hooverslovacek.com
Dylan B. Russell
kornhauser@hooverslovacek.com
HOOVER SLOVACEK LLP

Galleria Tower Il

5051 Westheimer, Ste. 1200
Houston, Texas 77056

Paul B. Stipanovic

pauls@ghtxlaw.com

GOSSETT HARRISON MILLICAN & STIPANOVIC, P.C.
2 S. Koenigheim Steet

San Angelo, Texas 76902

/s/ James Lanter
James Lanter

NOTICE OF REMOVAL Page 7
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James Lanter Paul O. Wickes

State Bar No. 11940700 State Bar No. 00788663
JAMES LANTER, P.C. WICKES LAW, PLLC
560 N. Walnut Creek 5600 Tennyson Parkway
Suite 120 Suite 205

Mansfield, Texas 76063 Plano, Texas 75024
(817) 453-4800 (972) 473-6900

(817) 453-4801 FAX (972) 767-3225 FAX
jim.lanter@lanter-law.com pwickes@wickeslaw.com

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS,
FORT WORTH DIVISION

In re: § Chapter 11
8
VISTA PROPPANTS AND LOGISTICS, § Case No. 20-42002-ELM-11
LLC,ETAL.! 8
8
Debtors 8  Jointly Administered
8
MAALT, LP, 8
8
Plaintiff, 8
§
VS. § Adversary No.
§
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, 8 Removed from Cause No. CVV19-003 in
8 the 51st Judicial District Court, Irion
Defendant. § County, Texas
§

APPENDIX TO NOTICE OF REMOVAL

Plaintiff, Maalt, LP (“Maalt” or “Plaintiff”’), submits this Appendix to Notice of
Removal filed contemporaneously herewith, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1452 and Rule 9027 of the

Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure. This Appendix contains copies of all the pleadings and

1The Debtors in these Chapter 11 cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor’s federal tax identification
number, are: Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC (7817) (“Vista HoldCo”); VPROP Operating, LLC (0269)
(“VPROP”); Lonestar Prospects Management, L.L.C. (8451) (“Lonestar Management”); MAALT Specialized Bulk,
LLC (2001) (“Bulk”); Denetz Logistics, LLC (8177) (“Denetz”); Lonestar Prospects, Ltd. (4483) (“Lonestar Ltd.”);
and MAALT, LP (5198) (“MAALT?”). The location of the Debtors’ service address is 4413 Carey Street, Fort Worth,
TX 76119-4219.

APPENDIX TO NOTICE OF REMOVAL Page 1
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process that were filed in the above-styled and numbered action prior to its removal from the 51st

Judicial District Court, Irion County, Texas.

TAB PAGE Date Filed DOCUMENT

A 0005 Docket Sheet

B 0006 02/13/2019 Plaintiff’s Original Petition

C 0011 03/08/2019 Defendant’s Answer and Counterclaim

D 0029 03/29/2019 Rule 11 Agreement

E 0031 06/26/2019 Plaintiff’s Answer to Counterclaim

F 0034 06/19/2019 Defendant’s Amended Counterclaim and Third Party
Claim

G 0052 10/01/2019 Rule 11 Agreement

H 0054 10/22/2019 Third Party Defendant’s Answer

I 0057 12/20/2019 Defendant’s Second Amended Counterclaim and Original
Third Party Claim

J 0077 12/20/2019 Defendant’s Second Amended Counterclaim and First
Amended Third Party Claim

K 0096 12/20/2019 Plaintiff’s First Amended Original Petition

L 0105 01/10/2020 Plaintiff’s First Amended Answer to Counterclaims

M 0109 01/10/2020 First Amended Answer to Third Party Claims

N 0114 02/13/2020 Plaintiff and Third Party Defendant’s Partial Motion for
Summary Judgment

@) 0204 03/03/2020 Defendant’s Notice of Partial Nonsuit

P 0207 03/03/2020 Defendant’s Response to Plaintiff and Third Party
Defendant’s Partial Motion for Summary Judgment

Q 0224 03/03/2020 Defendant’s Amended Response to Plaintiff and Third
Party Defendant’s Partial Motion for Summary Judgment

R 0325 03/06/2020 Plaintiff and Third Party Defendant’s Objections t0
Summary Judgment Evidence

S 0330 03/06/2020 Plaintiff and Third Party Defendant’s Reply in Support of
Their Motion for Partial Summary Judgment

APPENDIX TO NOTICE OF REMOVAL

Page 2
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T 0341 03/11/2020 Partial Summary Judgment (dismissing promissory
estoppel claim)
U 0342 04/09/2020 Defendant’s Special Exceptions
\% 0347 04/15/2020 Plaintiff’s Second Amended Original Petition
W 0359 04/15/2020 Defendant’s Third Amended Counterclaims and Second
Amended Third-Party Claims
X 0377 04/30/2020 Plaintiff’s Second Amended Answer to Counterclaims
Y 0381 04/30/2020 Plaintiff’s Third Amended Answer to Counterclaims
Z 0385 04/30/2020 Defendant’s Original Answer, Verified Denial and
Affirmative Defenses to Plaintiff’s Second Amended
Petition
AA 0393 05/15/2020 Plaintiff’s Second Motion for Partial Summary Judgment
BB 0675 06/01/2020 Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment on its
Affirmative Defenses of Failure of Condition Precedent,
Penalty and Waiver

DATED: September 4, 2020

APPENDIX TO NOTICE OF REMOVAL

Respectfully submitted,

By:_/s/ James Lanter

James Lanter

State Bar No. 11940700
JAMES LANTER, P.C.

560 N. Walnut Creek
Suite 120

Mansfield, Texas 76063
(817) 453-4800

(817) 453-4801 FAX
jim.lanter@lanter-law.com

Paul O. Wickes

State Bar No. 00788663
WICKES LAW, PLLC
5600 Tennyson Parkway
Suite 205

Plano, Texas 75024

(972) 473-6900

(972) 767-3225 FAX
pwickes@wickeslaw.com

Page 3
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ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF, MAALT, LP
and THIRD PARTY DEFENDANT VISTA
PROPPANTS AND LOGISTICS, INC.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that on September 4, 2020, a true and correct copy of the
foregoing document was served (i) by electronic mail (where indicated) or by first class mail,
postage prepaid, on the parties listed below, and (ii) by electronic mail to the parties registered or
otherwise entitled to receive electronic notices in these cases pursuant to the Electronic Filing
Procedures in this District:

Matthew A. Kornhauser
kornhauser@hooverslovacek.com
Dylan B. Russell
kornhauser@hooverslovacek.com
HOOVER SLOVACEK LLP

Galleria Tower Il

5051 Westheimer, Ste. 1200
Houston, Texas 77056

Paul B. Stipanovic

pauls@ghtxlaw.com

GOSSETT HARRISON MILLICAN & STIPANOVIC, P.C.
2 S. Koenigheim Steet

San Angelo, Texas 76902

/sl James Lanter
James Lanter

APPENDIX TO NOTICE OF REMOVAL Page 4
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Shirley Graham-Miles

Irion County - District Clerk District Clerk
Irion County, Texas

Ashley Masters

CAUSE NUMBER  ©V18-003

MAALT, LP, Plaintiff IN THE DISTRICT COURT

§
§
Vs. § 51st JUDICIAL DISTRICT
§
§

SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, Defendant IRION COUNTY, TEXAS

PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL PETITION
TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF SAID COURT:

COMES NOW, Maalt, LP (“Maalt”), Plaintiff, and files this its Original Petition, and in support
thereof, respectfully shows this Court as follows:

DISCOVERY CONTROL PLAN

l.
Plaintiff intends to conduct discovery under Level 3 of Texas Rule of Civil Procedure 190.4.

RULE 47 STATEMENT OF RELIEF REQUESTED

1.
Plaintiff seeks monetary relief over $1,000,000.00.
PARTIES
[l
Plaintiff, Maalt, LP, is a Texas limited partnership with its principal place of business in
Tarrant County, Texas.
Defendant, Sequitur Permian, LLC, (“Sequitur”) is limited liability company with its prinicipal
place of business in Harris County, Texas. It may be served by serving its registered agent, Capitol
Corporate Services, Inc. at 206 East 9" Street, Suite 1300, Austin, Travis County, Texas 78701.

The Clerk is requested to serve the citation on Defendant by Certified Mail.

Plaintiff’s Original Petition Page 1

Removal Appendix 0006
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Venue is proper in Irion County, Texas, pursuant to Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code
§15.002(a)(1) because that is the county in which all or a substantial part of the events giving rise
to Maalt’s claims and causes of action occurred.

FACTS
V.

Maalt is in the business of operating transloading facilities that transload materials used in
the oil and gas industry in Texas. Its transloading activities typically involve transloading materials
from rail cars to trucks for delivery to well sites and vice versa. Maalt operates a transloading facility
in Barnhart, Texas (the “Barnhart Facility”) that is provided rail service by Texas Pacifico
Transportation, Ltd. (the “Railroad”).

VI.

In August 2018, Maalt entered into a Terminal Services Agreement (the “Contract”) with
Sequitur to develop and operate a crude oil transloading business at the Barnhart Facility. The
Contract granted Sequitur the exclusive right to operate a crude oil transloading facility at the
Barnhart Facility. In exchange, Sequitur agreed to pay Maalt $1.50 per barrel of crude oil
transloaded with a minimum daily volume obligation of 11,424 barrels on a monthly basis (for
example, 342,720 barrels in a 30 day month). If Sequitur failed to deliver the required volumes for
transloading, it was obligated to pay Maalt a minimum fee equal to the price per barrel times the
minimum daily volume requirement times the number of days in the month (for example, in the

case of a 30 day month, $1.50 X 11,424 X 30 = $514,080.00).

Plaintiff’s Original Petition Page 2

Removal Appendix 0007
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VII.

Pursuant to the Contract, Sequitur constructed the Phase | Project improvements at the
Barnhart Facility, including equipment and facilities necessary for loading railcars with crude oil
brought to the Barnhart Facility in trucks, and those improvements became operational in about
October, 2018. Under the terms of the Contract, Sequitur’s obligations to pay Maalt the minimum
payment began once the improvements were operational.

VIII.

Despite the completion of the Phase 1 Project improvements, Sequitur did not begin
transloading crude oil as required by the Contract. It has also refused to pay Maalt the minimum
transloading fees it is obligated to pay. Based on information and belief, Sequitur refused and
failed to do so because the economics of sending crude oil to the Barnhart Facility changed to the
point that it was no longer a “good deal” for Sequitur.

IX.

On December 7, 2018, Sequitur sent Maalt a letter claiming that it was experiencing a force
majeure event because of the “unavailability, interruption, delay, or curtailment of rail transportation
services for the Product, despite continued efforts to procure such services. . ..” On February 8,
2019, Sequitur then sent Maalt a letter claiming to terminate the Contract pursuant to the force
majeure provisions of the Contract. However, in reality there was never a force majeure event as
rail service to the Barnhart Facility was never unavailable, interrupted, delayed or curtailed. Rather,
Sequitur was asserting its force majeure claim as a pretext in an effort to terminate the Contract

simply because the financial benefits it sought to reap from the deal were no longer realistic.

Plaintiff’s Original Petition Page 3

Removal Appendix 0008
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X.

Sequitur’s conduct indicates that it is absolutely and unconditionally refusing to perform the
Contract. It has therefore repudiated the Contract, and has therefore materially breached the
Contract. Moreover, by sending its February 8, 2019 letter attempting to terminate the Contract,
Sequitur has improperly attempted to terminate the Contract in order to avoid its contractual
obligations.

BREACH OF CONTRACT

XI.
Paragraphs IV through X are incorporated herein by reference. Sequitur’s repudiation of
the Contract constitutes a material breach of the Contract. As a result, Vista has sustained damage
within the jurisdictional limits of the Court, for which Maalt now sues.

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT

XIl.

Paragraphs V through Xl are incorporated herein by reference. Maalt seeks a declaration
pursuant to the Texas Declaratory Judgments Act, Texas Civil Practice & Remedies Code, Chapter
37, that:

a. The Termination Operations Commencement Date under the Contract occurred and
the date of its occurrence;

b. The “force majeure event” alleged by Sequitur did not occur and is a mere pretext;

C. The date the payment obligations created by Article 3 of the Contract began; and

d. Sequitur breached the Contract by refusing to perform its obligations under the
Contract.
Plaintiff’s Original Petition Page 4

Removal Appendix 0009
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ATTORNEYS’ FEES

Xl

Pursuant to Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code Chapters 37 and 38 and the terms of

the Contract, Maalt is entitled to recover its reasonable and necessary attorneys’ fees and

associated litigation and expert costs from Sequitur.

WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, Maalt, LP, Plaintiff, prays that Defendant be

cited to appear and answer herein, and that Plaintiff recover the following:

1.

2.

All damages to which it may be entitled;

Its reasonable and necessary attorney’s fees, litigation costs, and expert costs;

Pre and post judgment interest allowed by law;

All costs of Court; and

Such other and further such other and further relief to which it may be justly entitled.
Respectfully submitted,

[s/ James Lanter

James Lanter

State Bar No. 11940700
jim.lanter@lanter-law.com
JAMES LANTER, PC

560 N. Walnut Creek, Suite 120
Mansfield, Texas 76063

Phone: 817.453.4800

Fax: 817.453.4801

Paul O. Wickes

State Bar No. 00788663
WICKES LAW, PLLC
5600 Tennyson Parkway
Suite 205

Plano, Texas 75024
(972) 473-6900

(972) 767-3225 FAX
pwickes@wickeslaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF

Plaintiff’s Original Petition Page 5
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Shirley Graham-Miles

District Clerk

Irion County, Texas

Ashley Masters

CAUSE NO. CV19-003

MAALT, LP,
Plaintiff,

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF

V.

IRION COUNTY, TEXAS

SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC,
Defendants.

PocleoclvoclivocliVoclVoclivoclivosl

51ST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

DEFENDANT’S ORIGINAL ANSWER &
DEFENDANT/COUNTER-PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL COUNTERCLAIMS
& VERIFIED APPLICATION FOR TEMPORARY MANDATORY INJUNCTION

COMES NOW, Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff, SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC (“Sequitur”),
in the above styled and numbered cause and file this its Original Answer & Defendant/Counter-
Plaintiff’s Original Counterclaims & Verified! Application for Temporary Mandatory Injunction
and in support thereof would show unto the Court, as follows:

GENERAL DENIAL

1. Subject to any stipulations, admissions, special exceptions, special and affirmative
defenses which may be alleged, Defendant asserts a general denial, in accordance with Rule 92 of
the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, and demands strict proof of the Plaintiff’s suit, by a

preponderance of the evidence, as required by the Constitution and the laws of the State of Texas.

! See the Unsworn Declaration of Nicholas “Nick™ Eldridge, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by
reference. See also the Unsworn Declaration of Braden Merrill, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by
reference.

{171480/00002/01300674.DOCX 1 } 1
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AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES

2. By way of further answer, if such be necessary, and without waiving any of the
foregoing, Sequitur asserts, pursuant to Rule 94 of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, the
affirmative defense of failure of consideration.

3. By way of further answer, if such be necessary, and without waiving any of the
foregoing, Sequitur asserts, pursuant to Rule 94 of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, the
affirmative defense of waiver, including express contractual waiver and/or implied waiver.

4. By way of further answer, if such be necessary, and without waiving any of the
foregoing, Sequitur asserts, pursuant to Rule 94 of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, the
affirmative defense of failure of statute of frauds.

5. By way of further answer, if such be necessary, and without waiving any of the
foregoing, Sequitur asserts, pursuant to Rule 94 of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, the
affirmative defense of contractual force majeure.

6. By way of further answer, if such be necessary, and without waiving any of the
foregoing, Sequitur asserts, pursuant to Rule 94 of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, the
affirmative defense of excuse and/or justification.

7. By way of further answer, if such be necessary, and without waiving any of the
foregoing, Sequitur asserts, pursuant to Rule 94 of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, the
affirmative defense of failure to mitigate damages.

8. By way of further answer, if such be necessary, and without waiving any of the
foregoing, Sequitur asserts, pursuant to Rule 94 of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, the
affirmative defense of failure to perform conditions precedent.

{171480/00002/01300674.DOCX 1 } 2

Removal Appendix 0012



Case 20-04064-elm Doc 1-1 Filed 09/04/20 Entered 09/04/20 10:53:27 Page 13 of 862

0. By way of further answer, if such be necessary, and without waiving any of the
foregoing, Sequitur asserts, pursuant to Rule 94 of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, the
affirmative defense of impossibility.

10. By way of further answer, if such be necessary, and without waiving any of the
foregoing, Sequitur asserts, pursuant to Rule 94 of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, the
affirmative defense of prior material breach of contract and/or repudiation.

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF COUNTERCLAIMS

1. On the effective date of August 6, 2018, Sequitur entered into a Terminal Services
Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Plaintiff Maalt, LP (“Maalt”). Per the Agreement, Maalt
(described as “Terminal Owner”) was the owner and operator of a rail terminal (the “Terminal”)?
located in Barnhart, Texas on land owned by Maalt, and Sequitur (described as “Customer”) was
engaged in the business of transportation and marketing of crude oil and other liquid hydrocarbon
products owned or controlled by Sequitur (hereinafter “oil”). Among other contractual duties, the
Agreement provided that Maalt would provide the labor, supervision, and materials necessary to
deliver, handle, measure, and redeliver (hereinafter “transload”) the oil to Sequitur or to Sequitur’s
third-party customers. Sequitur would have the exclusive rights to use the Terminal for
transloading oil.

12. The Agreement contemplated two methods of delivery of oil to the Terminal, by
either truck or pipeline. Regardless of the method of delivery, upon receipt, Maalt would then

transload the oil into railcars to Sequitur or Sequitur’s third-party customers. In order to facilitate

2 The Terminal’s address is located at 44485 W. Hwy 67, Barnhart, Irion County, Texas 76930 and is more
specifically described in the Agreement in Exhibit A-1 thereto.
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the transloading into railcars of oil that was delivered by truck, Sequitur, at its sole cost and
expense, would install equipment and facilities at the Terminal, which was described in the
Agreement as the “Phase I Project.” Additionally, if Sequitur elected to do so, it could also install
at its sole cost and expense, equipment and facilities at the Terminal for transloading oil into
railcars from pipelines (versus trucks), which was described in the Agreement as the “Phase II
Project.”

13. Significantly, as to the equipment and facilities installed by Sequitur (collectively
“Customer Terminal Modifications”) in connection with the either the Phase I Project or the Phase
II Project, Maalt agreed in the Agreement that “title to the equipment and facilities installed by
or at the direction of [Sequitur] in connection with a Customer Terminal Modification shall
remain with and be vested in [Sequitur].” See Agreement, § 2.7. The only exception to
Sequitur’s title and ownership to the Customer Terminal Modifications that it may have installed
or directed, at its own cost and expense, was “any additional rail tracks that may [have been]
installed,” which additional tracks’ ownership, if so installed, would be transferred to Maalt after
the expiration of the Agreement’s term, subject to certain rights of Sequitur. See Agreement, § 2.7.

14. In very general terms and subject to numerous terms and conditions, in exchange
for Maalt’s operation of the Terminal and its transloading of oil exclusively for Sequitur, further
conditioned upon the occurrence of the Terminal Operations Commencement Date, Maalt would
be paid at least a minimum payment (the “Shortfall Payment”) depending on the amount of oil
actually transloaded through the Terminal. See Agreement, § 3.2.

15. Any obligation for Sequitur to pay the Shortfall Payment, however, was expressly
made subject to “the terms of this Agreement, including . . . Force Majeure.” See Agreement, §
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3.1. The Agreement could not have been clearer when it provided, as follows: “There shall be no
Shortfall Payment due and owing for the Shortfall to the extent caused or contributed to by
Force Majeure or due to such Terminal Owner [Maalt] breach.” See Agreement, § 3.2(a).

16.  Additionally, no payment would be due under the Agreement, including any
Shortfall Payment, until “after the Terminal Operations Commencement Date.” See Agreement, §
3.1. The Terminal Operations Commencement Date was defined as “the date that the Terminal is
fully operational to enable the performance and receipt of the Services and any and all Regulatory
Approvals for the Services have been obtained, in each case, as reasonably determined by
Customer [Sequitur] and as such date is evidenced by a written notice sent by Customer
[Sequitur] to Terminal Owner [Maalt].” See Agreement, § 1.

17. Importantly, in the event of a Force Majeure, any obligation of Sequitur to make
payments to Maalt only existed for oil “actually Throughput at the Terminal.” See Agreement, §
14.1. The term “Throughput” was defined as “the delivery of Product [o0il] from trucks or pipeline
into the Terminal on behalf of Customer [Sequitur] or Customer’s [Sequitur’s] third-party
customers.” See Agreement, § 1. Subject to the terms of the Agreement, Sequitur was only
obligated to pay Maalt a throughput fee of $1.50 per Barrel for Product Throughput through the
Terminal. See Agreement, §4.1. “Product Throughput” was the metered quantity of oil actually
delivered into the Terminal and transloaded by Maalt into railcars. See Agreement, Art. 5. No oil
was ever actually Throughput at the Terminal.

18. The Agreement defined both “Force Majeure Event” and “Force Majeure” to mean
“any cause not within the reasonable control of a Party claiming suspension, and that could not
have been avoided or overcome by the exercise of due diligence by such Party,” which included a
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lengthy list of various events and occurrences. Included in the list of events and occurrences was
“the unavailability, interruption, delay or curtailment of Product transportation services” and a
catch-all for “any other cause or causes beyond the reasonable control of the Party claiming
suspension, whether similar or not to those listed.” See Agreement, § 14.2. If either party
determined it was necessary to declare a Force Majeure Event, notice was required first by phone
or email and then by mail or overnight carrier. See Agreement, § 14.3.

19. At no point in time, including between August 6, 2018 and December 7, 2018, did
Sequitur ever send written notice to Maalt that the Terminal Operations Commencement Date had
occurred.

20. At no point in time, including between August 6, 2018 and December 7, 2018, was
oil “actually Throughput at the” Terminal.

21. On December 7, 2018, in accordance with the terms of the Agreement, Sequitur
sent written notice to Maalt by email and FedEx that Sequitur had declared an existing “Force
Majeure” under the Agreement because of the “unavailability, interruption, delay or curtailment
of rail transportation services” for the oil, “despite continued efforts to procure such services.”
More specifically, a Force Majeure event occurred because crude oil transportation service (e.g.,
rail service and capacity) to allow for Sequitur’s use of the Terminal for the intended purposes of
the Agreement was not available despite diligent efforts to procure such service and capacity, and
such event of Force Majeure was not within the reasonable control of Sequitur. The written notice
also noted that Sequitur anticipated that the Force Majeure event would “continue for the

foreseeable future.”
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22. On January 28, 2019, Sequitur received an invoice from Maalt dated January 25,
2019 for $531,216.00, which was presumably for an alleged Shortfall Payment.

23. On January 31, 2019, Sequitur sent written notice to Maalt responding to the
January 25, 2019 invoice disputing that such amount was owed because both the Force Majeure
event had occurred and remained continuing, and also because, as noted above, the Terminal
Operations Commencement Date had not been reached per the terms of the Agreement. Sequitur
also indicated that it would inform Maalt of “any changes or developments in the status of the
Existing Force Majeure.”

24. On February 8, 2019, Sequitur sent written notice to Maalt by email and FedEx that
the declared Force Majeure had continued for sixty days, despite Sequitur’s continued efforts to
procure such services. Accordingly, Sequitur notified Maalt of Sequitur’s right to terminate the
Agreement. Specifically, Sequitur relied on the “Termination for Extended Force Majeure”
provision in the Agreement, which provides, in pertinent part, that “[b]y written notice to the other
Party, a Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement prior to the end of the Term if the
Parties are unable to fulfill the purposes of this Agreement due to Force Majeure for a period equal
to or greater than (a) (60) consecutive Days.” See Agreement, § 8.4. The February 8, 2019 notice
also noted that Sequitur would be contacting Maalt to discuss and coordinate the removal of
Sequitur’s equipment and facilities installed at the Terminal (Customer Terminal Modifications).
See Agreement, §§ 2.5 and 2.7 (describing, upon termination of the Agreement, Sequitur’s “right
of access over, on, and across” the lands upon which the Terminal was located for “purposes of

enforcing” Sequitur’s “rights under this Agreement” to remove the Customer Terminal
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Modifications, and also acknowledging Sequitur’s undisputed “title to and ownership of” such
Customer Terminal Modifications).

25.  Notably, as to Sequitur’s notice of Termination for Extended Force Majeure, the
Agreement further provided that “[f]ollowing the giving of such notice, neither Party shall have
any further obligations to the other Party under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, with
respect to the Minimum Volume Commitment),” which included any obligation to pay any
Shortfall Payment, Throughput Fee, or any other fee or payment. See Agreement, §§ 8.4, 3.1, and
3.2.

26. On or about February 14, 2019, an attorney for Maalt sent a letter dated February
14, 2019 to Sequitur, which disputed that the Force Majeure event had occurred but without any
reference to evidence to the contrary and only a conclusory unfounded assertion of pretext. The
letter also included a copy of the Original Petition filed in this case by Maalt on February 13, 2019,
at 5:00 p.m. Significantly, the letter also stated that “Maalt will not allow your company access to
the Barnhart property [Terminal] to remove equipment or otherwise” and that “[a]ny attempt to
access the property will be considered a trespass.” Notably absent from the letter was any
reference to any terms in the Agreement or legal authority that permitted Maalt to refuse Sequitur
access to the property to retrieve Sequitur’s equipment and facilities or that suggested Sequitur’s
undisputed “right of access over, on, and across” the property or Terminal for “purposes of
enforcing” Sequitur’s “rights under this Agreement,” including removing and retrieving Sequitur’s
equipment and facilities, had been terminated. See Agreement, § 2.5.

27. On February 22, 2019, Sequitur’s attorney sent a letter to Maalt’s attorney,
responding to the February 14, 2019 letter noted above. In the letter, Sequitur’s attorney reiterated
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that Sequitur had properly terminated the Agreement. Most significantly, however, the letter
explained that earlier on February 22, 2019, Sequitur had learned that its equipment had
wrongfully been removed, stolen, and misappropriated from the Terminal by Maalt, without notice
or warning. Sequitur learned that its equipment and facilities were removed to a location
approximately 25 miles away from the Terminal and on real property that Sequitur does not have
an express right of access, like it does with respect to the Terminal per the terms of the Agreement.
The letter also demanded that Sequitur’s equipment and facilities be returned to Sequitur by no
later than February 25, 2019, at 5:00 p.m. Despite Sequitur’s letter and demand, Maalt never
responded nor returned Sequitur’s equipment. And Maalt has otherwise failed and refused to honor
its obligations under the Agreement with respect to Sequitur’s rights and access to its equipment
and facilities and all other rights that Sequitur has under the Agreement.

28. Sequitur’s equipment and facilities, wrongfully removed, stolen, and
misappropriated by Maalt, is valued at approximately $2,576,505.21 in the aggregate, if not more,
and includes numerous devices, components, and items. Because Sequitur does not have legal
access to the property where Maalt has currently relocated Sequitur’s equipment and facilities,
Sequitur cannot properly secure and protect such equipment and facilities from damage, corrosion,
vandalism, or a subsequent theft by persons other than Maalt. Additionally, without immediate
access to its equipment and facilities, Sequitur cannot retrieve the equipment and facilities and use
it for other business opportunities, should they arise. Simply put, the harm being suffered by
Maalt’s wrongfully removing, stealing, and misappropriating Sequitur’s equipment is irreparable

and immeasurable.
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ORIGINAL COUNTERCLAIMS

29.  Per Rule 37, Sequitur seeks nonmonetary relief, including declaratory, ancillary,
and injunctive (including prohibitive and mandatory) relief, and additionally, or in the alternative,
to such relief, monetary relief of over $1,000,000.00.

30. Sequitur incorporates herein the facts set forth above.

Breach of Contract

31. Sequitur and Maalt entered into the Agreement. Sequitur properly terminated the
Agreement, while retaining certain rights under the Agreement. Despite the foregoing, Maalt
breached the Agreement. Maalt’s breach has caused Sequitur injury.

Declaratory Judgment

32. Pursuant to Chapter 37 of the Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code, known as
the Texas Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act (hereafter “UDJA™), the parties have a dispute
about their rights and obligations under the Agreement. Sequitur seeks a declaratory judgment
from this Court, as follows:

(1) No Terminal Operations Commencement Date ever occurred;

(2) On December 7, 2018, Sequitur properly sent notice of a Force Majeure, and such

Force Majeure existed;

(3) On February 8, 2019, Sequitur properly sent notice terminating the Agreement because

a Force Majeure existed for at least sixty days;

(4) Effective February 8, 2019, the Agreement was terminated by Force Majeure;

(5) Sequitur neither owes nor owed a payment of any kind to Maalt under the Agreement;
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(6) Sequitur has the exclusive right and title to the equipment and facilities it installed at
the Terminal, and that Maalt wrongfully removed, stolen, and misappropriated such
equipment and facilities; and

(7) Sequitur has the right to retrieve its equipment and facilities from any location where

Maalt has placed such equipment and facilities.

Conversion

33. Sequitur owns and has the right to immediate possession of the equipment and
facilities that it installed at the Terminal. The equipment and facilities are personal property. Maalt
wrongfully exercised dominion and control of such property by refusing to allow Sequitur to
retrieve such property from the Terminal, by wrongfully removing, stealing, and misappropriating
Sequitur’s property and placing it at a location approximately 25 miles from the Terminal, and by
refusing to return Sequitur’s property to the Terminal upon remand or otherwise continuing to
refuse Sequitur’s access to its property. As a result of Maalt’s acts and/or omissions, Sequitur has
suffered injury.

Civil Theft — CPRC 134.001 et seq.

34, Sequitur owns and has the right to immediate possession of the equipment and
facilities that it installed at the Terminal. The equipment and facilities are personal property. Maalt
unlawfully appropriated, secured, and/or stole Sequitur’s property. Maalt’s unlawful taking was
made with the intent to deprive Sequitur to its property and/or to engage in an unlawful attempt to
circumvent the law and the parties’ Agreement by effectively conducting an unauthorized pre-trial
sequestration of Sequitur’s property, despite Maalt lacking any right, title, or interest in such
property, as a matter of law. As a result of Maalt’s theft, Sequitur has suffered injury.
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APPLICATION FOR TEMPORARY MANDATORY INJUNCTION

35. Sequitur incorporates herein the verified facts, claims, and allegations set forth
herein.

36. Section 65.011 of the Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code lists the
circumstances under which this Court can grant temporary injunctive relief, in pertinent part, as
follows:

A writ of injunction may be granted if:

(2) aparty performs or is about to perform or is procuring or allowing the

performance of an act relating to the subject of pending litigation, in violation of

the rights of the applicant, and the act would tend to render the judgment in that

litigation ineffectual;

(3) the applicant is entitled to a writ of injunction under the principles of equity

and the statutes of this state relating to injunctions;

...or

(5) irreparable injury to real or personal property is threatened, irrespective of

any remedy at law.

TEX. C1v. PRAC. & REM. CODE ANN. § 65.011.

37. Under common law, “[t]o obtain a temporary injunction, the applicant must plead
and prove three specific elements: (1) a cause of action against the defendant; (2) a probable right
to the relief sought; and (3) a probable, imminent, and irreparable injury in the interim.” Butnaru,
84 S.W.3d 198, 204 (Tex. 2002). “An injury is irreparable if the injured party cannot be adequately
compensated in damages or if the damages cannot be measured by any certain pecuniary standard.”
1d.

38. It should also be noted that to prove probable right of relief, Sequitur “need not
establish the correctness of [its] claim to obtain temporary relief, but must show only a likelihood

of success on the merits.” See DeSantis v. Wackenhut Corp., 793 S.W.2d 670, 686 (Tex. 1990).
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To be clear, however, “[a]t the hearing for a temporary writ of injunction, the applicant is not
required to establish that [it] will prevail on final trial.” Walling v. Metcalfe, 863 S.W.2d 56, 58
(Tex. 1993). Thus, although Sequitur believes the evidence to be presented at the temporary
injunction hearing and ultimately at trial will clearly show it will prevail at trial, this Court need
not reach that conclusion in order to issue the relief sought herein.

39. In addition to the statutory and common law right to injunctive relief, the
Agreement provides, in pertinent part, that “each Party, in addition to and without limiting any
other remedy or right it may have, . . . will have the right to an injunction or other equitable relief
in any court of competent jurisdiction . . . enforcing specifically the terms and provisions hereof,
and each of the Parties hereto hereby waives any and all defenses it may have on the ground of
lack of jurisdiction or competence of the court to grant such an injunction or other equitable relief.”
See Agreement, § 8.6.

40. Based on the facts set forth above, and as verified herein, as well as the evidence
that will be presented as the temporary injunction hearing, this Court should grant the mandatory
temporary injunctive sought, as set forth below. In summary, (1) Sequitur has causes of action
against Maalt, noted above, that relate to, among other things, Sequitur’s undisputed right in,
access to, and title in Sequitur’s equipment and facilities; (2) Sequitur’s ability to recover under
its claims, including its right in, access to, and title in such equipment and facilities, is probable;
and (3) without the mandatory temporary injunctive relief sought by Sequitur, the injury to
Sequitur and its equipment and facilities is probable, imminent, and irreparable in the interim.

Additionally, since Maalt wrongfully moved and removed Sequitur’s equipment and facilities,

{171480/00002/01300674.DOCX 1 } 13

Removal Appendix 0023



Case 20-04064-elm Doc 1-1 Filed 09/04/20 Entered 09/04/20 10:53:27 Page 24 of 862

returning such equipment and facilities to Sequitur will preserve the status quo, which has been
disrupted and disturbed by Maalt’s wrongful acts.

41. Sequitur hereby requests at least the following mandatory temporary injunctive
relief: (1) that Maalt be mandatorily ordered to immediately take steps secure and protect
Sequitur’s equipment and facilities from damage in general and damage, corrosion, vandalism, or
a subsequent theft by any third-persons; (2) that Maalt, at its own cost and expense, return as soon
as possible Sequitur’s equipment and facilities to the Terminal or at a location nearby, at Sequitur’s
direction; (3) that Maalt, upon delivery of the equipment and facilities to the Terminal,
immediately notify Sequitur of its right to retrieve the equipment and facilities from the Terminal,
and (4) that Maalt immediately coordinate with Sequitur or any contractor or agent of Sequitur’s
choice to permanently retrieve and remove the equipment and facilities from the Terminal, with
the aid and cooperation of Maalt, and without any interference or delay whatsoever by Maalt.

42. Sequitur is willing to post a bond (or cash in lieu of a bond) for the mandatory
temporary injunctive sought above. Sequitur asserts that $500.00 for a bond (or cash in lieu of a
bond) is more than sufficient considering that Maalt will suffer no harm from permitting Sequitur
to retrieve the equipment, consistent with the Agreement and Texas law.

43. Sequitur request a hearing on its Application for Temporary Mandatory Injunction,
as soon as practicable, and that such hearing be given preference over certain other matters pending
in the trial court, per Texas law. See TEX. GOV’T CODE § 23.101(a)(1) (stating “[t]he trial courts
of this state shall regularly and frequently set hearings . . . of pending matters, giving preference

to hearings . . . of the following . . . (1) temporary injunctions”).
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RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, Defendant, SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC,
further requests that Plaintiff recover nothing by its suit; that Counter-Plaintiff/Defendant,
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, recover and obtain from Plaintiff Maalt all injunctive relief
requested herein above, including ancillary, mandatory, and prohibitive injunctive relief, the
declaratory relief sought above, all damages, and its court costs, expenses, and reasonable and
necessary (and equitable and just per UDJA) attorney’s fees against the Plaintiff, as noted above,
pursuant to the prevailing party clause in the subject Agreement and Chapter 37 of the UDJA; and
that Counter-Plaintiff/Defendant, SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC have such other and further relief
to which it is entitled, whether at law or in equity.

Respectfully submitted,
HOOVER SLOVACEK LLP

By: /s/ Matthew A. Kornhauser
Matthew A. Kornhauser

State Bar No. 11684500

Dylan B. Russell

State Bar No. 24041839
Galleria Tower 11

5051 Westheimer, Suite 1200
Houston, Texas 77056
Telephone: 713-977-8686
Facsimile: 713-977-5395
kornhauser@hooverslovacek.com
russell@hooverslovacek.com

ATTORNEYS FOR
DEFENDANT/COUNTER-PLAINTIFF,
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC

and
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GOSSETT, HARRISON,
MILLICAN & STIPANOVIC, P.C.

By: /s/ Paul D. Stipanovic
State Bar No. 00795669
Galleria Tower 11

2 S. Koenigheim Street
San Angelo, Texas 76903
Telephone: 325-653-3291
Facsimile: 325-655-6838
pauls@ghtxlaw.com

CO-COUNSEL FOR
DEFENDANT/COUNTER-PLAINTIFF,
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this, the 8th day of March 2019, a true and correct copy of the
foregoing document was served via e-service to all counsel of record as follows:

James Lanter

JAMES LANTER, PC

560 N. Walnut Creek, Suite 120
Mansfield, Texas 76063

Paul O. Wickes

WICKES Law, PLLC

5600 Tennyson Parkway, Suite 205
Plano, Texas 75024

/s/ Dylan B. Russell
Dylan B. Russell
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CAUSE NO. CV19-003
MAALT, LP, IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF
Plaintiff,

2

IRION COUNTY, TEXAS

SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC,
Defendants.

51ST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

WO LON O WON O UOn Won won

UNSWORN DECLARATION OF BRADEN MERRILL

THE STATE OF TEXAS §
§
COUNTY OF HARRIS §

1. “My name is Braden Merrill. Iam the CFO of Sequitur Permian, LLC (“Sequitur”). I am
above the age of twenty-one (21). T have personal knowledge of all the facts stated in this
declaration and am in all respects qualified to make the same. My date of birth is February
6, 1981, My business address with Sequitur is at 2050 W. Sam Houston Parkway S., Suite
2050, Houston, Texas 77042. Further, I declare under penalty of perjury that the contents
of this declaration are true and correct.

2. T have reviewed Sequitur’s Original Answer & Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff’s Original
Counterclaims & Verified Application for Temporary Mandatory Injunction. The facts set
forth in paragraphs 11-28, 39, and 42 are true and correct within my personal knowledge,
with the only exception being the statement set forth in paragraph 27 that Sequitur’s
equipment and facilities were removed to a location approximately 25 miles away from the
Terminal and on real property that Sequitur does not have an express right of access.

EXECUTED this 8th day of March, %@ %/Q

Braden Merrill /
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CAUSE NO. CV19-003

MAALT, LP, § IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF
Plaintiff, §
§
V. §
§ IRION COUNTY, TEXAS
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, §
Defendants. §
§ 51ST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

UNSWORN DECLARATION OF NICHOLAS “NICK” ELDRIDGE

THE STATE OF TEXAS

§
§

COUNTY OF TOM GREEN §

1. “My name is Nicholas “Nick” Eldridge. 1 am the Facilities Superintendent of Sequitur
Sequitur Permian, LL.C (“Sequitur”). I am above the age of twenty-one (21). I have
personal knowledge of all the facts stated in this declaration and am in all respects qualified
to make the same. My date of birth is December 25, 1979. My business address with

Sequitur is at 24 Smith Road, Suite 600, Midland, Texas 79705. Further, I declare under
penalty of perjury that the contents of this declaration are true and correct.

2. I have reviewed Sequitur’s Original Answer & Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff’s Original
Counterclaims & Verified Application for Temporary Mandatory Injunction. The
statement set forth in paragraph 27 in that document that Sequitur’s equipment and
facilities were removed to a location approximately 25 miles away from the Terminal and
on real property that Sequitur does not have an express right of access, is true and correct
within my personal knowledge.

EXECUTED this 8th day of March, 2019. ZL Z\/
o 1

Micholas “Nick” Eldridge
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Shirley Graham-Miles

District Clerk
Irion County, Texas

Ashley Masters

HOOVER SLOVACEK LLP
A REGISTERED LIMITED LIABILITY PARTNERSHIP
MATTHEW A, KORNHAUSER ATTORNEYS AT LAW REPLY TO:
PARTNER GALLERIA TOWER II P.0. BOX 4547

5051 WESTHEIMER, SUITE 1200 HOUSTON, TEXAS 77210

h
kornhauser@hooverslovacek.com HOUSTON, TEXAS 77056

(713) 977-8686
FAX (713) 977-5395

March 29, 2019
Via Email pwickes@wickeslaw.com
Mr. Paul Wickes
Attorney at Law
5600 Tennyson Pkwy
Suite 2015
Plano, Texas 75024

Re:  Maalt L.P. (“Maalt™) v. Sequitur Permian, LLC (“Sequitur”); Cause No. 19-003,
In the 51st Judicial District Court for Irion County, Texas.

Dear Mr. Wickes:

I am writing in response to your March 25, 2019 letter to my law partner, Dylan Russell,
and to propose an agreement between the parties, per Rule 11.

As you are likely aware, on February 22,2019, I wrote to your co-counsel, James L. Lanter,
demanding that Sequitur’s property and equipment, including the transloaders, be returned by
February 25, 2019. That letter was ignored, necessitating Sequitur’s preparation and filing of the
application for a temporary mandatory injunction. Needless to say, had Mr. Lanter responded to
my demand and offered to have the property and equipment returned, or had Maalt not unlawfully
converted the same to begin with, Sequitur would not have had to incur the related expenses and
wasted time.

With respect to the hearing on April 8, 2019, and in light of the foregoing, Sequitur will
agree to pass that hearing on the following terms:

(1) Maalt hereby gives Sequitur access and permission to retrieve! next
week the transloaders and related equipment from Maalt’s Big Lake Transload
facility, initially at Sequitur’s cost, but Sequitur reserves the right to seek
reimbursement of such costs from Maalt since the equipment was removed from
Maalt’s Irion County terminal; and

(2) Maalt hereby gives Sequitur access and permission to retrieve from
Maalt’s Irion County terminal the following equipment and related materials, at
Sequitur’s cost per Section 2.7 of the Terminal Services Agreement: 1 trailer

1 Sequitur will contact David Goodwin, as proposed by Maalt, to coordinate the retrieval of the transloaders

and related equipment.
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mounted generator, 1 flare assembly, 1 300 bbl tank, 1 separator, 2 storage
containers, API Valves & BV’s on risers (over 90 sets), as well as fire extinguishers,
gaskets, and hoses.
If Maalt agrees to these terms, sign below, per Rule 11.
If you have any questions, please contact the undersigned.

Very truly yours,

HOOVER SLOVACEK LLP

Matthew A. Kornhaﬁser

AGREED TO AND ACCEPTEDYu /s vespecl b fi. provisina o~
s

Attorney for Maal =

cc:
Via Email
James L. Lanter

Dylan B. Russell
Paul Stipanovic
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Shirley Graham-Miles

District Clerk

Irion County, Texas

Ashley Masters

No. 19-003
MAALT, LP § IN THE DISTRICT COURT
Plaintiff, §
vs. § IRION COUNTY, TEXAS
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC §
Defendant. § 51ST JUDICIAL DISTRICT
ANSWER TO COUNTERCLAIM

Plaintiff, Maalt, LP (“Maalt”), files this Answer to Counterclaim, and shows the
Court:
I
General Denial
Maalt enters a general denial of the allegations and claims asserted against it in
Defendant’s Original Counterclaim.
Il.
Affirmative Defenses
1. Prior Breach. The Defendant breached the Agreement at issue first, thus
excusing any further performance or subsequent breach by Maalt.
Il
Prayer
For the reasons stated above, Maalt prays that it be awarded judgment against
Defendant that it take nothing by its counterclaim, and that Maalt has such further relief

to which it is entitled.

Answer to Counterclaim 1
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Respectfully submitted,

By:__/s/ James Lanter

James Lanter

State Bar No. 11940700
JAMES LANTER, P.C.

560 N. Walnut Creek, Ste. 120
Mansfield, Texas 76063
(817) 453-4800

(817) 453-4801 FAX
jim.lanter@lanter-law.com

Paul O. Wickes

State Bar No. 00788663

WICKES LAW PLLC

5600 Tennyson Parkway, Ste. 205
Plano, Texas 75024

(972) 473-6900

(972) 767-3225 FAX
pwickes@wickeslaw.com

Samuel S. Allen

State Bar No. 01057000
JACKSON WALKER LLP

135 W. Twohig Avenue
Suite C

San Angelo, Texas 76093
sallen@jw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
MAALT, LP

Answer to Counterclaim 2
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the foregoing was served through

the Court's electronic filing service on the date of filing, upon:

HOOVER SLOVACEK LLP
Matthew A. Kornhauser

State Bar No. 11684500
Dylan B. Russell

State Bar No. 24041839
Galleria Tower Il

5051 Westheimer, Suite 1200
Houston, Texas 77056
Telephone: 713-977-8686
Facsimile: 713-977-5395
kornhauser@hooverslovacek.com
russell@hooverslovacek.com

GOSSETT, HARRISON,
MILLICAN & STIPANOVIC, P.C.
Paul D. Stipanovic

State Bar No. 00795669

2 S. Koenigheim Street

San Angelo, Texas 76903
Telephone: 325-653-3291
Facsimile: 325-655-683

/s/ James Lanter

Answer to Counterclaim

3
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CAUSE NO. CV19-003

MAALT, LP, § IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF
Plaintiff, §
§
V. §
§ IRION COUNTY, TEXAS
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, §
Defendants. §
§ 51ST JUDICIAL DISTRICT
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC’S

FIRST AMENDED COUNTERCLAIMS
AND ORIGINAL THIRD-PARTY CLAIMS

COMES NOW, Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff/Third-Party  Plaintiff, ~SEQUITUR
PERMIAN, LLC (“Sequitur”), in the above styled and numbered cause and file this its First
Amended Counterclaims' and Third-Party Claims and in support thereof would show unto the

Court, as follows:

PARTIES
1. Sequitur has appeared herein and can be served through it counsel of record.
2. Vista Proppants and Logistics Inc. (“Vista”) is a Delaware corporation with its

principal place of business located at 4413 Carey St. Fort Worth, Texas 76119. Vista can be served
with process through its CEO, Gary Humphreys, or its President, Marty Robertson, as 4413 Carey
St. Fort Worth, Texas 76119, or wherever else they may be found. Alternatively, Vista can be
served with process through its registered agent in Delaware, which is Corporation Service
Company, 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, New Castle County, Delaware, 19808.

Alternatively, Vista can be served with process through the Texas Secretary of State since Vista

! This First Amended Counterclaims amended the Original Counterclaims filed on March 8, 2019.
{171480/00002/01349462.DOCX 1 } 1
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has not designated an agent for service of process in Texas. The Texas Secretary of State may be
served with process, at Service of Process, P.O. Box 12079, Austin, Texas 78711-2079, to forward
citation and this pleading to CEO, Gary Humphreys, Vista Proppants and Logistics Inc., 4413
Carey St. Fort Worth, Texas 76119.

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF COUNTERCLAIMS/THIRD-PARTY CLAIMS

3. Sequitur is in the crude oil production business, with a primary focus of
approximately 88,000 net acres including Irion County, Texas as part of the Wolfcamp Shale. In
about May of 2018, in furtherance of its effort to most efficiently and cost-effectively transport the
crude oil produced by Sequitur to refineries in southeast Texas and Louisiana, Sequitur was
looking to obtain access to a transloading facility or rail terminal in or around Irion County, Texas.
The purpose of obtaining a transloading facility would be to transfer crude oil that is delivered to
the facility by trucks or via pipeline into train railcars, which is an efficient, cost-effective, and
safe way to transport crude oil to refineries near the Louisiana Gulf Coast.

4. On May 4, 2018, Sequitur had initial discussions with an employee of Vista, of
which the Plaintiff Maalt, LP (“Maalt”) is an affiliate, regarding a rail depot that Maalt owned in
Barnhart, Texas that could be converted into the crude-by-rail transloading facility (the
“Terminal”) to which Sequitur sought access. Vista had experience elsewhere in the Permian Basin
for transporting frac sand (a proppant) via railcar at similar facilities. Vista told Sequitur that they
were receiving inquiries from other companies, but that they were more interested in doing
business with Sequitur because they could offer future additional revenue streams.

5. During the May 2018 discussions, Sequitur made it clear that it wanted only a 15-
month term on the Terminal services contract, as opposed to the two-year term that Vista indicated

{171480/00002/01349462.DOCX 1 } 2
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was more typical. In addition to a shorter-term contract, Sequitur made clear that it was
fundamental to the viability of its use of the proposed Terminal that both industry-approved
railcars and locomotives (train engines) be available at the right time and at the right price, in light
of the fluctuating price of crude oil. Additionally, crude oil barrels sold in the Midland Basin were
selling at a steep discount to those sold on the Louisiana Gulf Coast. Therefore, if Sequitur or its
downstream oil buyers could sell barrels of oil for more on the Louisiana Gulf Coast less transport
costs than they could sell barrels of oil for in Midland, additional earnings would be achieved.

6. In light of Sequitur’s specific requirements for the proposal, on May 9, 2018, Jon
Ince, then-Senior Manager of Logistics with Vista, introduced Sequitur to Jonas Struthers of
FeNIX FSL, arail car lease broker with whom Sequitur initially discussed renting rail cars through.
Ince described Jonas Struthers as “the railcar guy” who had “been a great partner for me in the
past with our sand cars.” Ince stated that Struthers would “be able to get you cars that you need for
your fleet” and “at a really good rate.” Ince also noted that Struthers would “be more in the know
on regulations and exact timing on when [CP-1232 railcars] are being phased out for the [DOT-
117R railcars].”

7. OnMay 10and 11, 2018, in an internal email among Vista employees, Ince outlined
the terms sought by Sequitur, including to transload crude oil from [November 1,] 2018 to
December 31, 2019, for about 20-30 railcars loaded per day with a minimum of approximately 15
railcars. Ince also noted that Sequitur was also “[IJooking to place tankage on our property for [a]
pipeline connection with [a] long-term lease.” Chris Favors, Business Development officer with

Vista (“Favors”™), also indicated that JupiterMLP, LLC (the parent of affiliate, Jupiter Marketing
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& Trading, LLC) (collectively, “Jupiter) was also “interested in” the Terminal but that Vista had
decided it was “moving forward” with the proposed Terminal services contract with Sequitur.

8. On May 16, 2018, in another internal email among Vista employees, Ince compared
the proposals of both Sequitur and Jupiter for use of the Barnhart Terminal. Ince noted in the email
that Sequitur had “no rail experience” and also that Sequitur was willing “to entertain” Vista as
the manager of its fleet of railcars. Significantly, Ince opened the email noting that Union Pacific
Railroad is “requiring DOT 117 crude cars on all new freight quotes™ and that such cars “are not
available until Q3-Q4 of this year.”

0. On June 1, 2018, Sequitur and Vista entered into a Letter of Intent (“LOI”)
regarding the use of the Terminal. The initial term of the LOI was through June 26, 2018 and was
extended by written amendments to July 23, 2018. The LOI reflected the parties’ intent to enter
into a Terminal Services Agreement for a term of September 2018 to December 2019.

10. On June 1, 2018, Sequitur emailed Favors regarding progress being made on a draft
of the proposed Terminal Services Agreement between Sequitur and Vista (ultimately Maalt), as
well as Sequitur’s purchase of eight new transloaders for installation at the Terminal, at a cost of
over $2,200,000, and its efforts to address regulatory and surface use issues.

11. On June 5, 2018, Struthers emailed Ince, Morris, and others at Vista explaining that
the “market for 117s right now is upwards of $1100 on a 3 year lease.” Struthers indicated that
the older 1232 railcars might be able to be retrofitted to meet the DOT-117 standards and at a
lower price, but there were still “unanswered questions” from the American Association of
Railroads and the Federal Railroad Administration regarding the proposed attempted at
retrofitting.

{171480/00002/01349462.DOCX 1 } 4
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12.  Realizing that the train business was one that Sequitur was inexperienced with and
could not learn overnight, Sequitur decided to seek a business venture with a large oil trader with
access to leased rail cars. Sequitur reached out to several companies, including, but not limited to
Shell and BP.

13. On June 5, 2018, Favors emailed Braden Merrill, VP & CFO of Sequitur, and
Travis Morris, the Chief Commercial Officer of Jupiter, regarding Vista working with both
Sequitur and Jupiter regarding “Vista’s Barnhart terminal.” Favors introduced Jupiter to Sequitur,
and Favors’ colleague, Ince described Jupiter as the “real deal and a partner who could get it done.”
Favors went on to inquire as to whether a conference call should be scheduled among Vista,
Sequitur, and Jupiter that day or the following day. A conference call took place that day, and
Sequitur was informed that Jupiter had trucking capabilities and also relationships with railroad
companies, which, as noted above, were requirements for the proposed Terminal to be viable.
Braden Merrill of Sequitur thanked Favors and Ince for the introduction to Jupiter.

14. On June 6, 2018, Favors emailed Travis Morris regarding changes to a draft
terminal services agreement between Vista and Jupiter. Favors stated that “[w]e can easily amend
the contract to include Barnhart volume if the Sequit[u]r opportunity doesn’t pan out.”

15. Sequitur initially selected Shell as a business venture partner and proceeded in
ordering the equipment that was needed to build out the Terminal, including the transloaders
contemplated under the original LOI. Sequitur had committed approximately $4 million to the
Terminal project. However, neither Shell nor BP were able to secure rates from BNSF or UP.

16. On June 20, 2018, Travis Morris with Jupiter emailed Ince and Favors of Vista
attaching an executed agreement between Vista and Jupiter. Morris also stated that “I am getting
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on the phone with Sequitur today so we can try to close the Barnhart deal.” Motris also noted that
“I do not have firm railcars yet, but we are working several sets with Jonas Struthers.”

17.  From late June, and during July, and the first week of August 2018, Vista and
Sequitur continued negotiations and exchanged drafts of the Terminal Services Agreement for the
exclusive use of the Terminal in Barnhart. Then, on August 3, 2018, Favors emailed Braden
Merrill of Sequitur and Sequitur’s President, Mike van den Bold, pressuring Sequitur to execute
the Terminal Services Agreement. Favors stated that “I am receiving heavy pressure to get the
agreement fully executed” and that “[w]e have been offered slightly better terms from [an]other
party that said they will execute an agreement today.” At this time, Favors told Merrill that Jupiter
was offering to pay $8 million up front to Vista and Maalt for exclusive use of the Terminal, cutting
out Sequitur. Merrill told Favors that Sequitur had already purchased the necessary equipment for
the Terminal project and was in the hole for millions of dollars due to Sequitur’s reliance on the
LOI. Favors again mentioned that Sequitur should do a business venture with Jupiter because
Jupiter was already able to ship on the railroads.

18. On August 6, 2018, Merrill of Sequitur had a conference call with Vista and Jupiter
representatives regarding the availability of railcars and locomotives. Sequitur was told that Jupiter
had access to 1600 railcars and could manage 10 to 12 locomotives a month. Also, as a result of
that call, later that same day, Sequitur’s President forwarded via email to Favors of Vista and
Maalt, the Terminal Services Agreement (also hereinafter called the “Agreement”), dated effective
August 6, 2018, which was executed the following day.

19. On August 9, 2018, Morris emailed Sequitur regarding a prior meeting in which
Jupiter offered to purchase the crude oil transloaded at the Terminal from Sequitur instead of
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Sequitur’s initial plan to sell the oil to Shell. Morris noted that in “order to meet a September
[2018] start date I need to begin directing trains toward Barnhart quickly.”

20.  Inreliance on the promises and commitments made by Vista and Maalt,, and their
agents and representatives, regarding the availability of rail cars and trains to pick up the crude oil
at the Terminal and deliver it via rail to the desired destinations, Sequitur entered into the
Agreement with Maalt, with an effective date of August 6, 2018. Consistent with the entire premise
and purpose of the Agreement—that Sequitur would be able to cost-effectively deliver oil to the
Terminal to be transloaded onto railcars that would be delivered to the Louisiana Gulf Coast
refineries—throughout the Agreement references are made to “railcars” as well as a reference to
the “train loading area.” Thus, it was expressly made clear to both parties that without access to
trains and railcars, the essential purpose of the Agreement was for naught.

21. Per the Agreement, Maalt (also described as “Terminal Owner”’) was the owner and
operator of the Terminal® located in Barnhart, Texas on land leased or controlled by Maalt, and
Sequitur (described as “Customer”) was engaged in the business of transportation and marketing
of crude oil and other liquid hydrocarbon products owned or controlled by Sequitur (hereinafter
“01l”). Among other contractual duties, the Agreement provided that Maalt would provide the
labor, supervision, and materials necessary to deliver, handle, measure, and redeliver (hereinafter
“transload”) the oil to Sequitur or to Sequitur’s third-party customers. Sequitur would have the

exclusive rights to use the Terminal for transloading oil.

2 The Terminal’s address is located at 44485 W. Hwy 67, Barnhart, Irion County, Texas 76930 and is more specifically
described in the Agreement in Exhibit A-1 thereto.
{171480/00002/01349462.DOCX 1 } 7
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22. The Agreement contemplated two methods of delivery of oil to the Terminal, by
either truck or pipeline. Regardless of the method of delivery, upon receipt, Maalt would then
transload the oil into railcars to Sequitur or Sequitur’s third-party customers. In order to facilitate
the transloading into railcars of oil that was delivered by truck, Sequitur, at its sole cost and
significant expense, installed equipment and facilities at the Terminal, which was described in the
Agreement as the “Phase I Project.” Sequitur made this investment and incurred these costs in
reliance on Vista’s and Maalt’s promises that there would be have sufficient trains, rail cars and
other means to transport the crude oil via rail as referenced in the Agreement. Additionally, if
Sequitur elected to do so, it could also install at its sole cost and expense, equipment and facilities
at the Terminal for transloading oil into railcars from pipelines (versus trucks), which was
described in the Agreement as the “Phase II Project.”

23. Significantly, as to the equipment and facilities installed by Sequitur (collectively
“Customer Terminal Modifications™) in connection with the either the Phase I Project or the Phase
II Project, Maalt agreed in the Agreement that “title to the equipment and facilities installed by or
at the direction of [Sequitur] in connection with a Customer Terminal Modification shall remain
with and be vested in [Sequitur].” See Agreement, § 2.7. The only exception to Sequitur’s title
and ownership to the Customer Terminal Modifications that it may have installed or directed, at
its own cost and expense, was “any additional rail tracks that may [have been] installed,” which
additional tracks’ ownership, if so installed, would be transferred to Maalt after the expiration of
the Agreement’s term, subject to certain rights of Sequitur. See Agreement, § 2.7.

24. In very general terms and subject to numerous terms and conditions, in exchange
for Maalt’s operation of the Terminal and its transloading of oil exclusively for Sequitur, further
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conditioned upon the occurrence of the Terminal Operations Commencement Date, Maalt would
be paid at least a minimum payment (the “Shortfall Payment”) depending on the amount of oil
actually transloaded through the Terminal. See Agreement, § 3.2.

25. Any obligation for Sequitur to pay the Shortfall Payment, however, was expressly
made subject to “the terms of this Agreement, including . . . Force Majeure.” See Agreement, §
3.1. The Agreement could not have been clearer when it provided, as follows: “There shall be no
Shortfall Payment due and owing for the Shortfall to the extent caused or contributed to by Force
Majeure or due to such Terminal Owner [Maalt] breach.” See Agreement, § 3.2(a).

26. Additionally, no payment would be due under the Agreement, including any
Shortfall Payment, until “after the Terminal Operations Commencement Date.” See Agreement, §
3.1. The Terminal Operations Commencement Date was defined as “the date that the Terminal is
fully operational to enable the performance and receipt of the Services and any and all Regulatory
Approvals for the Services have been obtained, in each case, as reasonably determined by
Customer [Sequitur] and as such date is evidenced by a written notice sent by Customer [Sequitur]
to Terminal Owner [Maalt].” See Agreement, § 1.

27. Importantly, in the event of a Force Majeure, any obligation of Sequitur to make
payments to Maalt only existed for oil “actually Throughput at the Terminal.” See Agreement, §
14.1. The term “Throughput” was defined as “the delivery of Product [o0il] from trucks or pipeline
into the Terminal on behalf of Customer [Sequitur] or Customer’s [Sequitur’s] third-party
customers.” See Agreement, § 1. Subject to the terms of the Agreement, Sequitur was only
obligated to pay Maalt a throughput fee of $1.50 per Barrel for Product Throughput through the
Terminal. See Agreement, §4.1. “Product Throughput” was the metered quantity of oil actually
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delivered into the Terminal and transloaded by Maalt into railcars. See Agreement, Art. 5. No oil
was ever actually Throughput at the Terminal.

28. The Agreement defined both “Force Majeure Event” and “Force Majeure” to mean
“any cause not within the reasonable control of a Party claiming suspension, and that could not
have been avoided or overcome by the exercise of due diligence by such Party,” which included a
lengthy list of various events and occurrences. Included in the list of events and occurrences was
“the unavailability, interruption, delay or curtailment of Product transportation services” and a
catch-all for “any other cause or causes beyond the reasonable control of the Party claiming
suspension, whether similar or not to those listed.” See Agreement, § 14.2. If either party
determined it was necessary to declare a Force Majeure Event, notice was required first by phone
or email and then by mail or overnight carrier. See Agreement, § 14.3.

29. At no point in time, including between August 6, 2018 and December 7, 2018, did
Sequitur ever send written notice to Maalt that the Terminal Operations Commencement Date had
occurred.

30. At no point in time, including between August 6, 2018 and December 7, 2018, was
oil “actually Throughput at the” Terminal.

31. Despite Vista and Maalt’s promises to Sequitur that Sequitur would be able to
secure sufficient numbers of trains and rail cars and at a really good rate, and Vista’s and Maalt’s
introduction to Sequitur of Vista’s and Maalt’s agents, who were self-professed “railcar guys”, it
became obvious that said promises were false. Specifically, sufficient trains, rail cars, and other
means of transporting crude oil via rail were not readily available to Sequitur. In fact, there became
an unavailability, interruption, delay, or curtailment of oil transportation services that were beyond
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the control of Sequitur. These circumstances were not foreseeable to Sequitur and amounted to a
Force Majeure event as described in the Terminal Services Agreement.

32. On December 7, 2018, in accordance with the terms of the Agreement, Sequitur
sent written notice to Maalt by email and FedEx that Sequitur had declared an existing “Force
Majeure” under the Agreement because of the “unavailability, interruption, delay or curtailment
of rail transportation services” for the oil, “despite continued efforts to procure such services.”
More specifically, a Force Majeure event occurred because crude oil transportation service (e.g.,
rail service and capacity) to allow for Sequitur’s use of the Terminal for the intended purposes of
the Agreement was not available despite diligent efforts to procure such service and capacity, and
such event of Force Majeure was not within the reasonable control of Sequitur. The written notice
also noted that Sequitur anticipated that the Force Majeure event would “continue for the
foreseeable future.”

33. On January 28, 2019, Sequitur received an invoice from Maalt dated January 25,
2019 for $531,216.00, which was presumably for an alleged Shortfall Payment.

34, On January 31, 2019, Sequitur sent written notice to Maalt responding to the
January 25, 2019 invoice disputing that such amount was owed because both the Force Majeure
event had occurred and remained continuing, and also because, as noted above, the Terminal
Operations Commencement Date had not been reached per the terms of the Agreement. Sequitur
also indicated that it would inform Maalt of “any changes or developments in the status of the
Existing Force Majeure.”

35. On February 8, 2019, Sequitur sent written notice to Maalt by email and FedEx that
the declared Force Majeure had continued for sixty days, despite Sequitur’s continued efforts to
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procure such services. Accordingly, Sequitur notified Maalt of Sequitur’s right to terminate the
Agreement. Specifically, Sequitur relied on the “Termination for Extended Force Majeure”
provision in the Agreement, which provides, in pertinent part, that “[b]y written notice to the other
Party, a Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement prior to the end of the Term if the
Parties are unable to fulfill the purposes of this Agreement due to Force Majeure for a period equal
to or greater than (a) (60) consecutive Days.” See Agreement, § 8.4. The February 8, 2019 notice
also noted that Sequitur would be contacting Maalt to discuss and coordinate the removal of
Sequitur’s equipment and facilities installed at the Terminal (Customer Terminal Modifications).
See Agreement, §§ 2.5 and 2.7 (describing, upon termination of the Agreement, Sequitur’s “right
of access over, on, and across” the lands upon which the Terminal was located for “purposes of
enforcing” Sequitur’s “rights under this Agreement” to remove the Customer Terminal
Modifications, and also acknowledging Sequitur’s undisputed “title to and ownership of” such
Customer Terminal Modifications).

36. Notably, as to Sequitur’s notice of Termination for Extended Force Majeure, the
Agreement further provided that “[f]ollowing the giving of such notice, neither Party shall have
any further obligations to the other Party under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, with
respect to the Minimum Volume Commitment),” which included any obligation to pay any
Shortfall Payment, Throughput Fee, or any other fee or payment. See Agreement, §§ 8.4, 3.1, and
3.2.

37. On or about February 14, 2019, an attorney for Maalt sent a letter dated February
14, 2019 to Sequitur, which disputed that the Force Majeure event had occurred but without any
reference to evidence to the contrary and only a conclusory unfounded assertion of pretext. The
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letter also included a copy of the Original Petition filed in this case by Maalt on February 13,2019,
at 5:00 p.m. Significantly, the letter also stated that “Maalt will not allow your company access to
the Barnhart property [Terminal] to remove equipment or otherwise” and that “[a]ny attempt to
access the property will be considered a trespass.” Notably absent from the letter was any
reference to any terms in the Agreement or legal authority that permitted Maalt to refuse Sequitur
access to the property to retrieve Sequitur’s equipment and facilities or that suggested Sequitur’s
undisputed “right of access over, on, and across” the property or Terminal for “purposes of
enforcing” Sequitur’s “rights under this Agreement,” including removing and retrieving Sequitur’s
equipment and facilities, had been terminated. See Agreement, § 2.5.

38. On February 22, 2019, Sequitur’s attorney sent a letter to Maalt’s attorney,
responding to the February 14, 2019 letter noted above. In the letter, Sequitur’s attorney reiterated
that Sequitur had properly terminated the Agreement. Most significantly, however, the letter
explained that earlier on February 22, 2019, Sequitur had learned that its equipment had
wrongfully been removed, stolen, and misappropriated from the Terminal by Maalt, without notice
or warning. Sequitur learned that its equipment and facilities were removed to a location
approximately 25 miles away from the Terminal and on real property that Sequitur does not have
an express right of access, like it does with respect to the Terminal per the terms of the Agreement.
The letter also demanded that Sequitur’s equipment and facilities be returned to Sequitur by no
later than February 25, 2019, at 5:00 p.m. Despite Sequitur’s letter and demand, Maalt never
responded nor returned Sequitur’s equipment. And Maalt has otherwise failed and refused to honor
its obligations under the Agreement with respect to Sequitur’s rights and access to its equipment
and facilities and all other rights that Sequitur has under the Agreement.
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39. Sequitur’s equipment and facilities, wrongfully removed, stolen, and
misappropriated by Maalt, is valued at approximately $2,576,505.21 in the aggregate, if not more,
and includes numerous devices, components, and items. Because Sequitur does not have legal
access to the property where Maalt has currently relocated Sequitur’s equipment and facilities,
Sequitur cannot properly secure and protect such equipment and facilities from damage, corrosion,
vandalism, or a subsequent theft by persons other than Maalt. Additionally, without immediate
access to its equipment and facilities, Sequitur cannot retrieve the equipment and facilities and use
it for other business opportunities, should they arise. Simply put, the harm being suffered by
Maalt’s wrongfully removing, stealing, and misappropriating Sequitur’s equipment is irreparable
and immeasurable.

FIRST AMENDED COUNTERCLAIMS

40. Per Rule 37, Sequitur seeks nonmonetary relief, including declaratory, ancillary,
and injunctive (including prohibitive and mandatory) relief, and additionally, or in the alternative,
to such relief, monetary relief of over $1,000,000.00.

41. Sequitur incorporates herein the facts set forth above.

Promissory Estoppel

42. Vista and Maalt made promises to Sequitur, expressly, either orally or in writing,
and/or or impliedly through Vista’s and Maalt’s conduct, which included the promises that trains
and railcars would be available, including at a reasonable price, at the right time, and for the right
term. Sequitur reasonably relied on Vista’s and Maalt’s promises to Sequitur’s detriment.
Sequitur’s reliance was foreseeable by Vista and Maalt. Injustice can be avoided only by enforcing
Vista’s and Maalt’s promises. In addition, or in the alternative, Sequitur has incurred reliance
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damages due to Vista’s and Maalt’s promises, in an amount over $4,000,000. Sequitur seeks
recovery of its damages, interest, court costs, and attorney’s fees.
Breach of Contract
43. Sequitur and Maalt entered into the Agreement. Sequitur properly terminated the
Agreement, while retaining certain rights under the Agreement. Despite the foregoing, Maalt
breached the Agreement. Maalt’s breach has caused Sequitur injury.
Declaratory Judgment
44.  Pursuant to Chapter 37 of the Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code, known as
the Texas Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act (hereafter “UDJA”), the parties have a dispute
about their rights and obligations under the Agreement. Sequitur seeks a declaratory judgment
from this Court, as follows:
(1) No Terminal Operations Commencement Date ever occurred;
(2) On December 7, 2018, Sequitur properly sent notice of a Force Majeure, and such
Force Majeure existed;
(3) On February 8, 2019, Sequitur properly sent notice terminating the Agreement because
a Force Majeure existed for at least sixty days;
(4) Effective February 8, 2019, the Agreement was terminated by Force Majeure;
(5) Sequitur neither owes nor owed a payment of any kind to Maalt under the Agreement;
(6) Sequitur has the exclusive right and title to the equipment and facilities it installed at
the Terminal, and that Maalt wrongfully removed, stolen, and misappropriated such

equipment and facilities; and
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(7) Sequitur has the right to retrieve its equipment and facilities from any location where

Maalt has placed such equipment and facilities.

Conversion

45. Sequitur owns and has the right to immediate possession of the equipment and
facilities that it installed at the Terminal. The equipment and facilities are personal property. Maalt
wrongfully exercised dominion and control of such property by refusing to allow Sequitur to
retrieve such property from the Terminal, by wrongfully removing, stealing, and misappropriating
Sequitur’s property and placing it at a location approximately 25 miles from the Terminal, and by
refusing to return Sequitur’s property to the Terminal upon remand or otherwise continuing to
refuse Sequitur’s access to its property. As a result of Maalt’s acts and/or omissions, Sequitur has
suffered injury.

RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff/Third-Party
Plaintiffs, SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, further requests that Plaintiff Maalt recover nothing by
its suit; that SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, recover and obtain from Maalt the declaratory relief
sought above, that SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC recover and obtain from Maalt and Vista, jointly
and severally, all damages, court costs, expenses, and reasonable and necessary (and/or equitable
and just per UDJA) attorney’s fees against Maalt and Vista, as noted above, pursuant to the
prevailing party clause in the subject Agreement, Chapters 37 and 38 of the Texas Civil Practice
and Remedies Code,; and that SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC have such other and further relief to
which it is entitled, whether at law or in equity.
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Respectfully submitted,
HOOVER SLOVACEK LLP

By: /s/ Matthew A. Kornhauser
Matthew A. Kornhauser

State Bar No. 11684500

Dylan B. Russell

State Bar No. 24041839
Galleria Tower II

5051 Westheimer, Suite 1200
Houston, Texas 77056
Telephone: 713-977-8686
Facsimile: 713-977-5395
kornhauser@hooverslovacek.com
russell@hooverslovacek.com

ATTORNEYS FOR
DEFENDANT/COUNTER-PLAINTIFF,
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC

and

GOSSETT, HARRISON,
MILLICAN & STIPANOVIC, P.C.

State Bar No. 00795669
Galleria Tower 11

2 S. Koenigheim Street
San Angelo, Texas 76903
Telephone: 325-653-3291
Facsimile: 325-655-6838
pauls@ghtxlaw.com

CO-COUNSEL FOR
DEFENDANT/COUNTER-PLAINTIFF,
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this, the 16™ day of September 2019, a true and correct copy of the
foregoing document was served via e-service to all counsel of record as follows:

James Lanter

JAMES LANTER, PC

560 N. Walnut Creek, Suite 120
Mansfield, Texas 76063

Paul O. Wickes

WICKES LAw, PLLC

5600 Tennyson Parkway, Suite 205
Plano, Texas 75024

Samuel S. Allen

JACKSON WALKER

135 West Twohig Avenue, Suite C
San Angelo, Texas 76903

/s/ Matthew A. Kornhauser
Matthew A. Kornhauser
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Shirley Graham-Miles

District Clerk
Irion County, Texas

Ja mes La nter Ashley Masters

Professional Corporation
Attorneys at Law

560 N. Walnut Creek
Suite 120
Mansfield, TX 76063
817.453.4800

817.453.4801 fax
James Lanter jim.lanter@lanter-law.com

September 23, 2018

Mr. Matthew A. Kornhauser

Mr. Dylan B. Russell

Hoover Slovacek LLP

5051 Westheimer Road, Ste. 1200
Houston, TX 77056

Re:  Maalt L.P. v. Sequitur Permian, LLC; Cause No. 19-003, In the 51% Judicial District
Court for Irion County, Texas.

Gentlemen:;

Per my email correspondence with Dylan today, this letter shall serve to confirm our
agreement under Rule 11 regarding the following matters:

1; | am authorized to accept service of process on Vista Proppants and Logistics,
LLC ("Vista"), and will consider the service through the e-file system sufficient without formal
service of citation. Vista will serve its answer to this suit no later than October 23, 2019.

2, Pursuant to your Motion for Rule 2004 Examination of Designated Documents filed
in the matter of In re Jupiter Marketing & Trading, LLC, Case No. 19-32329-BHJ in the U.S.
Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas (the “Bankruptcy Case”), you have informed
us that the purpose of the motion, as filed, is solely to obtain documents and not conduct any oral
or written examination of any witness. In light of that, we will not object to the motion on the
condition that you provide us a copy of any documents obtained upon their receipt. We will, of
course, reimburse you for the reasonable cost of reproducing the documents. Both Sequitur, on
the one hand, and Maalt and Vista, on the other hand, reserve the right to seek oral and/or written
examinations of Jupiter Marketing & Trading, LLC witnesses in the Bankruptcy Case upon proper
motion or pursuant to other proper legal means available under applicable law.

If the foregoing is acceptable to you, please sign in the place provided below and return
to me via email.

Very truly yours,
James Lanter
Agreed:

Attorney for Sequitur Permian, LLC
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Mr. Matthew A. Kornhauser
September 23, 2019
Page 2

Cc Mr. Samuel S. Allen
Mr. Paul O. Wickes
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Shirley Graham-Miles

District Clerk

Irion County, Texas

Ashley Masters

No. 19-003
MAALT, LP IN THE DISTRICT COURT
Plaintiff,
VvS.
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC
IRION COUNTY, TEXAS
Defendant,

VS.

VISTA PROPPANTS AND
LOGISTICS INC.

L L L LT L LD LT L L LD L LD ST L L L

Third Party Defendant. 51T JUDICIAL DISTRICT

THIRD PARTY DEFENDANT'S ANSWER

NOW COMES, Third Party Defendant Vista Proppants and Logistics, Inc. ("Vista") and
answers the Third-Party Petition of Sequitur Permian, LLC ("Sequitur") as follows:
GENERAL DENIAL

1. Third Party Defendant Vista generally denies the allegations in the Third-
Party Petition and demands strict proof of them at trial.

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES

2. Third Party Defendant Vista would affirmatively show that Sequitur's claims
fail because Sequitur complains about a matter that involved a transaction governed by the
terms of an express contract.

3. Third Party Defendant Vista would affirmatively show that Sequitur's claims

fail in whole or in part because he failed to reasonably mitigate its damages.
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RULE 193.7 NOTICE

4. Third Party Defendant Vista gives notice pursuant to Rule 193.7 of the Texas
Rules of Civil Procedure that any documents produced by Sequitur in response to written
discovery may be used by Third Party Defendant Vista as evidence in pre-trial and trial of
this case.

PRAYER

WHEREFORE, Third Party Defendant Vista Proppants and Logistics, Inc. respectfully
prays that Sequitur take nothing by reason of this suit, that it be dismissed with its costs,
and that it have such other and further relief, both general and special, to which he is

entitled.

THIRD PARTY DEFENDANT VISTA'S ORIGINAL ANSWER PAGE 2
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Respectfully submitted,

By:_ /s/ Paul O. Wickes

James Lanter

State Bar No. 11940700
JAMES LANTER, P.C.

560 N. Walnut Creek, Ste. 120
Mansfield, Texas 76063

(817) 453-4800

(817) 453-4801 FAX
jim.lanter@]lanter-law.com

Paul O. Wickes

State Bar No. 00788663
WICKES LAW, PLLC

5600 Tennyson Parkway, Ste. 205
Plano, Texas 75024

(972) 473-6900

(972) 767-3225 FAX
pwickes@wickeslaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR

PLAINTIFF MAALT, LP AND

THIRD PARTY DEFENDANT

VISTA PROPPANTS AND LOGISTICS INC.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the foregoing was served through the Court's

electronic filing service on the October 22, 2019, upon:

Matthew A. Kornhauser Paul D. Stipanovic

Dylan B. Russell GOSSETT, HARRISON, MILLICAN & STIPANOVIC
HOOVER SLOVACEK LLP 2 S. Koenigheim Street

5051 Westheimer, Ste. 1200 San Angelo, Texas 76903

Houston, TX 77056

/s/ Paul O. Wickes

THIRD PARTY DEFENDANT VISTA'S ORIGINAL ANSWER PAGE 3
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CAUSE NO. CV19-003

MAALT, LP, § IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF
Plaintiff, §
§
V. §
§ IRION COUNTY, TEXAS
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, §
Defendants. §
§ 51ST JUDICIAL DISTRICT
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC’S

SECOND AMENDED COUNTERCLAIMS
AND ORIGINAL THIRD-PARTY CLAIMS

COMES NOW, Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff/Third-Party = Plaintiff, ~SEQUITUR
PERMIAN, LLC (“Sequitur”), in the above styled and numbered cause and file this its Second
Amended Counterclaims and Third-Party Claims and in support thereof would show unto the

Court, as follows:

PARTIES
1. Sequitur has appeared herein and can be served through its counsel of record.
2. Vista Proppants and Logistics Inc. (“Vista”) is a Delaware corporation with its

principal place of business located at 4413 Carey St. Fort Worth, Texas 76119. Vista can be served
with process through its CEO, Gary Humphreys, or its President, Marty Robertson, as 4413 Carey
St. Fort Worth, Texas 76119, or wherever else they may be found. Alternatively, Vista can be
served with process through its registered agent in Delaware, which is Corporation Service
Company, 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, New Castle County, Delaware, 19808.
Alternatively, Vista can be served with process through the Texas Secretary of State since Vista
has not designated an agent for service of process in Texas. The Texas Secretary of State may be
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served with process, at Service of Process, P.O. Box 12079, Austin, Texas 78711-2079, to forward
citation and this pleading to CEO, Gary Humphreys, Vista Proppants and Logistics Inc., 4413
Carey St. Fort Worth, Texas 76119.

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF COUNTERCLAIMS/THIRD-PARTY CLAIMS

3. Sequitur is in the crude oil production business, with a primary focus of
approximately 88,000 net acres including Irion County, Texas as part of the Wolfcamp Shale. In
about May of 2018, in furtherance of its effort to most efficiently and cost-effectively transport the
crude oil produced by Sequitur to refineries in southeast Texas and Louisiana, Sequitur was
looking to obtain access to a transloading facility or rail terminal in or around Irion County, Texas.
The purpose of obtaining a transloading facility would be to transfer crude oil that is delivered to
the facility by trucks or via pipeline into train railcars, which is an efficient, cost-effective, and
safe way to transport crude oil to refineries near the Louisiana Gulf Coast.

4. On May 4, 2018, Sequitur had initial discussions with an employee of Vista, of
which the Plaintiff Maalt, LP (“Maalt”) is an affiliate, regarding a rail depot that Maalt owned in
Barnhart, Texas that could be converted into the crude-by-rail transloading facility (the
“Terminal”) to which Sequitur sought access. Vista had experience elsewhere in the Permian Basin
for transporting frac sand (a proppant) via railcar at similar facilities. Vista told Sequitur that they
were receiving inquiries from other companies, but that they were more interested in doing
business with Sequitur because they could offer future additional revenue streams.

5. During the May 2018 discussions, Sequitur made it clear that it wanted only a 15-
month term on the Terminal services contract, as opposed to the two-year term that Vista indicated
was more typical. In addition to a shorter-term contract, Sequitur made clear that it was
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fundamental to the viability of its use of the proposed Terminal that both industry-approved
railcars and locomotives (train engines) be available at the right time and at the right price, in light
of the fluctuating price of crude oil. Additionally, crude oil barrels sold in the Midland Basin were
selling at a steep discount to those sold on the Louisiana Gulf Coast. Therefore, if Sequitur or its
downstream oil buyers could sell barrels of oil for more on the Louisiana Gulf Coast less transport
costs than they could sell barrels of oil for in Midland, additional earnings would be achieved.

6. In light of Sequitur’s specific requirements for the proposal, on May 9, 2018, Jon
Ince, then-Senior Manager of Logistics with Vista, introduced Sequitur to Jonas Struthers of
FeNIX FSL, arail car lease broker with whom Sequitur initially discussed renting rail cars through.
Ince described Jonas Struthers as “the railcar guy” who had “been a great partner for me in the
past with our sand cars.” Ince stated that Struthers would “be able to get you cars that you need for
your fleet” and “at a really good rate.” Ince also noted that Struthers would “be more in the know
on regulations and exact timing on when [CP-1232 railcars] are being phased out for the [DOT-
117R railcars].”

7. OnMay 10and 11, 2018, in an internal email among Vista employees, Ince outlined
the terms sought by Sequitur, including to transload crude oil from [November 1,] 2018 to
December 31, 2019, for about 20-30 railcars loaded per day with a minimum of approximately 15
railcars. Ince also noted that Sequitur was also “[IJooking to place tankage on our property for [a]
pipeline connection with [a] long-term lease.” Chris Favors, Business Development officer with
Vista (“Favors”™), also indicated that JupiterMLP, LLC (the parent of affiliate, Jupiter Marketing
& Trading, LLC) (collectively, “Jupiter) was also “interested in” the Terminal but that Vista had
decided it was “moving forward” with the proposed Terminal services contract with Sequitur.
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8. On May 16, 2018, in another internal email among Vista employees, Ince compared
the proposals of both Sequitur and Jupiter for use of the Barnhart Terminal. Ince noted in the email
that Sequitur had “no rail experience” and also that Sequitur was willing “to entertain” Vista as
the manager of its fleet of railcars. Significantly, Ince opened the email noting that Union Pacific
Railroad is “requiring DOT 117 crude cars on all new freight quotes” and that such cars “are not
available until Q3-Q4 of this year.”

9. On June 1, 2018, Sequitur and Vista entered into a Letter of Intent (“LOI”)
regarding the use of the Terminal. The initial term of the LOI was through June 26, 2018 and was
extended by written amendments to July 23, 2018. The LOI reflected the parties’ intent to enter
into a Terminal Services Agreement for a term of September 2018 to December 2019.

10. On June 1, 2018, Sequitur emailed Favors regarding progress being made on a draft
of the proposed Terminal Services Agreement between Sequitur and Vista (ultimately Maalt), as
well as Sequitur’s purchase of eight new transloaders for installation at the Terminal, at a cost of
over $2,200,000, and its efforts to address regulatory and surface use issues.

11. On June 5, 2018, Struthers emailed Ince, Morris, and others at Vista explaining that
the “market for 117s right now is upwards of $1100 on a 3 year lease.” Struthers indicated that
the older 1232 railcars might be able to be retrofitted to meet the DOT-117 standards and at a
lower price, but there were still “unanswered questions” from the American Association of
Railroads and the Federal Railroad Administration regarding the proposed attempted at
retrofitting.

12. Realizing that the train business was one that Sequitur was inexperienced with and
could not learn overnight, Sequitur decided to seek a business venture with a large oil trader with
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access to leased rail cars. Sequitur reached out to several companies, including, but not limited to
Shell and BP.

13. On June 5, 2018, Favors emailed Braden Merrill, VP & CFO of Sequitur, and
Travis Morris, the Chief Commercial Officer of Jupiter, regarding Vista working with both
Sequitur and Jupiter regarding “Vista’s Barnhart terminal.” Favors introduced Jupiter to Sequitur,
and Favors’ colleague, Ince described Jupiter as the “real deal and a partner who could get it done.”
Favors went on to inquire as to whether a conference call should be scheduled among Vista,
Sequitur, and Jupiter that day or the following day. A conference call took place that day, and
Sequitur was informed that Jupiter had trucking capabilities and also relationships with railroad
companies, which, as noted above, were requirements for the proposed Terminal to be viable.
Braden Merrill of Sequitur thanked Favors and Ince for the introduction to Jupiter.

14. On June 6, 2018, Favors emailed Travis Morris regarding changes to a draft
terminal services agreement between Vista and Jupiter. Favors stated that “[w]e can easily amend
the contract to include Barnhart volume if the Sequit[u]r opportunity doesn’t pan out.”

15. Sequitur initially selected Shell as a business venture partner and proceeded in
ordering the equipment that was needed to build out the Terminal, including the transloaders
contemplated under the original LOI. Sequitur had committed approximately $4 million to the
Terminal project. However, neither Shell nor BP were able to secure rates from BNSF or UP.

16. On June 20, 2018, Travis Morris with Jupiter emailed Ince and Favors of Vista
attaching an executed agreement between Vista and Jupiter. Morris also stated that “I am getting
on the phone with Sequitur today so we can try to close the Barnhart deal.” Morris also noted that
“I do not have firm railcars yet, but we are working several sets with Jonas Struthers.”
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17.  From late June, and during July, and the first week of August 2018, Vista and
Sequitur continued negotiations and exchanged drafts of the Terminal Services Agreement for the
exclusive use of the Terminal in Barnhart. Then, on August 3, 2018, Favors emailed Braden
Merrill of Sequitur and Sequitur’s President, Mike van den Bold, pressuring Sequitur to execute
the Terminal Services Agreement. Favors stated that “I am receiving heavy pressure to get the
agreement fully executed” and that “[w]e have been offered slightly better terms from [an]other
party that said they will execute an agreement today.” At this time, Favors told Merrill that Jupiter
was offering to pay $8 million up front to Vista and Maalt for exclusive use of the Terminal, cutting
out Sequitur. Favor’s statements to Merrill were knowingly false when made, were made with
conscience indifference to the truth of the statements, or were negligently made, and were intended
to induce, and in fact did induce, Sequitur to sign the Terminal Services Agreement, and Sequitur
reasonably relied on such false statements Merrill told Favors that Sequitur had already purchased
the necessary equipment for the Terminal project and was in the hole for millions of dollars due to
Sequitur’s reliance on the LOI. Favors again mentioned that Sequitur should do a business venture
with Jupiter because Jupiter was already able to ship on the railroads.

18. On August 6, 2018, Merrill of Sequitur had a conference call with Vista and Jupiter
representatives regarding the availability of railcars and locomotives. Sequitur was told that Jupiter
had access to 1600 railcars and could manage 10 to 12 locomotives a month. Also, as a result of
that call, later that same day, Sequitur’s President forwarded via email to Favors of Vista and
Maalt, the Terminal Services Agreement (also hereinafter called the “Agreement”), dated effective

August 6, 2018, which was executed the following day.
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19. On August 9, 2018, Morris emailed Sequitur regarding a prior meeting in which
Jupiter offered to purchase the crude oil transloaded at the Terminal from Sequitur instead of
Sequitur’s initial plan to sell the oil to Shell. Morris noted that in “order to meet a September
[2018] start date I need to begin directing trains toward Barnhart quickly.”

20. In reliance on the promises, commitments, false statements, and inducements made
by Vista and Maalt, and their agents and representatives, regarding the availability of rail cars and
trains to pick up the crude oil at the Terminal and deliver it via rail to the desired destinations,
Sequitur entered into the Agreement with Maalt, with an effective date of August 6, 2018.
Consistent with the entire premise and purpose of the Agreement—that Sequitur would be able to
cost-effectively deliver oil to the Terminal to be transloaded onto railcars that would be delivered
to the Louisiana Gulf Coast refineries—throughout the Agreement references are made to
“railcars” as well as a reference to the “train loading area.” Thus, it was expressly made clear to
both parties that without access to trains and railcars, the essential purpose of the Agreement was
for naught.

21. Per the Agreement, Maalt (also described as “Terminal Owner’’) was the owner and
operator of the Terminal' located in Barnhart, Texas on land leased or controlled by Maalt, and
Sequitur (described as “Customer”) was engaged in the business of transportation and marketing
of crude oil and other liquid hydrocarbon products owned or controlled by Sequitur (hereinafter
“o0il”). Among other contractual duties, the Agreement provided that Maalt would provide the

labor, supervision, and materials necessary to deliver, handle, measure, and redeliver (hereinafter

! The Terminal’s address is located at 44485 W. Hwy 67, Barnhart, Irion County, Texas 76930 and is more specifically
described in the Agreement in Exhibit A-1 thereto.
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“transload”) the oil to Sequitur or to Sequitur’s third-party customers. Sequitur would have the
exclusive rights to use the Terminal for transloading oil.

22. Section 11.2 of the Agreement required Maalt to procure and maintain, at its own
expense, a pollution legal liability (“PPL”) insurance policy reasonably acceptable to Sequitur and
naming Sequitur and Its Group as an additional insured, but this policy was never procured by
Maalt and provided to Sequitur as required by the Agreement.

23. The Agreement contemplated two methods of delivery of oil to the Terminal, by
either truck or pipeline. Regardless of the method of delivery, upon receipt, Maalt would then
transload the oil into railcars to Sequitur or Sequitur’s third-party customers. In order to facilitate
the transloading into railcars of oil that was delivered by truck, Sequitur, at its sole cost and
significant expense, installed equipment and facilities at the Terminal, which was described in the
Agreement as the “Phase I Project.” Sequitur made this investment and incurred these costs in
reliance on Vista’s and Maalt’s promises that there would be have sufficient trains, rail cars and
other means to transport the crude oil via rail as referenced in the Agreement. Additionally, if
Sequitur elected to do so, it could also install at its sole cost and expense, equipment and facilities
at the Terminal for transloading oil into railcars from pipelines (versus trucks), which was
described in the Agreement as the “Phase II Project.”

24. Significantly, as to the equipment and facilities installed by Sequitur (collectively
“Customer Terminal Modifications™) in connection with the either the Phase I Project or the Phase
II Project, Maalt agreed in the Agreement that “title to the equipment and facilities installed by or
at the direction of [Sequitur] in connection with a Customer Terminal Modification shall remain
with and be vested in [Sequitur].” See Agreement, § 2.7. The only exception to Sequitur’s title
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and ownership to the Customer Terminal Modifications that it may have installed or directed, at
its own cost and expense, was “any additional rail tracks that may [have been] installed,” which
additional tracks’ ownership, if so installed, would be transferred to Maalt after the expiration of
the Agreement’s term, subject to certain rights of Sequitur. See Agreement, § 2.7.

25.  In very general terms and subject to numerous terms and conditions, in exchange
for Maalt’s operation of the Terminal and its transloading of oil exclusively for Sequitur, further
conditioned upon the occurrence of the Terminal Operations Commencement Date, Maalt would
be paid at least a minimum payment (the “Shortfall Payment”) depending on the amount of oil
actually transloaded through the Terminal. See Agreement, § 3.2.

26. Any obligation for Sequitur to pay the Shortfall Payment, however, was expressly
made subject to “the terms of this Agreement, including . . . Force Majeure.” See Agreement, §
3.1. The Agreement could not have been clearer when it provided, as follows: “There shall be no
Shortfall Payment due and owing for the Shortfall to the extent caused or contributed to by Force
Majeure or due to such Terminal Owner [Maalt] breach.” See Agreement, § 3.2(a).

27. Additionally, no payment would be due under the Agreement, including any
Shortfall Payment, until “after the Terminal Operations Commencement Date.” See Agreement, §
3.1. The Terminal Operations Commencement Date was defined as “the date that the Terminal is
fully operational to enable the performance and receipt of the Services and any and all Regulatory
Approvals for the Services have been obtained, in each case, as reasonably determined by
Customer [Sequitur] and as such date is evidenced by a written notice sent by Customer [Sequitur]

to Terminal Owner [Maalt].” See Agreement, § 1.
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28.  Importantly, in the event of a Force Majeure, any obligation of Sequitur to make
payments to Maalt only existed for oil “actually Throughput at the Terminal.” See Agreement, §
14.1. The term “Throughput” was defined as “the delivery of Product [oil] from trucks or pipeline
into the Terminal on behalf of Customer [Sequitur] or Customer’s [Sequitur’s] third-party
customers.” See Agreement, § 1. Subject to the terms of the Agreement, Sequitur was only
obligated to pay Maalt a throughput fee of $1.50 per Barrel for Product Throughput through the
Terminal. See Agreement, §4.1. “Product Throughput” was the metered quantity of oil actually
delivered into the Terminal and transloaded by Maalt into railcars. See Agreement, Art. 5. No oil
was ever actually Throughput at the Terminal.

29. The Agreement defined both “Force Majeure Event” and “Force Majeure” to mean
“any cause not within the reasonable control of a Party claiming suspension, and that could not
have been avoided or overcome by the exercise of due diligence by such Party,” which included a
lengthy list of various events and occurrences. Included in the list of events and occurrences was
“the unavailability, interruption, delay or curtailment of Product transportation services” and a
catch-all for “any other cause or causes beyond the reasonable control of the Party claiming
suspension, whether similar or not to those listed.” See Agreement, § 14.2. If either party
determined it was necessary to declare a Force Majeure Event, notice was required first by phone
or email and then by mail or overnight carrier. See Agreement, § 14.3.

30. At no point in time, including between August 6, 2018 and December 7, 2018, did
Sequitur ever send written notice to Maalt that the Terminal Operations Commencement Date had

occurred.
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31. At no point in time, including between August 6, 2018 and December 7, 2018, was
oil “actually Throughput at the” Terminal.

32.  Despite Vista and Maalt’s promises to Sequitur that Sequitur would be able to
secure sufficient numbers of trains and rail cars and at a really good rate, and Vista’s and Maalt’s
introduction to Sequitur of Vista’s and Maalt’s agents, who were self-professed “railcar guys”, it
became obvious that said promises were false. Specifically, sufficient trains, rail cars, and other
means of transporting crude oil via rail were not readily available to Sequitur. In fact, there became
an unavailability, interruption, delay, or curtailment of oil transportation services that were beyond
the control of Sequitur. These circumstances were not foreseeable to Sequitur and amounted to a
Force Majeure event as described in the Terminal Services Agreement.

33. On December 7, 2018, in accordance with the terms of the Agreement, Sequitur
sent written notice to Maalt by email and FedEx that Sequitur had declared an existing “Force
Majeure” under the Agreement because of the “unavailability, interruption, delay or curtailment
of rail transportation services” for the oil, “despite continued efforts to procure such services.”
More specifically, a Force Majeure event occurred because crude oil transportation service (e.g.,
rail service and capacity) to allow for Sequitur’s use of the Terminal for the intended purposes of
the Agreement was not available despite diligent efforts to procure such service and capacity, and
such event of Force Majeure was not within the reasonable control of Sequitur. The written notice
also noted that Sequitur anticipated that the Force Majeure event would “continue for the
foreseeable future.”

34, On January 28, 2019, Sequitur received an invoice from Maalt dated January 25,
2019 for $531,216.00, which was presumably for an alleged Shortfall Payment.
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35. On January 31, 2019, Sequitur sent written notice to Maalt responding to the
January 25, 2019 invoice disputing that such amount was owed because both the Force Majeure
event had occurred and remained continuing, and also because, as noted above, the Terminal
Operations Commencement Date had not been reached per the terms of the Agreement. Sequitur
also indicated that it would inform Maalt of “any changes or developments in the status of the
Existing Force Majeure.”

36. On February 8, 2019, Sequitur sent written notice to Maalt by email and FedEx that
the declared Force Majeure had continued for sixty days, despite Sequitur’s continued efforts to
procure such services. Accordingly, Sequitur notified Maalt of Sequitur’s right to terminate the
Agreement. Specifically, Sequitur relied on the “Termination for Extended Force Majeure”
provision in the Agreement, which provides, in pertinent part, that “[b]y written notice to the other
Party, a Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement prior to the end of the Term if the
Parties are unable to fulfill the purposes of this Agreement due to Force Majeure for a period equal
to or greater than (a) (60) consecutive Days.” See Agreement, § 8.4. The February 8, 2019 notice
also noted that Sequitur would be contacting Maalt to discuss and coordinate the removal of
Sequitur’s equipment and facilities installed at the Terminal (Customer Terminal Modifications).
See Agreement, §§ 2.5 and 2.7 (describing, upon termination of the Agreement, Sequitur’s “right
of access over, on, and across” the lands upon which the Terminal was located for “purposes of
enforcing” Sequitur’s “rights under this Agreement” to remove the Customer Terminal
Modifications, and also acknowledging Sequitur’s undisputed “title to and ownership of” such

Customer Terminal Modifications).
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37.  Notably, as to Sequitur’s notice of Termination for Extended Force Majeure, the
Agreement further provided that “[f]ollowing the giving of such notice, neither Party shall have
any further obligations to the other Party under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, with
respect to the Minimum Volume Commitment),” which included any obligation to pay any
Shortfall Payment, Throughput Fee, or any other fee or payment. See Agreement, §§ 8.4, 3.1, and
3.2.

38. On or about February 14, 2019, an attorney for Maalt sent a letter dated February
14, 2019 to Sequitur, which disputed that the Force Majeure event had occurred but without any
reference to evidence to the contrary and only a conclusory unfounded assertion of pretext. The
letter also included a copy of the Original Petition filed in this case by Maalt on February 13, 2019,
at 5:00 p.m. Significantly, the letter also stated that “Maalt will not allow your company access to
the Barnhart property [Terminal] to remove equipment or otherwise” and that “[a]ny attempt to
access the property will be considered a trespass.” Notably absent from the letter was any
reference to any terms in the Agreement or legal authority that permitted Maalt to refuse Sequitur
access to the property to retrieve Sequitur’s equipment and facilities or that suggested Sequitur’s
undisputed “right of access over, on, and across” the property or Terminal for “purposes of
enforcing” Sequitur’s “rights under this Agreement,” including removing and retrieving Sequitur’s
equipment and facilities, had been terminated. See Agreement, § 2.5.

39. On February 22, 2019, Sequitur’s attorney sent a letter to Maalt’s attorney,
responding to the February 14, 2019 letter noted above. In the letter, Sequitur’s attorney reiterated
that Sequitur had properly terminated the Agreement. Most significantly, however, the letter
explained that earlier on February 22, 2019, Sequitur had learned that its equipment had
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wrongfully been removed, stolen, and misappropriated from the Terminal by Maalt, without notice
or warning. Sequitur learned that its equipment and facilities were removed to a location
approximately 25 miles away from the Terminal and on real property that Sequitur does not have
an express right of access, like it does with respect to the Terminal per the terms of the Agreement.
The letter also demanded that Sequitur’s equipment and facilities be returned to Sequitur by no
later than February 25, 2019, at 5:00 p.m. Despite Sequitur’s letter and demand, Maalt never
responded nor returned Sequitur’s equipment. And Maalt has otherwise failed and refused to honor
its obligations under the Agreement with respect to Sequitur’s rights and access to its equipment
and facilities and all other rights that Sequitur has under the Agreement.

40. Sequitur’s equipment and facilities, wrongfully removed, stolen, and
misappropriated by Maalt, is valued at approximately $2,576,505.21 in the aggregate, if not more,
and includes numerous devices, components, and items. Because Sequitur does not have legal
access to the property where Maalt has currently relocated Sequitur’s equipment and facilities,
Sequitur cannot properly secure and protect such equipment and facilities from damage, corrosion,
vandalism, or a subsequent theft by persons other than Maalt. Additionally, without immediate
access to its equipment and facilities, Sequitur cannot retrieve the equipment and facilities and use
it for other business opportunities, should they arise. Simply put, the harm being suffered by
Maalt’s wrongfully removing, stealing, and misappropriating Sequitur’s equipment is irreparable

and immeasurable.
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SECOND AMENDED COUNTERCLAIMS

41.  Per Rule 37, Sequitur seeks nonmonetary relief, including declaratory, ancillary,
and injunctive (including prohibitive and mandatory) relief, and additionally, or in the alternative,
to such relief, monetary relief of over $1,000,000.00.

42. Sequitur incorporates herein the facts set forth above.

Promissory Estoppel

43.  Vista and Maalt made promises to Sequitur, expressly, either orally or in writing,
and/or or impliedly through Vista’s and Maalt’s conduct, which included the promises that trains
and railcars would be available, including at a reasonable price, at the right time, and for the right
term. Sequitur reasonably relied on Vista’s and Maalt’s promises to Sequitur’s detriment.
Sequitur’s reliance was foreseeable by Vista and Maalt. Injustice can be avoided only by enforcing
Vista’s and Maalt’s promises. In addition, or in the alternative, Sequitur has incurred reliance
damages due to Vista’s and Maalt’s promises, in an amount over $4,000,000. Sequitur seeks
recovery of its damages, interest, court costs, and attorney’s fees.

Negative misrepresentations

44. Vista’s and Maalt’s representations to Sequitur were in connection with the above-
referenced transaction in which Vista and Maalt had a pecuniary interest. Vista and Maalt supplied
false information to guide Sequitur into and in the transaction. Neither Vista nor Maalt used
reasonable care in obtaining or communicating the representations and information. Sequitur
justifiably relied on the representations and information. Sequitur has incurred reliance damages
due to Vista’s and Maalt’s false representations, in an amount over $4,000,000. Sequitur seeks
recovery of its damages, interest, court costs, and attorney’s fees.

{171480/00002/01375101.DOCX 1 } 15

Removal Appendix 0071



Case 20-04064-elm Doc 1-1 Filed 09/04/20 Entered 09/04/20 10:53:27 Page 72 of 862

Common law fraudulent inducement

45.  Vista and Maalt made material representations to Sequitur in the above-referenced
transaction that were false. When Vista and Maalt made the representations to Sequitur, Vista and
Maalt knew the representations were false or made the representations recklessly, as positive
assertions, and without knowledge of the truth, if any. Vista and Maalt made the representations
with the intent that Sequitur act on them, including Sequitur entering into the Agreement. Sequitur
relied on the representations. As a result, Sequitur has incurred reliance damages due to Vista’s
and Maalt’s false representations, in an amount over $4,000,000. Sequitur seeks recovery of its
damages, interest, court costs, and attorney’s fees.
Breach of Contract

46. Sequitur and Maalt entered into the Agreement. Sequitur properly terminated the
Agreement, while retaining certain rights under the Agreement. Despite the foregoing, Maalt
breached the Agreement. Maalt’s breach has caused Sequitur injury.
Declaratory Judgment

47. Pursuant to Chapter 37 of the Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code, known as
the Texas Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act (hereafter “UDJA™), the parties have a dispute
about their rights and obligations under the Agreement. Sequitur seeks a declaratory judgment
from this Court, as follows:

(1) No Terminal Operations Commencement Date ever occurred;

(2) On December 7, 2018, Sequitur properly sent notice of a Force Majeure, and such

Force Majeure existed;
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(3) On February 8, 2019, Sequitur properly sent notice terminating the Agreement because

a Force Majeure existed for at least sixty days;

(4) Effective February 8, 2019, the Agreement was terminated by Force Majeure;

(5) Sequitur was not obligated to remedy the cause of the Force Majeure occurrence

because Sequitur, as the affected party, did not deem it reasonable and economic to do so.

(6) Sequitur neither owes nor owed a payment of any kind to Maalt under the Agreement;

(7) Sequitur has the exclusive right and title to the equipment and facilities it installed at

the Terminal, and that Maalt wrongfully removed, stolen, and misappropriated such

equipment and facilities; and

(8) Sequitur has the right to retrieve its equipment and facilities from any location where

Maalt has placed such equipment and facilities.
Conversion

48. Sequitur owns and has the right to immediate possession of the equipment and
facilities that it installed at the Terminal. The equipment and facilities are personal property. Maalt
wrongfully exercised dominion and control of such property by refusing to allow Sequitur to
retrieve such property from the Terminal, by wrongfully removing, stealing, and misappropriating
Sequitur’s property and placing it at a location approximately 25 miles from the Terminal, and by
refusing to return Sequitur’s property to the Terminal upon remand or otherwise continuing to
refuse Sequitur’s access to its property. As a result of Maalt’s acts and/or omissions, Sequitur has

suffered injury.

{171480/00002/01375101.DOCX 1 } 17

Removal Appendix 0073



Case 20-04064-elm Doc 1-1 Filed 09/04/20 Entered 09/04/20 10:53:27 Page 74 of 862

RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff/Third-Party
Plaintiffs, SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, further requests that Plaintiff Maalt recover nothing by
its suit; that SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, recover and obtain from Maalt the declaratory relief
sought above, that SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC recover and obtain from Maalt and Vista, jointly
and severally, all damages, including actual, special, and exemplary damages, court costs,
expenses, and reasonable and necessary (and/or equitable and just per UDJA) attorney’s fees
against Maalt and Vista, as noted above, pursuant to the prevailing party clause in the subject
Agreement, Chapters 37 and 38 of the Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code,; and that
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC have such other and further relief to which it is entitled, whether at
law or in equity.

Respectfully submitted,
HOOVER SLOVACEK LLP
By: /s/ Matthew A. Kornhauser
Matthew A. Kornhauser

State Bar No. 11684500

Dylan B. Russell

State Bar No. 24041839
Galleria Tower II

5051 Westheimer, Suite 1200
Houston, Texas 77056
Telephone: 713-977-8686
Facsimile: 713-977-5395

kornhauser@hooverslovacek.com
russell@hooverslovacek.com

ATTORNEYS FOR
DEFENDANT/COUNTER-PLAINTIFF,
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC

and
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GOSSETT, HARRISON,
MILLICAN & STIPANOVIC, P.C.

State Bar No. 00795669
Galleria Tower I1

2 S. Koenigheim Street
San Angelo, Texas 76903
Telephone: 325-653-3291
Facsimile: 325-655-6838
pauls@ghtxlaw.com

CO-COUNSEL FOR
DEFENDANT/COUNTER-PLAINTIFF,
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this, the 20thday of December 2019, a true and correct copy of the
foregoing document was served via e-service to all counsel of record as follows:

James Lanter

JAMES LANTER, PC

560 N. Walnut Creek, Suite 120
Mansfield, Texas 76063

Paul O. Wickes

WICKES LAw, PLLC

5600 Tennyson Parkway, Suite 205
Plano, Texas 75024

Samuel S. Allen

JACKSON WALKER

135 West Twohig Avenue, Suite C
San Angelo, Texas 76903

/s/ Matthew A. Kornhauser
Matthew A. Kornhauser
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CAUSE NO. CV19-003

MAALT, LP, § IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF
Plaintiff, §
§
V. §
§ IRION COUNTY, TEXAS
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, §
Defendants. §
§ 51ST JUDICIAL DISTRICT
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC’S

SECOND AMENDED COUNTERCLAIMS
AND FIRST AMENDED THIRD-PARTY CLAIMS

COMES NOW, Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff/Third-Party = Plaintiff, ~SEQUITUR
PERMIAN, LLC (“Sequitur”), in the above styled and numbered cause and file this its Second
Amended Counterclaims and First Amended Third-Party Claims and in support thereof would

show unto the Court, as follows:

PARTIES
1. Sequitur has appeared herein and can be served through its counsel of record.
2. Vista Proppants and Logistics Inc. (“Vista”) has appeared herein and can be served

through its counsel of record.

FACTS IN SUPPORT OF COUNTERCLAIMS/THIRD-PARTY CLAIMS

3. Sequitur is in the crude oil production business, with a primary focus of
approximately 88,000 net acres including Irion County, Texas as part of the Wolfcamp Shale. In
about May of 2018, in furtherance of its effort to most efficiently and cost-effectively transport the
crude oil produced by Sequitur to refineries in southeast Texas and Louisiana, Sequitur was
looking to obtain access to a transloading facility or rail terminal in or around Irion County, Texas.
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The purpose of obtaining a transloading facility would be to transfer crude oil that is delivered to
the facility by trucks or via pipeline into train railcars, which is an efficient, cost-effective, and
safe way to transport crude oil to refineries near the Louisiana Gulf Coast.

4. On May 4, 2018, Sequitur had initial discussions with an employee of Vista, of
which the Plaintiff Maalt, LP (“Maalt”) is an affiliate, regarding a rail depot that Maalt owned in
Barnhart, Texas that could be converted into the crude-by-rail transloading facility (the
“Terminal”) to which Sequitur sought access. Vista had experience elsewhere in the Permian Basin
for transporting frac sand (a proppant) via railcar at similar facilities. Vista told Sequitur that they
were receiving inquiries from other companies, but that they were more interested in doing
business with Sequitur because they could offer future additional revenue streams.

5. During the May 2018 discussions, Sequitur made it clear that it wanted only a 15-
month term on the Terminal services contract, as opposed to the two-year term that Vista indicated
was more typical. In addition to a shorter-term contract, Sequitur made clear that it was
fundamental to the viability of its use of the proposed Terminal that both industry-approved
railcars and locomotives (train engines) be available at the right time and at the right price, in light
of the fluctuating price of crude oil. Additionally, crude oil barrels sold in the Midland Basin were
selling at a steep discount to those sold on the Louisiana Gulf Coast. Therefore, if Sequitur or its
downstream oil buyers could sell barrels of oil for more on the Louisiana Gulf Coast less transport
costs than they could sell barrels of oil for in Midland, additional earnings would be achieved.

6. In light of Sequitur’s specific requirements for the proposal, on May 9, 2018, Jon
Ince, then-Senior Manager of Logistics with Vista, introduced Sequitur to Jonas Struthers of
FeNIX FSL, arail car lease broker with whom Sequitur initially discussed renting rail cars through.
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Ince described Jonas Struthers as “the railcar guy” who had “been a great partner for me in the
past with our sand cars.” Ince stated that Struthers would “be able to get you cars that you need for
your fleet” and “at a really good rate.” Ince also noted that Struthers would “be more in the know
on regulations and exact timing on when [CP-1232 railcars] are being phased out for the [DOT-
117R railcars].”

7. On May 10 and 11, 2018, in an internal email among Vista employees, Ince outlined
the terms sought by Sequitur, including to transload crude oil from [November 1,] 2018 to
December 31, 2019, for about 20-30 railcars loaded per day with a minimum of approximately 15
railcars. Ince also noted that Sequitur was also “[IJooking to place tankage on our property for [a]
pipeline connection with [a] long-term lease.” Chris Favors, Business Development officer with
Vista (“Favors”™), also indicated that JupiterMLP, LLC (the parent of affiliate, Jupiter Marketing
& Trading, LLC) (collectively, “Jupiter) was also “interested in” the Terminal but that Vista had
decided it was “moving forward” with the proposed Terminal services contract with Sequitur.

8. On May 16, 2018, in another internal email among Vista employees, Ince compared
the proposals of both Sequitur and Jupiter for use of the Barnhart Terminal. Ince noted in the email
that Sequitur had “no rail experience” and also that Sequitur was willing “to entertain” Vista as
the manager of its fleet of railcars. Significantly, Ince opened the email noting that Union Pacific
Railroad is “requiring DOT 117 crude cars on all new freight quotes” and that such cars “are not
available until Q3-Q4 of this year.”

0. On June 1, 2018, Sequitur and Vista entered into a Letter of Intent (“LOI”)

regarding the use of the Terminal. The initial term of the LOI was through June 26, 2018 and was
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extended by written amendments to July 23, 2018. The LOI reflected the parties’ intent to enter
into a Terminal Services Agreement for a term of September 2018 to December 2019.

10. On June 1, 2018, Sequitur emailed Favors regarding progress being made on a draft
of the proposed Terminal Services Agreement between Sequitur and Vista (ultimately Maalt), as
well as Sequitur’s purchase of eight new transloaders for installation at the Terminal, at a cost of
over $2,200,000, and its efforts to address regulatory and surface use issues.

11. On June 5, 2018, Struthers emailed Ince, Morris, and others at Vista explaining that
the “market for 117s right now is upwards of $1100 on a 3 year lease.” Struthers indicated that
the older 1232 railcars might be able to be retrofitted to meet the DOT-117 standards and at a
lower price, but there were still “unanswered questions” from the American Association of
Railroads and the Federal Railroad Administration regarding the proposed attempted at
retrofitting.

12. Realizing that the train business was one that Sequitur was inexperienced with and
could not learn overnight, Sequitur decided to seek a business venture with a large oil trader with
access to leased rail cars. Sequitur reached out to several companies, including, but not limited to
Shell and BP.

13. On June 5, 2018, Favors emailed Braden Merrill, VP & CFO of Sequitur, and
Travis Morris, the Chief Commercial Officer of Jupiter, regarding Vista working with both
Sequitur and Jupiter regarding “Vista’s Barnhart terminal.” Favors introduced Jupiter to Sequitur,
and Favors’ colleague, Ince described Jupiter as the “real deal and a partner who could get it done.”
Favors went on to inquire as to whether a conference call should be scheduled among Vista,
Sequitur, and Jupiter that day or the following day. A conference call took place that day, and
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Sequitur was informed that Jupiter had trucking capabilities and also relationships with railroad
companies, which, as noted above, were requirements for the proposed Terminal to be viable.
Braden Merrill of Sequitur thanked Favors and Ince for the introduction to Jupiter.

14. On June 6, 2018, Favors emailed Travis Morris regarding changes to a draft
terminal services agreement between Vista and Jupiter. Favors stated that “[w]e can easily amend
the contract to include Barnhart volume if the Sequit[u]r opportunity doesn’t pan out.”

15. Sequitur initially selected Shell as a business venture partner and proceeded in
ordering the equipment that was needed to build out the Terminal, including the transloaders
contemplated under the original LOI. Sequitur had committed approximately $4 million to the
Terminal project. However, neither Shell nor BP were able to secure rates from BNSF or UP.

16. On June 20, 2018, Travis Morris with Jupiter emailed Ince and Favors of Vista
attaching an executed agreement between Vista and Jupiter. Morris also stated that “I am getting
on the phone with Sequitur today so we can try to close the Barnhart deal.” Morris also noted that
“I do not have firm railcars yet, but we are working several sets with Jonas Struthers.”

17. From late June, and during July, and the first week of August 2018, Vista and
Sequitur continued negotiations and exchanged drafts of the Terminal Services Agreement for the
exclusive use of the Terminal in Barnhart. Then, on August 3, 2018, Favors emailed Braden
Merrill of Sequitur and Sequitur’s President, Mike van den Bold, pressuring Sequitur to execute
the Terminal Services Agreement. Favors stated that “I am receiving heavy pressure to get the
agreement fully executed” and that “[w]e have been offered slightly better terms from [an]other
party that said they will execute an agreement today.” At this time, Favors told Merrill that Jupiter
was offering to pay $8 million up front to Vista and Maalt for exclusive use of the Terminal, cutting

{171480/00002/01375101.DOCX 1 } 5

Removal Appendix 0081



Case 20-04064-elm Doc 1-1 Filed 09/04/20 Entered 09/04/20 10:53:27 Page 82 of 862

out Sequitur. Favor’s statements to Merrill were knowingly false when made, were made with
conscience indifference to the truth of the statements, or were negligently made, and were intended
to induce, and in fact did induce, Sequitur to sign the Terminal Services Agreement, and Sequitur
reasonably relied on such false statements. Merrill told Favors that Sequitur had already purchased
the necessary equipment for the Terminal project and was in the hole for millions of dollars due to
Sequitur’s reliance on the LOI. Favors again mentioned that Sequitur should do a business venture
with Jupiter because Jupiter was already able to ship on the railroads.

18. On August 6, 2018, Merrill of Sequitur had a conference call with Vista and Jupiter
representatives regarding the availability of railcars and locomotives. Sequitur was told that Jupiter
had access to 1600 railcars and could manage 10 to 12 locomotives a month. Also, as a result of
that call, later that same day, Sequitur’s President forwarded via email to Favors of Vista and
Maalt, the Terminal Services Agreement (also hereinafter called the “Agreement”), dated effective
August 6, 2018, which was executed the following day.

19. On August 9, 2018, Morris emailed Sequitur regarding a prior meeting in which
Jupiter offered to purchase the crude oil transloaded at the Terminal from Sequitur instead of
Sequitur’s initial plan to sell the oil to Shell. Morris noted that in “order to meet a September
[2018] start date I need to begin directing trains toward Barnhart quickly.”

20. In reliance on the promises, commitments, false statements, and inducements made
by Vista and Maalt, and their agents and representatives, regarding the availability of rail cars and
trains to pick up the crude oil at the Terminal and deliver it via rail to the desired destinations,
Sequitur entered into the Agreement with Maalt, with an effective date of August 6, 2018.
Consistent with the entire premise and purpose of the Agreement—that Sequitur would be able to
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cost-effectively deliver oil to the Terminal to be transloaded onto railcars that would be delivered
to the Louisiana Gulf Coast refineries—throughout the Agreement references are made to
“railcars” as well as a reference to the “train loading area.” Thus, it was expressly made clear to
both parties that without access to trains and railcars, the essential purpose of the Agreement was
for naught.

21. Per the Agreement, Maalt (also described as “Terminal Owner”) was the owner and
operator of the Terminal' located in Barnhart, Texas on land leased or controlled by Maalt, and
Sequitur (described as “Customer”) was engaged in the business of transportation and marketing
of crude oil and other liquid hydrocarbon products owned or controlled by Sequitur (hereinafter
“o01l”). Among other contractual duties, the Agreement provided that Maalt would provide the
labor, supervision, and materials necessary to deliver, handle, measure, and redeliver (hereinafter
“transload”) the oil to Sequitur or to Sequitur’s third-party customers. Sequitur would have the
exclusive rights to use the Terminal for transloading oil.

22. Section 11.2 of the Agreement required Maalt to procure and maintain, at its own
expense, a pollution legal liability (“PPL”) insurance policy reasonably acceptable to Sequitur and
naming Sequitur and its Group as an additional insured, but this policy was never procured by
Maalt and provided to Sequitur as required by the Agreement.

23. The Agreement contemplated two methods of delivery of oil to the Terminal, by
either truck or pipeline. Regardless of the method of delivery, upon receipt, Maalt would then

transload the oil into railcars to Sequitur or Sequitur’s third-party customers. In order to facilitate

! The Terminal’s address is located at 44485 W. Hwy 67, Barnhart, Irion County, Texas 76930 and is more specifically
described in the Agreement in Exhibit A-1 thereto.
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the transloading into railcars of oil that was delivered by truck, Sequitur, at its sole cost and
significant expense, installed equipment and facilities at the Terminal, which was described in the
Agreement as the “Phase I Project.” Sequitur made this investment and incurred these costs in
reliance on Vista’s and Maalt’s promises that there would be have sufficient trains, rail cars and
other means to transport the crude oil via rail as referenced in the Agreement. Additionally, if
Sequitur elected to do so, it could also install at its sole cost and expense, equipment and facilities
at the Terminal for transloading oil into railcars from pipelines (versus trucks), which was
described in the Agreement as the “Phase II Project.”

24. Significantly, as to the equipment and facilities installed by Sequitur (collectively
“Customer Terminal Modifications™) in connection with the either the Phase I Project or the Phase
II Project, Maalt agreed in the Agreement that “title to the equipment and facilities installed by or
at the direction of [Sequitur] in connection with a Customer Terminal Modification shall remain
with and be vested in [Sequitur].” See Agreement, § 2.7. The only exception to Sequitur’s title
and ownership to the Customer Terminal Modifications that it may have installed or directed, at
its own cost and expense, was “any additional rail tracks that may [have been] installed,” which
additional tracks’ ownership, if so installed, would be transferred to Maalt after the expiration of
the Agreement’s term, subject to certain rights of Sequitur. See Agreement, § 2.7.

25. In very general terms and subject to numerous terms and conditions, in exchange
for Maalt’s operation of the Terminal and its transloading of oil exclusively for Sequitur, further
conditioned upon the occurrence of the Terminal Operations Commencement Date, Maalt would
be paid at least a minimum payment (the “Shortfall Payment”) depending on the amount of oil
actually transloaded through the Terminal. See Agreement, § 3.2.
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26. Any obligation for Sequitur to pay the Shortfall Payment, however, was expressly
made subject to “the terms of this Agreement, including . . . Force Majeure.” See Agreement, §
3.1. The Agreement could not have been clearer when it provided, as follows: “There shall be no
Shortfall Payment due and owing for the Shortfall to the extent caused or contributed to by Force
Majeure or due to such Terminal Owner [Maalt] breach.” See Agreement, § 3.2(a).

27.  Additionally, no payment would be due under the Agreement, including any
Shortfall Payment, until “after the Terminal Operations Commencement Date.” See Agreement, §
3.1. The Terminal Operations Commencement Date was defined as “the date that the Terminal is
fully operational to enable the performance and receipt of the Services and any and all Regulatory
Approvals for the Services have been obtained, in each case, as reasonably determined by
Customer [Sequitur] and as such date is evidenced by a written notice sent by Customer [Sequitur]
to Terminal Owner [Maalt].” See Agreement, § 1.

28. Importantly, in the event of a Force Majeure, any obligation of Sequitur to make
payments to Maalt only existed for oil “actually Throughput at the Terminal.” See Agreement, §
14.1. The term “Throughput” was defined as “the delivery of Product [o0il] from trucks or pipeline
into the Terminal on behalf of Customer [Sequitur] or Customer’s [Sequitur’s] third-party
customers.” See Agreement, § 1. Subject to the terms of the Agreement, Sequitur was only
obligated to pay Maalt a throughput fee of $1.50 per Barrel for Product Throughput through the
Terminal. See Agreement, §4.1. “Product Throughput” was the metered quantity of oil actually
delivered into the Terminal and transloaded by Maalt into railcars. See Agreement, Art. 5. No oil

was ever actually Throughput at the Terminal.
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29. The Agreement defined both “Force Majeure Event” and “Force Majeure” to mean
“any cause not within the reasonable control of a Party claiming suspension, and that could not
have been avoided or overcome by the exercise of due diligence by such Party,” which included a
lengthy list of various events and occurrences. Included in the list of events and occurrences was
“the unavailability, interruption, delay or curtailment of Product transportation services” and a
catch-all for “any other cause or causes beyond the reasonable control of the Party claiming
suspension, whether similar or not to those listed.” See Agreement, § 14.2. If either party
determined it was necessary to declare a Force Majeure Event, notice was required first by phone
or email and then by mail or overnight carrier. See Agreement, § 14.3.

30. At no point in time, including between August 6, 2018 and December 7, 2018, did
Sequitur ever send written notice to Maalt that the Terminal Operations Commencement Date had
occurred.

31. At no point in time, including between August 6, 2018 and December 7, 2018, was
oil “actually Throughput at the” Terminal.

32. Despite Vista and Maalt’s promises to Sequitur that Sequitur would be able to
secure sufficient numbers of trains and rail cars and at a really good rate, and Vista’s and Maalt’s
introduction to Sequitur of Vista’s and Maalt’s agents, who were self-professed “railcar guys”, it
became obvious that said promises were false. Specifically, sufficient trains, rail cars, and other
means of transporting crude oil via rail were not readily available to Sequitur. In fact, there became
an unavailability, interruption, delay, or curtailment of oil transportation services that were beyond
the control of Sequitur. These circumstances were not foreseeable to Sequitur and amounted to a
Force Majeure event as described in the Terminal Services Agreement.
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33. On December 7, 2018, in accordance with the terms of the Agreement, Sequitur
sent written notice to Maalt by email and FedEx that Sequitur had declared an existing “Force
Majeure” under the Agreement because of the “unavailability, interruption, delay or curtailment
of rail transportation services” for the oil, “despite continued efforts to procure such services.”
More specifically, a Force Majeure event occurred because crude oil transportation service (e.g.,
rail service and capacity) to allow for Sequitur’s use of the Terminal for the intended purposes of
the Agreement was not available despite diligent efforts to procure such service and capacity, and
such event of Force Majeure was not within the reasonable control of Sequitur. The written notice
also noted that Sequitur anticipated that the Force Majeure event would “continue for the
foreseeable future.”

34, On January 28, 2019, Sequitur received an invoice from Maalt dated January 25,
2019 for $531,216.00, which was presumably for an alleged Shortfall Payment.

35. On January 31, 2019, Sequitur sent written notice to Maalt responding to the
January 25, 2019 invoice disputing that such amount was owed because both the Force Majeure
event had occurred and remained continuing, and also because, as noted above, the Terminal
Operations Commencement Date had not been reached per the terms of the Agreement. Sequitur
also indicated that it would inform Maalt of “any changes or developments in the status of the
Existing Force Majeure.”

36. On February 8, 2019, Sequitur sent written notice to Maalt by email and FedEx that
the declared Force Majeure had continued for sixty days, despite Sequitur’s continued efforts to
procure such services. Accordingly, Sequitur notified Maalt of Sequitur’s right to terminate the
Agreement. Specifically, Sequitur relied on the “Termination for Extended Force Majeure”
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provision in the Agreement, which provides, in pertinent part, that “[b]y written notice to the other
Party, a Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement prior to the end of the Term if the
Parties are unable to fulfill the purposes of this Agreement due to Force Majeure for a period equal
to or greater than (a) (60) consecutive Days.” See Agreement, § 8.4. The February 8, 2019 notice
also noted that Sequitur would be contacting Maalt to discuss and coordinate the removal of
Sequitur’s equipment and facilities installed at the Terminal (Customer Terminal Modifications).
See Agreement, §§ 2.5 and 2.7 (describing, upon termination of the Agreement, Sequitur’s “right
of access over, on, and across” the lands upon which the Terminal was located for “purposes of
enforcing” Sequitur’s “rights under this Agreement” to remove the Customer Terminal
Modifications, and also acknowledging Sequitur’s undisputed “title to and ownership of” such
Customer Terminal Modifications).

37. Notably, as to Sequitur’s notice of Termination for Extended Force Majeure, the
Agreement further provided that “[f]ollowing the giving of such notice, neither Party shall have
any further obligations to the other Party under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, with
respect to the Minimum Volume Commitment),” which included any obligation to pay any
Shortfall Payment, Throughput Fee, or any other fee or payment. See Agreement, §§ 8.4, 3.1, and
3.2.

38. On or about February 14, 2019, an attorney for Maalt sent a letter dated February
14, 2019 to Sequitur, which disputed that the Force Majeure event had occurred but without any
reference to evidence to the contrary and only a conclusory unfounded assertion of pretext. The
letter also included a copy of the Original Petition filed in this case by Maalt on February 13, 2019,
at 5:00 p.m. Significantly, the letter also stated that “Maalt will not allow your company access to
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the Barnhart property [Terminal] to remove equipment or otherwise” and that “[a]ny attempt to
access the property will be considered a trespass.” Notably absent from the letter was any
reference to any terms in the Agreement or legal authority that permitted Maalt to refuse Sequitur
access to the property to retrieve Sequitur’s equipment and facilities or that suggested Sequitur’s
undisputed “right of access over, on, and across” the property or Terminal for “purposes of
enforcing” Sequitur’s “rights under this Agreement,” including removing and retrieving Sequitur’s
equipment and facilities, had been terminated. See Agreement, § 2.5.

39. On February 22, 2019, Sequitur’s attorney sent a letter to Maalt’s attorney,
responding to the February 14, 2019 letter noted above. In the letter, Sequitur’s attorney reiterated
that Sequitur had properly terminated the Agreement. Most significantly, however, the letter
explained that earlier on February 22, 2019, Sequitur had learned that its equipment had
wrongfully been removed, stolen, and misappropriated from the Terminal by Maalt, without notice
or warning. Sequitur learned that its equipment and facilities were removed to a location
approximately 25 miles away from the Terminal and on real property that Sequitur does not have
an express right of access, like it does with respect to the Terminal per the terms of the Agreement.
The letter also demanded that Sequitur’s equipment and facilities be returned to Sequitur by no
later than February 25, 2019, at 5:00 p.m. Despite Sequitur’s letter and demand, Maalt never
responded nor returned Sequitur’s equipment. And Maalt has otherwise failed and refused to honor
its obligations under the Agreement with respect to Sequitur’s rights and access to its equipment
and facilities and all other rights that Sequitur has under the Agreement.

40. Sequitur’s equipment and facilities, wrongfully removed, stolen, and
misappropriated by Maalt, is valued at approximately $2,576,505.21 in the aggregate, if not more,
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and includes numerous devices, components, and items. Because Sequitur does not have legal
access to the property where Maalt has currently relocated Sequitur’s equipment and facilities,
Sequitur cannot properly secure and protect such equipment and facilities from damage, corrosion,
vandalism, or a subsequent theft by persons other than Maalt. Additionally, without immediate
access to its equipment and facilities, Sequitur cannot retrieve the equipment and facilities and use
it for other business opportunities, should they arise. Simply put, the harm being suffered by
Maalt’s wrongfully removing, stealing, and misappropriating Sequitur’s equipment is irreparable
and immeasurable.

SECOND AMENDED COUNTERCLAIMS

41. Per Rule 37, Sequitur seeks nonmonetary relief, including declaratory, ancillary,
and injunctive (including prohibitive and mandatory) relief, and additionally, or in the alternative,
to such relief, monetary relief of over $1,000,000.00.

42. Sequitur incorporates herein the facts set forth above.

Promissory Estoppel

43. Vista and Maalt made promises to Sequitur, expressly, either orally or in writing,
and/or or impliedly through Vista’s and Maalt’s conduct, which included the promises that trains
and railcars would be available, including at a reasonable price, at the right time, and for the right
term. Sequitur reasonably relied on Vista’s and Maalt’s promises to Sequitur’s detriment.
Sequitur’s reliance was foreseeable by Vista and Maalt. Injustice can be avoided only by enforcing
Vista’s and Maalt’s promises. In addition, or in the alternative, Sequitur has incurred reliance
damages due to Vista’s and Maalt’s promises, in an amount over $4,000,000. Sequitur seeks
recovery of its damages, interest, court costs, and attorney’s fees.
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Negative misrepresentations

44.  Vista’s and Maalt’s representations to Sequitur were in connection with the above-
referenced transaction in which Vista and Maalt had a pecuniary interest. Vista and Maalt supplied
false information to guide Sequitur into the transaction. Neither Vista nor Maalt used reasonable
care in obtaining or communicating the representations and information. Sequitur justifiably relied
on the representations and information. Sequitur has incurred reliance damages due to Vista’s and
Maalt’s false representations, in an amount over $4,000,000. Sequitur seeks recovery of its
damages, interest, court costs, and attorney’s fees.
Common law fraudulent inducement

45. Vista and Maalt made material representations to Sequitur in the above-referenced
transaction that were false. When Vista and Maalt made the representations to Sequitur, Vista and
Maalt knew the representations were false or made the representations recklessly, as positive
assertions, and without knowledge of the truth, if any. Vista and Maalt made the representations
with the intent that Sequitur act on them, including Sequitur entering into the Agreement. Sequitur
relied on the representations. As a result, Sequitur has incurred reliance damages due to Vista’s
and Maalt’s false representations, in an amount over $4,000,000. Sequitur seeks recovery of its
damages, interest, court costs, and attorney’s fees.
Breach of Contract

46. Sequitur and Maalt entered into the Agreement. Sequitur properly terminated the
Agreement, while retaining certain rights under the Agreement. Despite the foregoing, Maalt
breached the Agreement. Maalt’s breach has caused Sequitur injury.
Declaratory Judgment
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47.  Pursuant to Chapter 37 of the Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code, known as
the Texas Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act (hereafter “UDJA”), the parties have a dispute
about their rights and obligations under the Agreement. Sequitur seeks a declaratory judgment
from this Court, as follows:

(1) No Terminal Operations Commencement Date ever occurred,

(2) On December 7, 2018, Sequitur properly sent notice of a Force Majeure, and such

Force Majeure existed;

(3) On February 8, 2019, Sequitur properly sent notice terminating the Agreement because

a Force Majeure existed for at least sixty days;

(4) Effective February 8, 2019, the Agreement was terminated by Force Majeure;

(5) Sequitur was not obligated to remedy the cause of the Force Majeure occurrence

because Sequitur, as the affected party, did not deem it reasonable and economic to do so.

(6) Sequitur neither owes nor owed a payment of any kind to Maalt under the Agreement;

(7) Sequitur has the exclusive right and title to the equipment and facilities it installed at

the Terminal, and that Maalt wrongfully removed, stolen, and misappropriated such

equipment and facilities; and

(8) Sequitur has the right to retrieve its equipment and facilities from any location where

Maalt has placed such equipment and facilities.

Conversion

48. Sequitur owns and has the right to immediate possession of the equipment and
facilities that it installed at the Terminal. The equipment and facilities are personal property. Maalt
wrongfully exercised dominion and control of such property by refusing to allow Sequitur to
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retrieve such property from the Terminal, by wrongfully removing, stealing, and misappropriating
Sequitur’s property and placing it at a location approximately 25 miles from the Terminal, and by
refusing to return Sequitur’s property to the Terminal upon remand or otherwise continuing to
refuse Sequitur’s access to its property. As a result of Maalt’s acts and/or omissions, Sequitur has
suffered injury.

RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff/Third-Party
Plaintiffs, SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, further requests that Plaintiff Maalt recover nothing by
its suit; that SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, recover and obtain from Maalt the declaratory relief
sought above, that SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC recover and obtain from Maalt and Vista, jointly
and severally, all damages, including actual, special, and exemplary damages, court costs,
expenses, and reasonable and necessary (and/or equitable and just per UDJA) attorney’s fees
against Maalt and Vista, as noted above, pursuant to the prevailing party clause in the subject
Agreement, Chapters 37 and 38 of the Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code,; and that
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC have such other and further relief to which it is entitled, whether at

law or in equity.
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Respectfully submitted,
HOOVER SLOVACEK LLP

By: /s/ Matthew A. Kornhauser
Matthew A. Kornhauser

State Bar No. 11684500

Dylan B. Russell

State Bar No. 24041839
Galleria Tower II

5051 Westheimer, Suite 1200
Houston, Texas 77056
Telephone: 713-977-8686
Facsimile: 713-977-5395
kornhauser@hooverslovacek.com
russell@hooverslovacek.com

ATTORNEYS FOR
DEFENDANT/COUNTER-PLAINTIFF,
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC

and

GOSSETT, HARRISON,
MILLICAN & STIPANOVIC, P.C.

State Bar No. 00795669
Galleria Tower 11

2 S. Koenigheim Street
San Angelo, Texas 76903
Telephone: 325-653-3291
Facsimile: 325-655-6838
pauls@ghtxlaw.com

CO-COUNSEL FOR
DEFENDANT/COUNTER-PLAINTIFF,
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this, the 20" day of December 2019, a true and correct copy of the
foregoing document was served via e-service to all counsel of record as follows:

James Lanter

JAMES LANTER, PC

560 N. Walnut Creek, Suite 120
Mansfield, Texas 76063

Paul O. Wickes

WICKES LAw, PLLC

5600 Tennyson Parkway, Suite 205
Plano, Texas 75024

Samuel S. Allen

JACKSON WALKER

135 West Twohig Avenue, Suite C
San Angelo, Texas 76903

/s/ Matthew A. Kornhauser
Matthew A. Kornhauser
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Shirley Graham-Miles

District Clerk
Irion County, Texas

Ashley Masters

CAUSE NUMBER 19-003

MAALT, LP, Plaintiff IN THE DISTRICT COURT

VS. 51st JUDICIAL DISTRICT

wn W W L U

SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, Defendant IRION COUNTY, TEXAS

PLAINTIFF’S FIRST AMENDED ORIGINAL PETITION
TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF SAID COURT:

COMES NOW, Maalt, LP (“Maalt”), Plaintiff, and files this its First Amended
Original Petition, and in support thereof, respectfully shows this Court as follows:

DISCOVERY CONTROL PLAN

l.
Plaintiff intends to conduct discovery under Level 3 of Texas Rule of Civil
Procedure 190.4.

RULE 47 STATEMENT OF RELIEF REQUESTED

1.
Plaintiff seeks monetary relief over $1,000,000.00.
PARTIES
1.
Plaintiff, Maalt, LP, is a Texas limited partnership with its principal place of
business in Tarrant County, Texas.

Defendant, Sequitur Permian, LLC, (“Sequitur’) has appeared and answered.

Plaintiff’s First Amended Original Petition Page 1
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Venue is proper in Irion County, Texas, pursuant to Texas Civil Practice and
Remedies Code §15.002(a)(1) because that is the county in which all or a substantial
part of the events giving rise to Maalt’s claims and causes of action occurred.

FACTS
V.

Maalt is in the business of operating transloading facilities that transload materials
used in the oil and gas industry in Texas. Its transloading activities typically involve
transloading materials from rail cars to trucks for delivery to well sites and vice versa.
Maalt operates a transloading facility in Barnhart, Texas (the “Barnhart Facility”) that is
provided rail service by Texas Pacifico Transportation, Ltd. (“TXPF”). TXPF has track
that runs through the Permian Basin and interchanges (connects) to tracks owned by
other railroads including the Union Pacific and Fort Worth and Western Railroad
(“FWWR?”). The FWWR in turn interchanges with track owned by BNSF and the Kansas
City Southern Railway (“KCS”). Through those interchanges and railroads, goods can
be shipped into and out of the Permian Basin area by rail. The Barnhart Facility can
accept goods brought to it by truck or train from anywhere in the country, and then
transloaded to either truck or train for delivery either within the Permian Basin or other
areas throughout the country.

VI.

In approximately May, 2018, Sequitur contacted Maalt for the purpose of

discussing arrangements through which Maalt would transload Sequitur’s crude oil at

Maalt’'s Barnhart Facility because that facility was adjacent to land on which Sequitur

Plaintiff’s First Amended Original Petition Page 2

Removal Appendix 0097



Case 20-04064-elm Doc 1-1 Filed 09/04/20 Entered 09/04/20 10:53:27 Page 98 of 862

had producing oil wells. At the time, the pipelines leading from the Permian Basin to
various oil markets were at capacity and oil was in a state of oversupply. Because of
that situation, the price of crude oil at Midland was far less in early to mid-2018 than it
was for crude oil at the Gulf Coast. Sequitur believed that the spread in the prices made
the cost of transporting crude oil by rail attractive and created an opportunity to transport
crude oil from the Permian Basin to the Gulf Coast by train. Sequitur wanted to take
advantage of that opportunity which promised to provide it with significant returns.
VII.

Eventually, in August 2018, Maalt entered into a Terminal Services Agreement
(the “Contract”) with Sequitur to provide crude oil transloading services at the Barnhart
Facility for Sequitur. Pursuant to the Contract, Sequitur was to provide and install the
equipment needed to transload Sequitur's crude oil from trucks (and potentially a
pipeline) to rail cars, and Maalt was to provide the labor required for the transloading
process. The Contract granted Sequitur the exclusive right to have crude oil transloaded
at the Barnhart Facility to the exclusion of any other transloading operations, whether
crude oil, sand, or other goods. In exchange, Sequitur agreed to pay Maalt $1.50 per
barrel of crude oil transloaded with a minimum daily volume obligation of 11,424 barrels
on a monthly basis (for example, 342,720 barrels in a 30-day month). If Sequitur failed
to deliver the required volumes for transloading, it was obligated to pay Maalt a minimum
fee equal to the price per barrel times the minimum daily volume requirement times the
number of days in the month (for example, in the case of a 30 day month, $1.50 X 11,424

X 30 = $514,080.00).
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VIII.

Pursuant to the Contract, Sequitur constructed the Phase | Project improvements
at the Barnhart Facility consisting of equipment necessary to transload crude oil brought
to the Barnhart Facility by trucks onto railcars. While the completion of the improvements
was targeted for early September, 2018, those improvements were delayed and
ultimately completed and became operational on or about December 8, 2018. Under
the terms of the Contract, Sequitur’s obligations to pay Maalt the minimum payment
began once the improvements were complete.

IX.

By December, 2018, Sequitur had not procured the logistics necessary to have
railrars delivered to the Barnhart Facility for the purpose of carrying crude oil. Rather
than implement its own logistics to get crude oil and the necessary rail cars to the
Barnhart Facility, Sequitur looked for a company that already had logistical services in
place to serve as a joint venture partner. That way, Sequitur would not have to invest
the time or manpower necessary to learn the logistical requirements of transporting
crude oil by rail. It could simply rely on others to do that while enjoying the arbitrage;
that is, the economic value of selling its crude at the Gulf Coast for a higher price than it
could command in the Permian Basin. It was, however, unsuccessful in finding a
suitable joint venture partner with the result that it never had crude oil transloaded at the
Barnhart Facility. Despite the completion of the Phase 1 Project improvements, Sequitur
did not begin transloading crude oil as required by the Contract. Instead, realizing that
it did not have a joint venture partner who could provide the logistical services necessary
to move its crude oil from the Permian Basin to the Gulf Coast by rail, Sequitur declared

that a force majeure event occurred so it would not have to pay Maalt the minimum

Plaintiff’s First Amended Original Petition Page 4

Removal Appendix 0099



Case 20-04064-elm Doc 1-1 Filed 09/04/20 Entered 09/04/20 10:53:27 Page 100 of 862

payments required by the Contract. It has since refused to pay Maalt the minimum
transloading fees it is obligated to pay.
X.

On December 7, 2018, Sequitur sent Maalt a letter claiming that it was
experiencing a force majeure event because of the “unavailability, interruption, delay, or
curtailment of rail transportation services for the Product, despite continued efforts to
procure such services. . ..” At the time, there was no “interruption, delay, or curtailment
of rail transportation services.” Rather, Sequitur appears to contend that because it was
unable to procure an oil company who would be an acceptable joint venture partner that
could provide the necessary logistics services, or alternatively, rail transportation at a
low enough cost, rail transportation services were “unavailable.” Sequitur has persisted
in that contention even though it made no effort to develop the logistical services “in-
house”, made no effort to investigate or retain a third party logistics provider, and made
no effort to negotiate directly with the railroads or any supplier of rail cars to obtain the
cars and services necessary to move its crude by rail. On the other hand, there was at
least one company that was apparently willing and able to contract with Sequitur to move
Sequitur’s crude oil by rail to the Gulf Coast, but the cost would be prohibitive.

XI.

On February 8, 2019, Sequitur sent Maalt a letter claiming to terminate the
Contract pursuant to the force majeure provisions of the Contract. However, in reality
there was never a force majeure event as rail service to the Barnhart Facility was never
unavailable, interrupted, delayed or curtailed. Rather, Sequitur was apparently asserting
its force majeure claim as a pretext in an effort to terminate the Contract simply because

it was unable to find an oil buyer who was able to move crude oil by rail while providing

Plaintiff’s First Amended Original Petition Page 5
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the arbitrage benefit to Sequitur, and because it did not want to invest resources into
undertaking the logistics efforts itself.
XIl.

Sequitur’s conduct indicates that it absolutely and unconditionally refusing, and
continues to refuse, to perform the Contract. It has therefore repudiated the Contract,
and by doing so materially breached the Contract. Moreover, by sending its February 8,
2019 letter attempting to terminate the Contract, Sequitur has improperly attempted to
terminate the Contract in order to avoid its contractual obligations.

BREACH OF CONTRACT

XII.

Paragraphs IV through Xl are incorporated herein by reference. Sequitur's
repudiation of the Contract constitutes a material breach of the Contract. As a result and
as of the time of trial, Maalt has sustained and will sustain damages in the approximate
amount of $6.6 million, for which Maalt now sues.

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT

XIV.
Paragraphs V through XllI are incorporated herein by reference. Maalt seeks a
declaration pursuant to the Texas Declaratory Judgments Act, Texas Civil Practice &
Remedies Code, Chapter 37, of the following:

a. The Termination Operations Commencement Date under the Contract
occurred and the date of its occurrence;

b. The “force majeure event” alleged by Sequitur did not occur;

C. The date the payment obligations created by Article 3 of the Contract

began,;
d. Sequitur did not have a right to terminate the Contract;
Plaintiff’s First Amended Original Petition Page 6
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e. Sequitur repudiated and breached the Contract by refusing to perform its
obligations under the Contract.

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

XV.
All conditions precedent to Maalt’s right of recovery have occurred or been waived.

ATTORNEYS' FEES

XVI.

Pursuant to Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code Chapters 37 and 38 and the
terms of the Contract, Maalt is entitled to recover its reasonable and necessary attorneys’
fees and associated litigation and expert costs from Sequitur. Presentment of Maalt’s
claim was made within the time required by Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code
Chapter 38.

WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, Maalt, LP, Plaintiff, prays that

Defendant be cited to appear and answer herein, and that Plaintiff recover the following:

1. All damages to which it may be entitled;

2. Its reasonable and necessary attorney’s fees, litigation costs, and expert
costs;

3. Pre and post judgment interest allowed by law;

4. All costs of Court; and
5. Such other and further such other and further relief to which it may be
justly entitled.
Respectfully submitted,
[s/ James Lanter
James Lanter

State Bar No. 11940700
JAMES LANTER, PC

Plaintiff’s First Amended Original Petition Page 7
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560 N. Walnut Creek, Suite 120
Mansfield, Texas 76063

Phone: 817.453.4800

Fax: 817.453.4801
jim.lanter@lanter-law.com

Paul O. Wickes

State Bar No. 00788663
WICKES LAW, PLLC
5600 Tennyson Parkway
Suite 205

Plano, Texas 75024
(972) 473-6900

(972) 767-3225 FAX
pwickes@wickeslaw.com

Samuel S. Allen

State Bar No. 01057000
JACKSON WALKER LLP

135 W. Twohig Avenue
Suite C

San Angelo, Texas 76093
sallen@jw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the foregoing was served through

the Court's electronic filing service on the date of filing, upon:

HOOVER SLOVACEK LLP
Matthew A. Kornhauser

State Bar No. 11684500
Dylan B. Russell

State Bar No. 24041839
Galleria Tower Il

5051 Westheimer, Suite 1200
Houston, Texas 77056
Telephone: 713-977-8686
Facsimile: 713-977-5395
kornhauser@hooverslovacek.com
russell@hooverslovacek.com
GOSSETT, HARRISON,

Plaintiff’s First Amended Original Petition

Page 8
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MILLICAN & STIPANOVIC, P.C.
Paul D. Stipanovic

State Bar No. 00795669

2 S. Koenigheim Street

San Angelo, Texas 76903
Telephone: 325-653-3291
Facsimile: 325-655-6838

/s/ James Lanter

Plaintiff’s First Amended Original Petition Page 9
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Shirley Graham-Miles

District Clerk
Irion County, Texas

Ashley Masters

No. 19-003
MAALT, LP § IN THE DISTRICT COURT
Plaintiff, §
vs. § IRION COUNTY, TEXAS
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC §
Defendant. § 51ST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

FIRST AMENDED ANSWER TO COUNTERCLAIMS

Plaintiff, Maalt, LP (“Maalt”), files this First Amended Answer to Counterclaims, and
shows the Court:
I
GENERAL DENIAL
Maalt enters a general denial of the allegations and claims asserted against it in
Defendant’s Second Amended Counterclaims.
Il.
AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES
1. Prior Breach. The Defendant breached the Terminal Services Agreement (“TSA”)
at issue first, thus excusing any further performance or subsequent breach by
Maalt.
2. Contract Precludes Claim of Promissory Estoppel. Defendant's claims fail
because Defendant complains about a matter that involved a transaction governed
by the terms of an express contract.

3. Statute of Frauds. Defendant’s claims are barred by the statute of frauds.

FIRST AMENDED ANSWER TO COUNTERCLAIM 1
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4, Failure to Mitigate. Defendant's claims fail in whole or in part because it failed to
reasonably mitigate its damages.

5. Defendant’s responsibility for its alleged damages. The acts and omissions of
the Defendant caused or contributed to the damages it alleges. Maalt is entitled to
a determination of the proportionate responsibility of the parties pursuant to Texas
Civil Practice & Remedies Code Chapter 33.

6. Contributory Negligence. Defendant was negligent and its own negligence was
the proximate cause of the damages it alleges.

M.

RULE 193.7 NOTICE

Maalt gives notice pursuant to Rule 193.7 of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure
that any documents produced by Defendant in response to written discovery may be used
by Maalt as evidence in pre-trial matters and the trial of this case.

PRAYER

For the reasons stated above, Maalt prays that it be awarded judgment against
Defendant that it take nothing by its counterclaims, and that Maalt have such further relief
to which it is entitled.

Respectfully submitted,

By:_ /s/ James Lanter

James Lanter

State Bar No. 11940700
JAMES LANTER, P.C.

560 N. Walnut Creek, Ste. 120
Mansfield, Texas 76063

(817) 453-4800

(817) 453-4801 FAX
jim.lanter@lanter-law.com

FIRST AMENDED ANSWER TO COUNTERCLAIM 2
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Paul O. Wickes

State Bar No. 00788663

WICKES LAW PLLC

5600 Tennyson Parkway, Ste. 205
Plano, Texas 75024

(972) 473-6900

(972) 767-3225 FAX
pwickes@wickeslaw.com

Samuel S. Allen

State Bar No. 01057000
JACKSON WALKER LLP

135 W. Twohig Avenue
Suite C

San Angelo, Texas 76093
sallen@jw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
MAALT, LP

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the foregoing was served through

the Court's electronic filing service on the date of filing, upon:

HOOVER SLOVACEK LLP
Matthew A. Kornhauser

State Bar No. 11684500
Dylan B. Russell

State Bar No. 24041839
Galleria Tower I

5051 Westheimer, Suite 1200
Houston, Texas 77056
Telephone: 713-977-8686
Facsimile: 713-977-5395
kornhauser@hooverslovacek.com
russell@hooverslovacek.com

GOSSETT, HARRISON,
MILLICAN & STIPANOVIC, P.C.
Paul D. Stipanovic

State Bar No. 00795669

2 S. Koenigheim Street

FIRST AMENDED ANSWER TO COUNTERCLAIM 3
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San Angelo, Texas 76903
Telephone: 325-653-3291
Facsimile: 325-655-6838

/s/ James Lanter

FIRST AMENDED ANSWER TO COUNTERCLAIM 4

Removal Appendix 0108



Case 20-04064-elm Doc 1-1 Filed 09/04/20 Entered 09/04/20 10:53:27 Page 109 dfg65R/2020 12:42 PM
Shirley Graham-Miles

District Clerk
Irion County, Texas

Ashley Masters

No. 19-003
MAALT, LP IN THE DISTRICT COURT
Plaintiff,
VS.
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC
IRION COUNTY, TEXAS
Defendant,

VS.

VISTA PROPPANTS AND
LOGISTICS INC.

N DD U DN UDN DN DN DD O LD O LD O U WD LD

Third Party Defendant. 51ST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

FIRST AMENDED ANSWER TO THIRD PARTY CLAIMS

Third Party Defendant, Vista Proppants and Logistics, Inc. ("Vista") files this First
Amended Answer to Third Party Claims, and shows the Court:
.
GENERAL DENIAL

Vista enters a general denial of the allegations and claims asserted against it in
Defendant’s First Amended Third Party Claims.
Il
AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES
1. Contract Precludes Claim of Promissory Estoppel. Defendant's claims fail
because Defendant complains about a matter that involved a transaction governed
by the terms of an express contract between Maalt, LP and Defendant.

2, Statute of Frauds. Defendant’s claims are barred by the statute of frauds.
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3. Failure to Mitigate. Defendant's claims fail in whole or in part because it failed to
reasonably mitigate its damages.

4. Not Liable in the Capacity Sued. Vista has no employees, and has not engaged
in any discussions, negotiations or other communications with Defendant.
Therefore, Vista is not liable in the capacity sued and is not a proper party.

5. Defendant’s responsibility for its alleged damages. The acts and omissions of
the Defendant caused or contributed to the damages it alleges. Vista is entitled to
a determination of the proportionate responsibility of the parties pursuant to Texas
Civil Practice & Remedies Code Chapter 33.

6. Contributory Negligence. Defendant was negligent and its own negligence was
the proximate cause of the damages it alleges.

M.
RULE 193.7 NOTICE
Vista gives notice pursuant to Rule 193.7 of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure
that any documents produced by Defendant in response to written discovery may be used
by Vista as evidence in pre-trial matters and the trial of this case.

PRAYER

For the reasons stated above, Vista prays that it be awarded judgment against
Defendant that it take nothing by its third party claims, and that Vista have such further

relief to which it is entitled.

FIRST AMENDED ANSWER TO THIRD PARTY CLAIMS 2
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Respectfully submitted,

By._/s/ James Lanter

James Lanter

State Bar No. 11940700
JAMES LANTER, P.C.

560 N. Walnut Creek, Ste. 120
Mansfield, Texas 76063

(817) 453-4800

(817) 453-4801 FAX
jim.lanter@lanter-law.com

Paul O. Wickes

State Bar No. 00788663

WICKES LAW, PLLC

5600 Tennyson Parkway, Ste. 205
Plano, Texas 75024

(972) 473-6900

(972) 767-3225 FAX
pwickes@wickeslaw.com

Samuel S. Allen

State Bar No. 01057000
JACKSON WALKER LLP

135 W. Twohig Avenue
Suite C

San Angelo, Texas 76093
sallen@jw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR
THIRD PARTY DEFENDANT
VISTA PROPPANTS AND LOGISTICS INC.

FIRST AMENDED ANSWER TO THIRD PARTY CLAIMS 3
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the foregoing was served through

the Court's electronic filing service on the date of filing, upon:

HOOVER SLOVACEK LLP
Matthew A. Kornhauser

State Bar No. 11684500
Dylan B. Russell

State Bar No. 24041839
Galleria Tower Il

5051 Westheimer, Suite 1200
Houston, Texas 77056
Telephone: 713-977-8686
Facsimile: 713-977-5395
kornhauser@hooverslovacek.com
russell@hooverslovacek.com

GOSSETT, HARRISON,
MILLICAN & STIPANOVIC, P.C.
Paul D. Stipanovic

State Bar No. 00795669

2 S. Koenigheim Street

San Angelo, Texas 76903
Telephone: 325-653-3291
Facsimile: 325-655-6838

/s/ James Lanter

FIRST AMENDED ANSWER TO THIRD PARTY CLAIMS 4
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STATE OF TEXAS §
§
COUNTY OF TARRANT §

Declaration Pursuant to Texas Civil Practice & Remedies Code § 132.001

My name is Kristin Whitley, my date of birth is Sph\‘(/h&f?{/i/ 7 | :
19 sb and my address is 4413 Carey, Fort Worth, Texas 76119, United States of
America. | declare under penalty of perjury that the statements made in Section 1.4 are

true and correct.

Executed in Fort Worth, Tarrant County, Texas, on the 9’ day of January,

2020.
érslstin: Whitley i d’ B

DECLARATION OF JAMES LANTER PAGE1
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District Clerk
Irion County, Texas

Ashley Masters
No. 19-003

MAALT, LP IN THE DISTRICT COURT
Plaintiff,

VvS.

SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC

IRION COUNTY, TEXAS

Defendant,

VS.

VISTA PROPPANTS AND
LOGISTICS INC.

51T JUDICIAL DISTRICT

L L L LT LD LD LT L L LD L LD ST L L L

Third Party Defendant.

PLAINTIFF MAALT L.P. AND THIRD PARTY DEFENDANT
VISTA PROPPANTS AND LOGISTICS INC.'S
PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Plaintiff, Maalt L.P. ("Maalt"), and Third Party Defendant, Vista Proppants and Logistics,
Inc. ("VPL"), move for partial summary judgment on Defendant's promissory estoppel and
conversion counterclaims pursuant to Rule 166a and 166a(i) of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure
as follows:

INTRODUCTION

Maalt owns and operates a rail transloading facility that serves the energy industry in
Barnhart, Texas (the "Barnhart Facility"). In 2018, Sequitur approached Maalt for the purpose of
entering into a transloading agreement to transload Sequitur's crude oil onto railcars for shipment
to the Gulf Coast. Sequitur's purpose was to take advantage of the crude oil price spread between
the Midland market and the Gulf Coast market. On or about June 1, 2018, Maalt and Sequitur

entered into a letter of intent, and ultimately a Terminal Services Agreement (the "Contract")
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pursuant to which Maalt would exclusively transload Sequitur's crude oil at a price of $1.50 per
barrel. The Contract required Sequitur to throughput a minimum of 11,424 barrels per day through
the Barnhart Facility or pay Maalt a minimum fee equal to $17,136.00 per day. Sequitur never
throughput any crude oil through the Barnhart Facility and never paid Maalt the minimum
payments required by the Contract.

Maalt sued Sequitur for breach of the Contract. Sequitur breached the contract by failing
to throughput the crude oil needed to meet the minimum daily volume obligation under the
Contract and did not pay the minimum compensation due to Maalt. Instead, Sequitur claimed that
rail cars and rail service were completely unavailable at any price at the Barnhart Facility and that
constituted a force majeure event under the Contract. In response to this suit, Sequitur also asserted
a promissory estoppel and conversion counterclaims which are the subject of this motion.

Sequitur's promissory estoppel claim is based on the allegation that Maalt made "promises"
regarding the availability in the market of rail cars and rail transportation needed for Sequitur to
throughput crude oil at the Barnhart Facility. This claim fails as a matter of law because (i) there
was no sufficiently specific promise made that was not a mere expression of opinion about future
events, and (ii) Sequitur's reliance on any such promise was not reasonable given its sophistication
and the two-month period it had to conduct due diligence prior to entering into the Contract.

Sequitur asserts a conversion claim alleging that Maalt wrongful withheld its transloading
equipment for a period of one month. This claim fails as a matter of law because Sequitur can
show no damage arising from the one month hold of its equipment after it wrongfully attempted

to terminate the Contract.

MAALT AND VPL 'S MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT PAGE 2

Removal Appendix 0115



Case 20-04064-elm Doc 1-1 Filed 09/04/20 Entered 09/04/20 10:53:27 Page 116 of 862

SUMMARY JUDGMENT EVIDENCE

Maalt and VPL support this motion with the following evidence that is attached hereto and

incorporated for all purposes:

Exhibit 1:

Exhibit 2:

Exhibit 3:

Exhibit 4:

Exhibit 5:

Excerpts from the Deposition of Braden Merrill ("Merrill Depo"). Merrill
is Sequitur's Vice President and Chief Financial Officer.!

Excerpts from the Deposition of Tony Wroten ("Wroten Depo"). Wroten is
Senior Financial Associate for Sequitur that reports to Merrill.?

Excerpts from the Deposition of Mike Van Den Bold ("Van Den Bold
Depo"). Van Den Bold is Sequitur's, founding partner, President and Chief
Operations Officer.3

Letter of Intent dated June 1, 2018 (Deposition Ex. 6).

Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff's First Amended Response to Request for
Disclosure dated June 6, 2019.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Facts Related to Promissory Estoppel Claim.

1. Maalt and Sequitur entered into a Terminal Services Agreement (the "Contract")

on August 6, 2018. See Sequitur's Second Amended Counterclaim and Original Third Party

Claims ("Sequitur's Counterclaims") at |18.

! Merrill Depo. pp. 7:22-25.
2 Wroten Depo. pp. 7:19 — 8:7.
3 Van Den Bold Depo. pp. 4:14 — 5:12

MAALT AND VPL 'S MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT PAGE 3
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2. Prior to that signing, Sequitur claims that Chris Favors and Jon Ince made promises
on behalf of Maalt and VPL#* that rail cars and transportation services would be available to
Sequitur at favorable rates.

3. Maalt was first introduced to Sequitur in May 2018 when Sequitur approached
Maalt seeking to transload crude from a pipeline or trucks to rail cars through Maalt's Barnhart
facility. Sequitur's Counterclaims at | 3-4.

4. Sequitur relies on this may 2018 email from Jon Ince as the primary basis for its
promissory estoppel claim, arguing that Maalt promised Sequitur that it could obtain railcars at a

"really good rate":

On May 9, 2018, at 7:22 PM, Jon Ince <jince@yprop.com> wrote:

Braden/Tony,

It was great talking with you and | look forward to our talks progressing on shipping
crude out of basin. Fesl free to reach out to me if you need any help on fleet sizing
or routing and | will do what | can step you through that process. VProp works on
the belief that we succeed when our partners succeed. | will get you the info |
promised to you in the coming days.

Let me introduce Jonas Struthers, the railcar guy | mentioned to you on our call. He
has been a great partner for me in the past with our sand cars and I'm sure he will
be able to get you cars that you need for your fleet. I'm sure he can get you cars
that you need at a really good rate, he's done amazing work for me in the past.
Jonas will be more in the know on regulations and exact timing on when 1232s are
phased out for the 117s,

Regards,
Jon

* VPL disputes that Messrs. Favors and Ince were employed by it or were otherwise acting on VPL's
behalf, but that issue is not presented in this motion.

MAALT AND VPL 'S MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT PAGE 4
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5. On June 1, 2018, Sequitur entered into a Letter of Intent with Vista Proppants and
Logistics, LLC> where the parties agreed to enter into a period of exclusive negotiations for the
proposed transloading of crude to rail cars at the Barnhart Facility.

6. When it entered into the Letter of Intent, Sequitur agreed (i) that it intended to do
its own due diligence to determine the viability of entering into a transload agreement for shipping

crude by rail and (ii) that it was not relying upon any oral agreements by Maalt or Vista:

6. Due Diligence. Following the execution of this letter until the end of the LOI Term, the Parties
and their designated representatives will conduct due diligence reviews to anelyze the feasibility of
the contemplated Transaction, which reviews have not yet been conducted and completed.

8. No Ora] Agreements. Subject to the foregoing, this Jetter (and the Term Sheet) sets out the Parties’
understanding as of this date, there are no other written or oral agreements or understandings among
the Parties.

7. From the date of signing the Letter of Intent, June 1, 2018, until the effective date
of the Contract, August 6, 2018, Sequitur had the opportunity to perform due diligence into the
feasibility of the transaction that it promised to perform in the Letter of Intent.

Facts Related to Conversion Claim.

8. After Sequitur attempted to terminate the Contract due to the purported force
majeure, Sequitur demanded that it be allowed to recover its equipment and facilities installed at
the Barnhart facility for the transloading. The equipment had been moved from Barnhart to Maalt's

Big Lake transload facility, where it could be maintained securely.

> Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC is a parent company under which Maalt is a downstream
subsidiary. While it signed the letter of intent prepared by Sequitur, Maalt was to be the contracting party
as it owned and operated the Barnhart Facility. VPL, the entity sued, does not employ any of the employees
mentioned in Sequitur's Counterclaims.

MAALT AND VPL 'S MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT PAGE S
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9. Sequitur demanded access to the equipment by February 25,2019. Although Maalt
initially object to returning the equipment given Sequitur's debt to Maalt that is the subject of this
lawsuit, by letter dated March 25, 2019, Maalt agreed to allow Sequitur to recover the equipment.

10. Sequitur recovered its equipment shortly thereafter.

11.  Despite being denied access to the equipment for a period of only one month,
Sequitur's pleadings (after two amendments) maintain the allegation that Maalt "stole and
misappropriated" equipment and Sequitur has continued to be denied access to the property it
recovered roughly one year ago. Further, by its own admission, Sequitur has not suffered any

financial loss as a result of the equipment being in Maalt's possession for that one-month period

of time.
ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES
I Promissory Estoppel Claim
A. Texas Law on a Promissory Estoppel Claim.

Promissory estoppel is an equitable doctrine that ordinarily is used defensively to prevent
"a party from insisting upon [its] strict legal rights when it would be unjust to allow [it] to enforce
them." Wheeler v. White, 398 S.W.2d 93, 96 (Tex. 1985). To establish its promissory estoppel
claim, Sequitur must prove that (i) Maalt made a promise to Sequitur, (i) Sequitur reasonably and
substantially relied on the promise to its detriment, (iii) Sequitur's reliance was foreseeable by
Maalt, (iv) injustice can be avoided only by enforcing the promise. Henry Schein, Inc. v. Stromboe,
102 S.W.3d, 675, 686 n.25 (Tex. 2002); Comiskey v. FH Partners, LLC, 373 S.W.3d 620, 635

(Tex. App.—Houston [14th Dist.], pet. denied 2012).

MAALT AND VPL 'S MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT PAGE 6

Removal Appendix 0119



Case 20-04064-elm Doc 1-1 Filed 09/04/20 Entered 09/04/20 10:53:27 Page 120 of 862

To support a finding of promissory estoppel, the asserted "promise" must be sufficiently
specific and definite that it would be reasonable and justified for the promisee to rely upon it as a
commitment to future action. See Comiskey, 373 S.W.3d at 635; Alpha Vista, Inc. v. Holt, 987
S.W.2d 138, 141-42 (Tex. App.—Houston [14th Dist.] 1999, pet. denied). The "promise" also
must be more than mere speculation concerning future events, a statement of hope, or an
expression of opinion, expectation, or assumption. Id.; Esty v. Beal Bank S.S.B., 298 S.W.3d 280,
305 (Tex. App.—Dallas 2009, no pet.). If an alleged promise is part of a valid contract, the
promisee cannot disregard the contract and sue for reliance damages under the doctrine of
promissory estoppel. Stable Energy L.P. v. Kachina Oil & Gas, Inc., 52 S.W.3d 327, (Tex. App.—
Austin 2001, no pet.); Guaranty Bank v. Lone Star Life Ins. Co., 568 S.W.2d 431, 434 (Tex. Civ.
App.—Dallas 1978, writ ref'd n.r.e.); Lindale Auto Supply v. Ford Motor Co., 1998 Tex. App.
LEXIS 1564, at *28 (Tex. App.—Houston [14" Dist.] Mar. 12, 1998).

B. The Promissory Estoppel Claim Fails as a Matter of Law as There Was No
Enforceable Promise.

Sequitur's promissory estoppel claim fails as a matter of law because there was no specific
and definite promise or anything more than mere speculation about future events, statements of
hope, or expressions of expectation. Sequitur claims that Maalt made promises to Sequitur that
"trains and railcars would be available, including at a reasonable price, at the right time, and for
the right term." However, that is not a promise that Maalt would do anything, and Sequitur cannot
point to any specific and definite promise that it relied upon. Instead, can cite only to (i)
representations that Maalt would offer help with contacts in the rail industry and (ii) statements by

Maalt that it believed Sequitur could obtain rail cars and rail transportation.
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Sequitur provides very limited specifics when pressed to explain the promise(s) that
support its estoppel claim. For one, Sequitur cites to an email where Maalt introduced Sequitur to
Jonas Struthers and indicated that Struthers had successfully obtained railcars for Vista in the past.
However, Sequitur's Braden Merrill conceded at this deposition that there was no promise that
Struthers could acquire rail cars for Sequitur.® Even when questioned by his own counsel at the
end of his deposition, Merrill confirmed that while Maalt attempted to help Sequitur, no promises
to obtain rail cars or rail service were made:

Q. Did Mr. Ince or Mr. Favors promise or represent to Sequitur that trains and
rail cars would be available?

Q. To your knowledge?
Yes.

Okay. What do you recall specifically, as best you can, being told by Mr.
Favors and Mr. Ince in that regards?

A. I remember with rail cars — this is just in regards to rail cars?
Yes, sir.
A. That he represented that he could help us find railcars or put us in contact

with people who could find railcars.
Q. Did you tell you that trains and railcars were available?

He said it would be difficult thing to do, but that we could — but that we
could do it.

Q. Okay. Did he tell you from whom that trains or railcars would be available?

% Merrill Depo. at 107:01 — 108:17.
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A.

I don't know that he specifically specified whom, but he did tell us in an e-
mail, I believe, that — that Jonas Struthers would be able to help us out.”

Moreover, Merrill could not point to any promise made by Maalt or Vista that was not kept:

S S

>

I SRS

[D]uring your conversations with Jon Ince and Chris Favors?
Uh-huh (positive response), yes.

Did they ever make any promises to you that they did not keep?
I am not sure.

You are not aware of any as you sit here today?

I'm — I'm — I'm trying to think of any. I can't think of any off the top of my
head right now.

Okay. You can't think of any examples of anything they promised to do and
did not do, correct?

Individually?
Individually or together?
I can't remember any off the top of my head right now.

And if there was a promise made, you would know about that, wouldn't
you?

Most likely unless they made it to someone else.

If some — if something was like was said to somebody else your other people
would have told you wouldn't they?

Most likely, yes.8

" Merrill Depo. at 246:07 — 247:06.
¥ Merrill Depo. at 17:18 — 18:16.
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Sequitur's other witnesses that communicated directly with Maalt and Vista confirmed that

no promises were made to secure rail cars or rail service. Instead, Maalt and Vista merely provided

helpful contacts for rail cars and rail service and offered its opinion on the availability of rail cars

and rail transportation in the future. Tony Wroten testified:

Q.

I S

>

Did Jon or anyone else with Vista or Maalt ever promise to acquire rail cars
for you?

To acquire them for us?
Right. To actually go out and get them and say here they, this is the price?
I -1 don't recall that ever being a promise.

Okay. Did they ever promise that they could go and get you a specific rate
or any type of routes on the — the railroads?

They had made, you know, representations that they could assist in that
regard.

And I suspect they probably also gave you their assessment of what was
available in the market?

Absolutely, yeah.

Okay. But they never — I guess they never took on the role as agent to
Sequitur to we are going to go and get this for you? Is that fair?

You mean, like contractually?

Yes.

I — I am not aware of a contract stating that — they were going to be our
agent.’

? Wroten Depo. at 19:25 —21:02.

MAALT AND VPL 'S MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT
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Mike Van Den Bold, Sequitur's President and Chief Operating Officer likewise was unable
to point to any specific and definite promise:

Q. Okay. Did they promise to do anything other than help?

A. The — the — I mean, the promises they made is that they — they were experts and
know the business, the rail by — sand by rail, and had the relationships. And —yeah
the would help get us — get this venture off the ground.!?

Further, Van Den Bold testified:

Q. Okay. And during the — all the way up until the notice of force majeure, did
personnel with Maalt and Vista provide assistance when they could on leads for rail
cars, rail transportation, contacts within the railroad industry, that type of thing?

A. They made phone calls and introductions to assist.

Q. Okay. Is there anything during the period from after the terminal services
agreement to the notice of force majeure that Sequitur specifically asked Maalt or
Vista to do that it did not do?

A. Nothing comes to mind at this point.!!

To support a promissory estoppel claim, there must be evidence a sufficiently specific
promise and not a mere expression of opinion regarding future events. For instance, in Landmark
Org., L.P.v. Tremco Inc.,2010 Tex. App. LEXIS 5052, at *22 (Tex. App.—Austin June 30, 2010),
the court held as a matter of law that a manufacturer's representation that he saw no problems that
would prevent issuance of a warranty (i.e., "After walking the job site again on January 15, 2002,

and reviewing the necessary details for this job, I see no issues that would affect the warranty that

Tremco will issue upon completion of the installation.") were merely expression of opinion or an

19%an Den Bold Depo. at 11:1-7.
"Van Den Bold Depo. at 15:13-24.
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expectation. It was not sufficiently specific to support a claim for promissory estoppel. Id. In
Allied Vista, Inc. v. Holt, 987 S.W.2d 138, 142 (Tex. App.—Houston [14th Dist.] 1999), the court
held as a matter of law that a promise to provide "whatever equipment" the plaintiff needed to start
arecycling plant was not sufficiently definite as there was no promise to provide any specific items
of equipment. Here, Sequitur reliance on Maalt's purported promise to help with contact and its
belief or expectation that Sequitur could acquire rail service is not sufficiently definite to support
its claim for promissory estoppel as a matter of law.

C. The Promissory Estoppel Claim Fails as There Was No Reasonable Reliance.

Sequitur's promissory estoppel claim also fails as a matter of law because there is no
evidence that Sequitur's reliance on the purported promise(s) was reasonable. Specifically, at the
time Sequitur signed the Letter of Intent, June 1, 2018, it agreed that (i) there were no oral
agreements between the parties and (ii) Sequitur needed to perform and would perform due
diligence "to analyze the feasibility of the contemplated Transaction." Sequitur admits that it is a

sophisticated contracting party capable of conducting its own due diligence:

Q. And your company has in-house lawyers, right?
A. That's correct.
Q. And what's your — what's your education?
A. I've got a finance degree and an MBA.
Q. Okay. So you have people who are highly educated people, right?
A. Yes.
Q. You are used to doing due diligence?
A. Yes.
MAALT AND VPL 'S MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT PAGE 12
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Q. You are used to making your decisions based on your own due diligence
and research, aren't you?

A. We are.

skeksk

Q. Earlier in your deposition I asked you about roughly 10 to 15 railcar
manufacturers and leasing companies and you said you didn't call [sic] a
single one of them; isn't that true?

A. That is true.
Q. But you certainly could have couldn't you?
A. I could have called them, yes.1?

Sequitur acknowledged a need to conduct due diligence to analyze the transaction's
feasibility and had two months to conduct its research. "A party to an arm's length transaction
must exercise reasonable diligence in protecting his own interests, and a failure to do so is not
excused by mere confidence in the honesty and integrity of the other party." Comiskey, 373 S.W3d
at 635; Ortiz v. Collins, 203 S.W.3d 414, 422 (Tex. App.—Houston [14" Dist.] 2006, no pet.)
(holding that promissory estoppel claim failed as a matter of law where sophisticated party did not
act with reasonable diligence in protecting its interests in an arm's length transaction). Given that
Sequitur had two months to perform its own research, it could not have reasonably relied on Maalt's
promise to assist with industry contacts and its generic projections about the availability of rail
cars and rail service in the future.

In Allied Vista, Inc. v. Holt, 987 S.W.2d 138 (Tex.App.-Houston [14" Dist.] 1999, pet.

denied), the court reversed a jury verdict awarding damages for promissory estoppel because there

12 Merrill Depo. at 248:17 — 249:22.
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was no reasonable or justifiable reliance on the claimed promises. In that case, the plaintiff (Holt)
sued claiming that the defendant did not honor its promises to provide his new business the
equipment necessary to start a recycling plant. The defendant's president testified that he offered
the plaintiff any surplus equipment his company might have, but no specific items of equipment
were ever discussed. The defendant offered to supply a conveyor and baler, but the plaintiff
contended that that was not sufficient to start the business. The plaintiff conceded he never
provided the defendant with a list of needed equipment, but simply presumed the defendant would
know what was needed. The appellate court found that a promise to supply surplus equipment
was too vague to support detrimental reliance stating that, "We conclude that, in the absence of a
definite promise of specific items of equipment, Holt's reliance was not reasonable or justified as
a matter of law." Id. at 142.

In this case, the purported promises that Maalt would help it get rail cars and rail service
are not specific or definite. They cannot be relied upon as a promise, and as a matter of law
Sequitur's alleged reliance was neither reasonable or justified.

II. Conversion Claim.

To establish a claim for conversion, Sequitur must prove that it suffered injury from the
alleged conversion. United Mobile Networks, L.P. v. Deaton, 939 S.W.2d 146, 147 (Tex. 1997).
Here, Sequitur's conversion claim grows out of an alleged unlawful holding of its transload
equipment for a period of one month. Sequitur's president testified that Sequitur did not find any

damage to the property after Maalt returned it.13 He further testified that Sequitur did not lose any

'3 Van Den Bold Depo. at 64:24 — 66:16.
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business opportunities because the property was held by Maalt for the one-month period.1*
Sequitur's vice president testified that he was aware of anyone interested in purchasing the
equipment and did not have any other place they could use it before they picked it up from Maalt.!>
In addition, Sequitur has not disclosed any conversion damages since it last responded to Maalt's
request for disclosures on June 6, 2019.

Sequitur's conversion claim fails because there is no evidence that it suffered any material
damage, and the testimony of Sequitur's officers disproves the essential element of damages as a
matter of law. !¢

PRAYER

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Maalt, L.P., and Third Party Defendant, Vista Proppants and

Logistics, Inc., pray that this motion for partial summary judgment be granted and that the Court

award all other relief to which they are entitled.

“d.
15 Merrill Depo. at 240:13 — 241:20.

1®An adequate time for discovery has passed especially as it pertains to Sequitur's knowledge of and
ability to determine whether it sustained any damage or not. Maalt's first written discovery was served on
Sequitur on March 27, 2019; thus, discovery has been ongoing for almost a year.
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CAUSE NO. 19-003

MAALT, LP, § IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF
§
Plaintiff, §
§
VsS. § IRION COUNTY, TEXAS
§
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, §
§
Defendant. § 51st JUDICIAL DISTRICT

ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF
BRADEN MERRILL
November 19, 2019

Volume 1

ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF BRADEN MERRILL,
produced as a witness at the instance of the Plaintiff
and duly sworn, was taken in the above-styled and
numbered cause on the 19th day of November, 2019, from
9:32 a.m. to 5:25 p.m., before Patricia Palmer, CSR, in
and for the State of Texas, reported by machine
shorthand, at the offices of Mr. Matthew A. Kornhauser,
Hoover Slovacek LLP, 5051 Westheimer Road, Suite 1200,
Houston, Texas 77056, pursuant to the Texas Rules of
Civil Procedure and the provisions stated on the record

herein.
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A PPEARANCES

FOR THE PLAINTIFF:

Mr. James Lanter

JAMES LANTER, P.C.

560 North Walnut Creek, Suite 120
Mansfield, Texas 76063
817.453.4800
Jim.lanter@lanter-law.com

FOR THE PLAINTIFF:

Mr. Paul O. Wickes

WICKES LAW, PLLC

5600 Tennyson Parkway, Suite 205
Plano, Texas 75024

972.473.6900
Pwickese@wickeslaw.com

FOR DEFENDANT: Sequitur Permian, LLC

Mr. Matthew A. Kornhauser

Mr. Christopher J. Kronzer
HOOVER SLOVACEK, LLP

5051 Westheimer Road, Suite 1200
Houston, Texas 77056
713.977.8686
Kornhauser@hooverslovacek.com
Kronzer@hooverslovacek.com

ALSO PRESENT:
Mr. Daniel Alpizar, Videographer
Mr. Christopher Favors, Corporate Representative of
Sequitur Permian, LLC
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THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Today's date is
November 19th, 2019. This is the videc deposition of
Braden Merrill. The time is 9:32. We are on the
record.

The court reporter may now swear in the
witness.

THE REPORTER: Are there any stipulations?

MR. KORNHAUSER: We are -- we are
proceeding by agreement and by notice.

MR. LANTER: And by notice, vyeah.

MR. KORNHAUSER: Yeah. We would like to
have the opportunity toc read and sign, please.

MR. LANTER: Sure.

BRADEN MERRILL,
having been first duly sworn, testified as follows:
EXAMINATION

BY MR. LANTER:
Good morning.
Good morning.

Would you state your name, please.

g ©» 0

It's Braden Merrill.

Q. Okay. And what is your position with Sequitur
Permian?

A. I am vice president and senior -- I am vice

president and chief financial officer.
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Q. All right. When all of this first started in
early to mid 2018, you were the one who reached out to
Blake DeNoyer, weren't you?

A, Yes, I was.

Q. Okay. And you made the initial contact with
his company or with Maalt Service entities about running
transloading services, right?

A. T did.

Q. Okay. &and after your initial conversation with
Blake DeNoyer -- or was it an e-mail or conversation?

A. I don't remember.

Q. Okay. After that first communication, did you
have anymore discussions or communications with -- with
Mr. DeNoyer?

A. No, I -- after -- after talking with him about
using the facility we -- he set me in touch with Jon
fairly quickly and then Chris fairly gquickly after that.

Q. Okay. Now, I want to ask you this up front and
we will talk about it some more potentially. But during
your conversations with Jon Ince and Chris Favors?

A. Uh-huh (positive response), ves.

Q. Did they ever make any promises to you that
they did not keep?

A. I am not sure.

Q. You are not aware of any as you sit here today?
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A. I'm -- I'm -- I'm trying to think of any. I
can't think of any off he top of my head right now.

Q. Okay. You can't think of any examples of
anything they promised to do and did not do, correct?

A. Individually?

Q. Individually or together?

A. I can't remember any off the top of my head
right now,

Q. Okay. And if there was such a promise made,
you would know about that, wouldn't you?

A. Most likely unless they made it to someone
else.

Q. Okay. If some -- if something was like was
said to somebody else your other people would have told
you wouldn't they?

A. Most likely, ves.
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1

2 MR. LANTER: Here is Exhibit 36.

3 (Exhibit 36 marked.)

4 THE WITNESS: All right. Thank you.

5 Q. It looks like this is your first introduction

6 to Jonas Struthers; does that look right?

7 A. Tt looks like it.

8 Q. Okay. And if you look at Page 2.

9 A. Okay.

10 Q. On May 9th we have what appears to be the

11 introductory e-mail by Jon Ince where he is telling you

12 about Jonas Struthers, right?

13 A. That's correct.

14 MR. LANTER: Excuse me.

15 Q. Now, on the second paragraph he says, "Let me
16 introduce Jonas Struthers, the railcar guy I mentioned
17 to you on our call." He said, "He has been a great

18 partner for me in the past with our sand cars."

19 MR. LANTER: I'm sorry.

20 Q. "And I am sure he will be able to get you the
21 cars that you need for your fleet. TI'm sure he can get
22 you cars that you need at a really good rate. He has
23 done amazing work for me in the past."

24 Did you understand that Mr. Ince was just
25 simply telling you about his experiences with Jonas
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1 Struthers?

2 MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection form.

3 A. I understood that he said that Jonas could get
4 us cars if we needed it.

5 Q. Uh-huh (positive response). And there 1is

6 nothing in this e-mail that promises you that Jon would

7 be able to get Jonas tc do that, is there?

8 A. It says, "I am sure he will be able to get you
9 cars that you need for your fleet."
10 Q. But it doesn't say that he promises that he

11 will be able to do so, does it?

12 MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection form.
13 A. He never articulates the word promise.
14 Q. Uh-huh (positive response). And then once you

15 had the introduction then you had your direct
16 communications with Mr. Struthers, correct?
17 A. Yes.

18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25
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Q. There was a complaint made in this lawsuit that
Maalt did not allow you to pick up the transloaders when
you wanted to. During the time that Maalt had
possession of the transloaders after you attempted to
terminate the contract, did you have any other use for

those machines?

A. At that time?

Q. Yes.

A. No.

Q. Okay. Since then, what have you done with
them?

A. We have been looking for somebody to buy them.

Q. All right. So they are just sitting in
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storage?

A. I don't know where they are.

Q. When you received them back from Maalt, was
there any damage to them?

A. I am not aware.

Q. Okay. Do you know who would have that
information?

A. Mike Van den Bold would know. If he wouldn't
know then he would know who would know.

Q. OCkay. Your company has not suffered any kind
of loss as a result of the delay in getting the
transloading machines back, has it?

A. The only loss that I would be aware of is any
loss that we had by not being able to sell at that --
during that time frame.

Q. Did you have any buyers during that time frame?

A. I am not aware.

Q. ©Okay. You didn't have any place else you could
use them, did you?

A. No.
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Q. Did Mr. Ince or did Mr. Favors promise or
represent to Sequitur that trains and railcars would be
available?

MR. LANTER: Objection, form.

Q. To your knowledge?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. What do you recall specifically, as best
you can, being told by Mr. Favors and Mr. Ince in that
regards?

A. I remember with railcars -- this is just in
regards to railcars?

Q. Yes, sir.

A. That he represented that he could help us find
railcars or put us in contact with people who could find
railcars.

Q. And did he tell you that trains and railcars
were available?

MR. LANTER: Objection, form.

A. He said it would be a difficult thing to do,
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1 but that we could -- but that we could do it.

2 Q. Okay. Did he tell you from whom that trains or
3 railcars would be available?

4 A. I don't know that he specifically specified

5 whom, but he did tell us in an e-mail, I believe, that

6 -- that Jonas Struthers would be able to help us.
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BY MR. LANTER:

Q. Did your company purchase the transloaders
before you signed the TSA?

A. We signed purchase oxrders for the, I believe,
but I can't verify that.
Before the TSA?
Yes.
And your company has in-house lawyers, right?
That's correct.

And what's your -- what's your education?

AN Ol A ol ©)

I've got a finance degree and an MBA.
Q. Okay. So you have people who are highly

educated people, right?

A, Yes.
Q. You are used to doing due diligence?
A. Yes.
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Q. You are used to making your decisions based on
your own due diligence and research, aren't you?

A. We are.

Q. Okay. And you had every capability of
determining whether or not there were railcars available
on your own, didn't you?

MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection, form.

A. We would have had to relied on somebody at some
point.

MR. LANTER: Objection nonresponsive.

Q. You had the capability of making phone calls
and asking people if railcars were available, didn't
you?

MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection, form.

A. Asking people on the -- yes.

Q. Yes. Earlier in your deposition I asked you
about roughly about 10 to 15 railcar manufacturers and
leasing companies and you said you didn't recall a
single one of them; that's true isn't it?

A. That is true.

Q. But you certainly could have couldn't you?

A. I could have called them, vyes.
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Q. Okay.
that stack?

A. I sure

MR. LANTER: Pull it out and let me see

that.

THE WITNESS: Oh, wait no letter of intent.

MR. KORNHAUSER: Did you remark it, I've

got it.

And do you have the letter of intent in

do. I'm sorry, let me --

MR. LANTER: Yeah I believe it 1is.

can find it in my --

THE WITNESS: You gave me too many papers.

MR. LANTER: -- briefcase, but it might

take longer.

THE WITNESS: Do you think what exhibit it

is by chance?

MR. LANTER:

There it is. Exhibit 6.

THE WITNESS: Okay. Well, you gave it to

me later though

, right?

MR. LANTER: Here, let's do this,

we remark it.

go back. We will talk about it as being Exhibit 6

today.

I will just pull it out of this.

Yeah not offhand I don't.

And I

why don't

Let's
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THE WITNESS: Okay. Perfect. Thank you.

Q. And your letter of intent, I mean, let's kind
of shuffle that, it is dated June 17

A. Yes.

Q. 2018, right-?

A. That's -- I am -- I am not sure, yes,

Q. And when you signed this letter of intent, you
agreed with Paragraph 8, did you not?

A. We -- we signed it.

Q. In fact, you wrote it, didn't you? Your --
your company wrote it, didn't it?

A. I don't remember.

Q. Okay. It's not on Maalt or Vista letterhead is
ite

A. I -- I can I see the --

MR. LANTER: Sure.

A. No, it is not.

Q. Okay. And you signed it first asking Maalt or
Vista to execute it as well, didn't you?

A. I did.

Q. Once you had the introduction made to Jupiter,
you guys took it from there and had all of your
negotiations just between Sequitur and Jupiter, correct?

A. On terms of commercial terms, yes.

Q. And you conducted your own due diligence of --
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of Jupiter didn't you?

A.

Q.

We did some, yes.

But then less despite your own due diligence

and the research you did in that company you decided to

make the
dealings
A,
Q.
research
decision
Al

with the

business decision to move forward with whoever
you had with it, right?
Say that again, I am sorry.
Yes. Despite your own due diligence and the
you did into Jupiter, your company made the
to move forward and do business with it?
We -- we did make the decision to move forward
agreement.

MR. LANTER: Okay. Pass the witness.

MR. KORNHAUSER: We will pass the witness.

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is 5:25. We

are off the record.

[Proceedings concluded at 5:25 p.m.]
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June 1, 2018

Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC
4413 Carey St.

Ft. Worth, Texas 76119

Atin.:

Re:

Jon Ince

Letter of Intent

Ladies and Gentlemen;

Sequitur Permian, LLC ("Sequitur") and Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC (“Vista™) intend to enter into
a transaction pursuant to a service agreement covering Vista’s (or an affiliats’s) provision of the Service
(as defined in Attachment “A” hereto) to Sequitur, Pending the preparation end execution of a Definitive
Agreement (as hereinafter defined), this letter will confirm the intent of such parties (“Parties™) to enter
into the contemplated transaction (“Transaction") to be governsd by the Definitive Agreement in
accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this letter. The Parties agree as follows:

Term Shest. The Parties intend to negotiate in good faith a wmutually acceptable agreement
governing the Service. To the extent there is any conflict between the Terin Sheet and this letter,
this letter shall control.

Definitive Agreement. The Parties shall endeavor to incorporate the terms and conditions
expressed herein in & mutually mcceptable definitive agreement (the "Definitive Agreement,"
whether one ot mote) no later than June 26, 2018 (“LOI Term’'), unless extended by the Parties in
writing, which the Parties would expect to do if the negotiations toward a Definitive Agreement
and other relevant agreements and activities have sofficiently progressed. In the event the Parties
do not agree upon and execute the Definitive Agreement by the end of the LOI Term, this letter
(and the understandings set forth herein) shall be deemed terminated, and neither Party shall have
any further obligation to the other Paity, provided, however, that the provisions of Section 3 shall
survive the termination of this letter for a period of one (1) year.

Confidentiality. The existence of this letter (and its contents) are Intended to be confidential and
are not to be discussed with or disclosed to any third party, except (i) with the express prior written
consent of the other Party hereta, (ii) as may be required or appropriate in response to any summons,
subpoena or discovery order or to comply with any applioable law, order, regulation or ruling or
(iii) as the Parties or their representatives (who shall also be bound by the confidentiality hereof)
reasonably deem appropriate in order to conduct dus diligence and other investigations relating to
the contemplated Transaction.

Exelusive Dealing Period. The Parties agree that from the date of this letter through the end of the
LOI Term, neither Party nor any of its controfled affiliates shall, directly or indirectly, enter into
any agreements with any other person or entity regarding any transaction similar to the Service or
the Transaction or any other transaction related, in whole or in part, to the Service, except as

l
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Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC
June 1,2018
Page 2

approved in writing by the other Party Additionally, neither Vista nor any of its controlled
affiliates shall, dircetly or indirectly, enter into any negoliations, discussions or agreements with
BP, Valero, Sunoco, NuStar or Shell, or any of their respective affiliates, for provision of the
Service to them, or any other transaction similar to the Service, within 75 miles of Vista’s rail
facility in Barnhart, Texas, except as approved in writing by the Sequitur. Nothing in this section
shall prohibit Vista from selling any service or product more than 75 miles from its rail facility in
Barnhat, Texas,

Se Expenses. Bach Party shall bear its own costs associated with negotiating and performing under
this letter.

6. Duc Diligence, Following the execution of this letter until the end of the LOI Term, the Parties
and their designated representatives will conduct due diligence roviews to analyze the feasibility of
the contemplaied Transaction, which reviews have not yet been conducted and completed.

7 Approval. No Party shall be bound by any Definitive Agreement relating to the Transaotion until
(8) each Party has completed its due diligence to its satisfaction, (b) such Party’s senior
management, or other governing body or authorized person, shall have approved the Definitive
Agreement, (¢) such Party shall have executed the Definitive Agreement, and (d) all conditions
precedent to the effectiveness of any such Definitive Agreement shall have been satisfied, including
obtaining any and all requisite government or third party approvals, licenses and permits (which
are satisfactory in form and substance to each Party in its sole discretion), if such approvals, licenses
and pernits are required.

8. No Oral Apreements. Subject to the foregoing, this letter (and the Term Sheet) sets out the Parties’
understanding as of this date, there are no other written or oral agreements or understandings among
the Parties.

9. Governing Law, THIS LETTER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT
TO CONFLICT OF LAWS PRINCIPLES.

10, Assignment, Neither Party shall assign its rights or obligations under this letter without the prior
written approval of the other Party, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.
Any attempted assignment in contravention of this paragraph shall be nulf and void.

11 Binding Status. Except as to Sections 3 through L0 (which are intended to be binding upon
execution and delivery of this letter by both Parties), the Parties understand and agrec that this letter
() is not binding and sets forth the Parties’ curtent understanding of agreements that may be sel
out in a binding fashion in the Definitive Agreement to be executed at a later date and (b) may not
be relied upon by either Party as the basis for a contract by estoppel or otherwise, but rather
evidences a nan-hinding expression of good faith understanding to endeavor, subject to completion
of due diligence to the Parties’ satisfaction, to negotiate a mutually agreeable Definitive Agreement.
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Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC
June 1, 2018
Page 3

If the terms and conditions of this letter are in accord with your understandings, please sign, and return the
enclosed counterpart of this letter to the undersigned, by no later than close of business on June 4, 2018,
after which date, if not signed and returned, this letter shall be null and void.

Very truly yours,
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC ;

o _ g

7 "JI. ) /] 4,- ]

By: /‘44:-_#_-'_-. b e
Name: Deadin Wlfr__{[ _— .
Title:  vPr CEo TR

AGREED
this _ 59 day of June 2018 by:

VISTA PROPFANTS AND LOGISTICS, !.. O
By: L e
Name: i-ﬁﬁbh '

Title:

1
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Party A:
Party B:
Facility:

Location:

Term:

Renewal;

Products:

Commitment:

Service:

Rate:

Volume:

Capital Investment:

ATTACHMENT "A"
to
Letter of Intent
(Term Sheet)

Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC (and any designated affiliates)
Sequitur Permian, LLC (and any designated affiliates)
Barnhart Railyard

Barnhart L.oading Facility
44485 W. Hwy 67
Barnhart, TX 76930

Septernber 2018 through December 2019,

Subject to the Survival clause below, the Term may be renewed and extended by
Party B for successive 12-month periods by written notice to Party A at least 60
days prior to the end of ihe then Term, as it may have been previcusly renewed
and extended.

Crude oil or other hydrocarbons products owned or controlled by Party B or which
Party B is obligated to market or deliver.

For the Term, as it may be extended, Party A will limit use of its Barnhart Railyard
property and Facility to the sole purpose of loading Party B's Products. Party A
will load Products provided by Party B at the Facility, whether from pipeline or
trucks.

Party A’s loading of Party B’s Products at Location/Facility and related services,
including maintenance.

$1.50/barrel of Products loaded into railcars at the Location/Facility.

Party B agrees to provide Products sufficient to fill an average of no fewer than
sixteen railcars per day (11,424 barrels) during each calendar month. If Party B
does not mest its minimum volume obligation for a calendar month, Party A will
be compensated in such montl, as that month’s total settlement, in an amount equal
to at lcast the Rate times 11,424 barrels, or $17,136, times the number of days in
that month so that Party A will be paid as if the minimum volume had been
provided by Party B. Should Party B provide more Products than its minimum
volume obligation, Party A shall be compensated at the Rate times the excess
volume.

In no event shall Party A be obligated to provide any capital investment necessary
to perform Seyvice. To the extent more capital investment is needed to satisfy
incremental Volume, the financial burden required to equip the facility shall be
borne by Party B.
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Assignability:

Survival:

Other Terms;

Phasc I: Party B will install (or pay to install) equipment (to be owned by Party B)
sufficient to load rail cars from trucks such that loading will commence September
1, 2018,

Phase 1I: Party B will install (or pay to install) equipment (to be owned by Party
B) sufficient to load rail cars from pipeline,

The Definitive Agreement would be assignable on sale or disposition, and as
othcrwisc negotiated. Any sale of the Facility propeity would be subject to the
Definitive Agreement.

If the Term is not extended, then when Party A is not utilizing the Barnhart
Railyard for the general course of its sand business and desires to usc for loading
of oil, the terms of the Definitive Agreement may be reiustated by Party B at its
option.

The Definitive Agrecment will contain customary provisions for transactions
similar to the Service or the Transaction, such as mutual representations,
warranties, and covenants, conditions precedent, termination, remedies, force
majeure, indemnification, &nd risk of loss.

THIS SUMMARY OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS IS ATTACHMENT "A" TO A LETTER OF
INTENT DATED JUNE 1, 2018, AND IS NOT TO BE CONSIDERED SEPARATELY FROM THE
LETTER OF INTENT. EXCEPT AS MAY BE SET OUT IN THE LETTER OF INTENT, THE
LETTER OF INTENT AND THIS ATTACHMENT "A" ARE NOT INTENDED TO BE
COMPLETE AND ALL-INCLUSIVE OF THE TERMS OF THE PROPOSED TRANSACTION,
NOR DOES THE LETTER OF INTENT OR THIS ATTACHMENT "A" CREATE A BINDING
AND ENFORCEABLE CONTRACT BETWEEN OR COMMITMENT OR OFFER TO ANY
PARTY OR PARTIES, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT PROVIDED IN SECTION 11 OF THE
LETTER OF INTENT.
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June 22, 2018

Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC
4413 Carey St.
Ft. Worth, Texas 76119
Attn.:  Jon Ince
Re:  Letter of Intent Amendment
Ladies and Gentlemen: ;
Reference is made to that certain letter of intent (“LOI™) dated June 1, 2018 between Sequitur Permian,
LLC ("Sequitur") and Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC (*Vista”). All ¢apitalized terms used herein are
as defined in the LOL
The Parties agree to amend Section 2 of the LOI to change “June 26, 2018” to “July 6, 2018,
Except as amended hereby, all other terms of the LOI shall remain in full force and effect
Very truly yours,

SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC

€ )
T _f’) N( T.")

By: /

Braden Merrill

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
AGREED
this _2 | Jday of June 2018 by:

VISTA PROPPANTS AND LOGISTICS, LLC

Bym%hﬁ& <
Name:_ ¥y . 4 =

n
Title___( F0)
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July 9, 2018

Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC
4413 Carey S,

Ft. Worth, Texas 76119

Attn..  Jon lnce
Reo: Letter of Intent Amendinent No. 2

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Reference is made to that certain letter of intent (as previously nmended, “LOI”) dated June 1, 2018 between
Sequitur Permian, LLC ("Sequitur") and Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC (“Vista®). All capitalized

terms used herein are as defined in the LOJ.

The Parties agree to amend Section 2 of the LOI to change “July 6, 2018” to “July 23, 2018".

Except as amended hereby, all other terms of the LOI shall remain in full foroe and effect.

AGREED
this {1 day of July 2018 by:

VISTA PROPPANTS

By: 9"
Name:_
Title:

“CFO

Very truly yours,

SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC Y
] ) / 7 )
et ) ¥ / J
By: ____-'{_ _(:_-:_—__ e r/ | <o i -
Neme: _‘focecten  Merc\) E———
Title: NP¢ ¢ & E

AND LOGISTICS, LLC
Hagt e ;é’*&zr%_
_knstin
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CAUSE NO. 19-003

MAALT, LP, § IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF
§
Plaintiff, §
§
VsSs. § IRION COUNTY, TEXAS
§
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, §
§
Defendant. § 51st JUDICIAL DISTRICT

ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF
TONY WROTEN
November 20, 2019

Volume 1

ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF TONY WROTEN,
produced as a witness at the instance of the Plaintiff
and duly sworn, was taken in the above-styled and
numbered cause on the 20th day of November, 2019, from
9:35 a.m. to 2:29 p.m., before Patricia Palmer, CSR, in
and for the State of Texas, reported by machine
shorthand, at the offices of Mr. Matthew A. Kornhauser,
Hoover Slovacek LLP, 5051 Westheimer Road, Suite 1200,
Houston, Texas 77056, pursuant to the Texas Rules of
Civil Procedure and the provisions stated on the record

herein.
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THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Today's date is
November 20th, 2019. This is the video deposition of
Tony Wroten. The time is 9:35. We are on the record.
The court reporter may now swear in the witness.
THE REPORTER: Are there any stipulations?
MR. KORNHAUSER: By agreement, by notice
and we would like to read and sign.
MR. WICKES: Agreed.
TONY WROTEN,
having been first duly sworn, testified as follows:
EXAMINATION
BY MR. WICKES:
Q. Mr. Wroten, could you state your name for the
record?

A. Tony Wroten.
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10
11
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17
18
19 Q. Okay. All right. Most of the gquestions today,
20 pretty much all of them are going to center around the
21 Barnhart translcad facility, and the terminal services
22 agreement, and the deal basically to move crude by rail
23 out of Barnhart; you understand that?

24 A. Yes, sir.

25 Q. In that process from Sequitur's standpoint,
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1 what role did you play?
2 A. Primarily I was just there to support Braden
3 and Sequitur in whatever capacity that I could.
4 Q. Okay. And what is your title?
A Senior finance associate.
6 Q. And you report to Braden?
A

Yes, sir.

10
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19 MR. WICKES: Okay. If you could, go to
20 Exhibit 2, and this is dated May 9, 2018. It is from
21 Jon Ince. It says to Braden and Tony.

22 Q. I assume that Tony is you, correct?

23 A. Yes,.

24 Q. Okay. And it says, "It was great talking to

25 you and I look forward to our talks progressing on
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1 shipping crude out of the basin. Feel reach out to me
2 if you have any" -- "if you need any help on fleet
3 sizing and routing and I will be happy to see you

4 through that process."

5 Did I read that correct?
6 A. Yes, sir.
7 Q. And would this have been, I guess, shortly

8 after that initial phone call?

9 A. Yes, sir.

10 Q. Okay. And when he says he was going to help
11 you with fleet sizing and routing, what did you

12 understand that to mean?

13 A. I think it was more just understanding the
14 dynamics, and the logistics, and the process of what
15 needed to be done from a logistic side.

16 Q. Okay. And then in the next paragraph of that
17 e-mail it says, "Let me introduce you to Jonas

18 Struthers." Do you see that?

19 A. Yes.

20 Q. And did he make the introduction to you and
21 Braden to Jonas Struthers?

22 A. Yes, he did.

23 Q. Okay. And then it looks like he talks about
24 that he's -- "Mr. Jonas has been a great partner and

25 that he can likely help you out with your fleet;" is
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1 that right?

2 A. Yeah. Yeah.

3 Q. Okay. And he says that essentially that what
4 his experience has been with -- with Jonas in the past?
5 A. Yeah he mentions that, ves.

6 Q. Okay. Was that helpful to you?

7 A. What, the introduction?

8 Q. Just the introduction, providing that

9 information?
10 A. Yes. I mean, at the time we were considering,
11 you know, getting a fleet of rail cars ourselves and at
12 least exploring the opportunity of what it -- what it
13 would cost and what it would entail.

14 Q. Okay. So making an introduction at least gave
15 you one vehicle to go of many, I suppose?

16 A. Repeat that. I kind of --

17 Q. Sure. I used the word vehicle, which probably
18 was a bad word. So introducing you to Jonas gave you
19 one avenue to pursue, as far as freight cars go, of
20 others that may exist in the market?
21 A. Yes. He, you know, he was -- it was a -- you
22 know, there was a clear learning curve and this was

23 another way of getting more information about the

24 opportunity.

25 Q. Okay. Did Jon or anyone else with Vista or
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Maalt ever promise to acquire rail cars for you?

A. To acquire them for us?

Q. Right. To actually go out and get them and say
here they are, this is the price?

MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection, form.

A. I -- I don't recall that ever being a promise.

Q. Okay. Did they ever promise that they could go
and get you a specific rates or any type of specific
routes on the -- the railroads?

A. They had made, you know, representations that
they could assist in that regard.

Q. Okay. And I suspect they probably also gave
you their assessment of what was available in the
market?

A. Absolutely, yeah.

Q. Okay. But they never -- I guess they never
took on the role as agent to Sequitur to we are going to
go and get this for you?

MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection.

Q. Is that fair?

MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection, form.

A. You mean, like, contractually?

Yes.

A. I -- I am not aware of a contract stating that
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Q.

a.

Okay.

-- they were going to be our agent.
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lonas Struthers
647.989.3552

jonas@fenixfsl.com

On May 9, 2018, at 7:22 PM, lon Ince <jince@vyprop.com> wrote:

Braden/Tony,

It was great talking with you and | look forward to our talks progressing on shipping
crude out of basin. Fesl free to reach out to me if you need any help on fieet sizing
ar routing and | will do what | can step you through that process. VProp works on
the belief that we succeed when our partners succeed | will get you the info |
promised to you in the coming days

Let me introduce Jonas Struthers, the railcar guy | mentioned to you on our call. He
has been a great partner far me in the past with our sand cars and I'm sure he will
be able to get you cars that you need for your fleet. I'm sure he can get you cars
that you need at a really good rate, he's done amazing work far me in the past.
Jonas will be more in the know on regulations and exact timing on when 1232s are
phased out for the 117s,

Regards,

Jon

On May 9, 2018, at 4:20 PM, Braden Merrill <bmerrill@sequiturenergy.com> wrote:
Tony Wroten <pvroten(@sequiturenergy.com™>
Best,

Braden Merrill

(:713-395-3008
C: 434-466-4294

hinerdi@se

Twao Briarlake Plaza: 2050 Weest Sam THoosion Pkwy South
Sutte 1830; [Houston, I'X 77042

Maalt_000299
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CAUSE NO. 19-003

MAALT, LP, IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF
Plaintiff,

VS. IRION COUNTY, TEXAS

SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC,

(772 ¥ 7 N 77 B V7« W V7 W v/ B V74 W v/ B V74

Defendant. S1st JUDICIAL DISTRICT

ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF

MICHAEL VAN DEN BOLD

November 21, 2019

Volume 1

ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF MICHAEL VAN DEN
BOLD, produced as a witness at the instance of the
Plaintiff and duly sworn, was taken in the above-styled
and numbered cause on the 21st day of November, 2019,
from 9:31 a.m. to 11:29 a.m., before Patricia Palmer,
CSR, in and for the State of Texas, reported by machine
shorthand, at the offices of Mr. Matthew A. Kornhauser,
Hoover Slovacek LLP, 5U51 Westhelmer Road, Sulte 1200,
Houston, Texas Houston, pursuant to the Texas Rules of
Civil Procedure and the provisions stated on the record

herein.

Page 1
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1 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Today's date is

2 November 21st, 2019. This is the video deposition of

3 Michael Van Den Bold. The time is 9:32., We are on the
4 record. The court reporter may now swear in the

5 witness.

6 THE REPORTER: Are there any stipulations?
7 MR. KORNHAUSER: By agreement and we would
8 like to read and sign, please.

9 MR. WICKES: Agreed.
10 MICHAEL VAN DEN BOLD,
11 having been first duly sworn, testified as follows:
12 EXAMINATION
13 BY MR. WICKES:
14 Q. All right sir, could you state your name for
15 the record?
16 A. Michael Van Den Bold.
17 Q. Okay, Mr. Van Den Bold. My name is Paul Wickes
18 and I represent Maalt, LP in this case, you understand
19 that, correct?
20 A Correct.
21 Q. And you understand you are here for a
22 deposition related to a dispute about a terminal service
23 agreement in Barnhart, Texas?
24 A. I do.
25 Q. All right. TIf you could, go ahead and just

Page 4
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1 state your -- your position with Sequitur and what you
2 do.

3 A. I am the chief operations officer and

4 president.

5 Q Okay. And is there anyone that you report to?
6 A I report to the CEO Scott Josey.

7 0. Scott Josey?

8 A Correct.

9 Q. Okay. And how long have you been with

10 Sequitur?

11 A. We -- I am a founding partner and we founded it

12 in 2011.
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

Page 5
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10

11

12
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25

Q. Okay. From a factual standpoint, what do you
contend that Vista or Maalt did that should cause it to
have to pay Sequitur damages for electing to go forward
with the contract?

A. Well, long before we even signed the TSA in our
discussions with Maalt, you know, they made
representations that they were rail experts, their
employees had worked for the railroads, that they coculd
help get a deal done, that they had relationships, they
had the expertise, that they could help, you know, help
coordinate and collaborate to get these contracts in
place, to help get the deal done, and they weren't able
to do things that they promised.

Q. Okay. I just want to get -- first off, from a
time standpoint that all of the representations or
statements that vyou are referencing were all -- they all
preceded the signing of the terminal services agreement,
correct?

A. Right, vyes.

Q. Okay. All right.

A. And -- and even during the negotiations and

even afterwards.

Page 10

Veritext Legal Solutions
800-336-4000

Removal Appendix 0171



Case 20-04064-elm Doc 1-1 Filed 09/04/20 Entered 09/04/20 10:53:27 Page 172 of 862

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Q. Okay. Did they promise to do anything other

than help?

A. The -- the -- I mean, the promises they made is
that they -- they were experts and knew the business,
the rail by -- sand by rail, and had the relationships.
And -- yeah they would help get us -- get this venture

off the ground.

Q. Okay. And I guesgs the distinction I am trying
to make is sometimes you hire a third-party and you
enter into a contractual relationship, for like a
third-merit logistics provider, and that third-party
logistic provider contracts to provide you certain
services regarding -- in thisg case, rail cars, rail
transportation, that type of thing. Did Sequitur enter
into any type of third-party logistics contractual
arrangement with Maalt or Vista?

A. No, these were just verbal representations that
they could do that.

Q. Okay. Was there ever any contractual
arrangement made, verbal or oral even, that in return
for X Vista and Maalt will get you rail cars, will get
you rail transportation?

A. No it was always a collaborative ettort that we
would all work together to try to make this a successful

Jv.

Page 11
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10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22 Q. Okay. &And -- and I want to go back and make

23 sure I've got everything of the -- the general

24 representations that are the basis for the countercl.aim.

25 One was that they are rail experts and that some of

Page 14
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1 their employees are former rail and worked for

2 railroads?

3 A. Correct.

4 Q. Okay. The other was that they would assist in
5 getting a deal done-?

6 A. Correct.

7 Q. Okay. And getting a deal done, what all does

8 that include?

9 A. Well, the getting the deal done, Sequitur

10 needed an arrangement where somebody that had rail cars,
11 that had rates and volumes and contracts with the
12 railroads to get from Barnhart to the Gulf Coast.

13 Q. Okay. And during the -- all the way up until
14 the notice of force majeure, did personnel with Maalt
15 and Vista provide assistance when they could on leads
16 for rail cars, rail transportation, contacts within the
17 railroad industry, that type of thing?

18 A. They made phone calls and introductions to
19 assist.
20 Q. Okay. 1Is there anything during the period from
21 after the terminal services agreement to the notice of
22 force majeure that Sequitur specifically asked Maalt or
23 Vista to do that it did not do?

24 A. Nothing comes to mind at this point.

25 Q. Okay and I just want to -- I think for

Page 15
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replowing ground that I apologize. As I try to do this
as little as possible, just so we're on the same page.

You are not contending that Maalt or Vista promised to

get rail cars, but they offered to help Sequitur or its
agents in getting rail cars?

A. Yeah. My view is that this was a collaborative

effort --
Q. Okay.
A. -- between Jupiter, Maalt and Sequitur to make

this a profitable venture for everybody.

Page 16
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10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24 Q. Okay. There was a claim that dealt with the

25 holding over of property of Sequitur's afterwards, are

Page 64
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you familiar with that?

A. I am familiar with that.

Q. Okay. What property, as best as you can
describe, was held over?

A. Maalt moved our transloaders without our
permission off the location and didn't advise us of
that.

Q. Okay. And then ultimately Sequitur was able to
come and pick up that equipment?

A. That is correct, we were.

Q. All right. Do you know how long of a period of

time after it was moved before Sequitur was able to pick

it up?
A. I recall it being more than a month.
Q. Okay. Are you aware of any damage to the

equipment when Sequitur picked it up?

A. I am not aware of any damage.

Q. Okay. Are you aware of any lost business
opportunities for that equipment during that period of
time?

A. No.

Q. What damages, if any, are you aware of that

Sequitur incurred because of the delay in obtaining that

equipment?
A. Well, it is just the -- to me it was the -- it
Page 65
Veritext Legal Solutions
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1 felt like our property was stolen from us and we weren't
2 sure we were going to get it back. And we had to decide
3 whether to take legal action or call the authorities.
4 So it became a, you know, a time sync for our people to
5 deal with this problem.
6 Q Okay.
7 A. And yeah.
8 Q. Are you making an emotional distress claim?
9 A. I am not.
10 Q. Okay. So the damage would be the time Sequitur
11 that employees had to focus on that as opposed to doing
12 other business things?
13 A. Correct.
14 Q. Okay. Have you been able to quantify that
15 amount in any way?
16 A. I am not.
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
Page 66
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EXHIBIT 4
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June 1,2018

Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC
4413 Carey St.

Ft. Warth, Texas 76119

Attn.:

Re:

Jon Ince

Letter of Intent

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Sequitur Permian, LLC ("Sequitur") and Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC (“Vista”) intend to enter into
a transaction pursuant to a service agreement covering Vista’s (or an affiliate’s) provision of the Service
(as defined in Attachment “A” hereto) to Sequitur. Pending the preparation and execution of a Definitive
Agreement (as hereinafter defined), this letter will confirm the intent of such parties (“Parties”) to enter
into the contemplated transaction (“Transaction") to be governed by the Definitive Agreement in
accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this letter. The Parties agree as follows:

I

Term Sheet. The Parties intend to negotiate in good faith a mutually acceptable agreement
governing the Service. To the extent there is any conflict between the Term Sheet and this letter,
this letter shall control.

Definitive Agreement. The Parties shall endeaver to incorporate the terms and conditions
expressed herein in a mutually acceptable definitive agreement (the “Definitive Agreement,"
whether one or more) no later than June 26, 2018 (“LOI Term"), unless extended by the Parties in
writing, which the Parties would expect to do if the negotiations toward a Definitive Agreement
and other relevant agreements and activities have sufficiently progressed. In the event the Parties
do not agree upon and execute the Definitive Agreement by the end of the LOI Term, this letter
(and the understandings set forth herein) shall be deemed terminated, and neither Party shall have
any further obligation to the other Paty, provided, however, that the provisions of Section 3 shall
survive the termination of this letter for a period of ane (1) year.

Confidentiality. The existence of this letter (and its contents) are intended to be confidential and
are not to be discussed with or disclosed to any third party, except (i) with the express prior written
consent of the other Party hereto, (ii) as may be requited or appropriate in response to any summeons,
subpoena or discovery order or to comply with any applicable law, order, regulation or ruling or
(iii) as the Parties or their representatives (who shall also be bound by the confidentiality hereof)
reasonably deem appropriate in order to conduct due diligence and other investigations relating to
the contemplated Transaction.

Exclusive Dealing Period, The Parties agree that from the date of this letter through the end of the
LOI Term, neither Party nor any of its controlled affiliates shall, directly or indirectly, enter into
any agreements with any other person or entity regarding any transaction similar to the Service or
the Transaction or any other transaction refated, in whole or in part, to the Service, except as

]

Maatl MSJ
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=

Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC
June 1,2018

Page 2

10.

114

approved in writing by the other Party. Additionally, neither Vista nor any of its controlled
affiliates shall, dircctly or indirectly, enter into any negotiations, discussions or agreements with
BP, Valero, Sunoco, NuStar or Shell, or any of their respective affiliates, for provision of the
Service to them, or any other transaction similar to the Service, within 75 miles of Vista’s rail
facility in Barnhart, Texas, except as approved in writing by the Sequitur. Nothing in this section
shall prohibit Vista from selling any service or product more than 75 miles from its rail facility in
Barnhart, Texas.

Expenses. Each Darty shall bear its own costs associated with negotiating and performing under
this letter.

Duc Diligence. Following the execution of this letter until the end of the LOI Term, the Parties
and their designated representatives will conduct due diligence roviews to analyze the feasibility of
the contemplated Transaction, which reviews have not yet been conducted and completed.

Approval. No Party shall be bound by any Definitive Agreement relating to the Transaction until
(a) each Party has completed its due diligence to its satisfaction, (b) such Party’s senior
management, or other governing body or authorized person, shall have approved the Definitive
Agreement, (c) such Party shall have executed the Definitive Agreement, and (d) all conditions
precedent to the effectiveness of any such Definitive Agreement shall have been satisfied, including
obtaining any and all requisite government or third party approvals, licenses and permits (which
are satisfactory in form and substance to each Party in its sole discretion), if such approvals, licenses
and permits are required.

No Ora] Agreements. Subject to the foregoing, this letter (and the Term Sheet) sets out the Parties’
understanding as of this date, there are no other written or oral agreements or understandings among
the Parties.

Governing Law, THIS LETTER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT
TO CONFLICT OF LAWS PRINCIPLES.

Assignment, Neither Party shall assign its rights or obligations under this letter without the prior
written approval of the other Party, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.
Any attempted assignment in contravention of this paragraph shall be null and void.

Binding Status. Except as to Sections 3 through 10 (which are intended to be binding upon
execution and delivery of this letter by both Parties), the Parties understand and agree that this letter
(a) is not binding and sets forth the Parties’ current understanding of agreements that may be sel
out in a binding fashion in the Definitive Agreement to be executed at a later date and (b) may not
be relied upon by either Party as the basis for a contract by estoppel or otherwise, but rather
evidences a non-binding expression of good faith understanding to endeavor, subject to completion
of due diligence to the Parties’ satisfaction, to negotiate a mutually agreeable Definitive Agreement.

Sequitur_001757
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Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC
June 1, 2018
Page 3

If the terms and conditions of this letter are in accord with your understandings, please sign, and return the
enclosed counterpart of this letter to the undersigned, by no later than close of business on June 4, 2018,
after which date, if not signed and returned, this letter shall be nuil and void.

Very truly yours,

SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC

('ﬂ(_- /J r‘/(-7.1______ .‘
By: A= | fh-—— =<
Name:  Beade Weesl
Title: vPre CEp

AGREED

this _©) day of June 2018 by:

VISTA PROPPANTS AND LOGISTICS, LLC
By: . ’ o
Ntll‘llc:_&[lijﬁj S ﬁ gért 70 e
Title:__(F-O
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ATTACHMENT "A"
to
Letter of Intent
(Term Shecet)

Party A: Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC (and any designated affiliates)

Party B: Sequitur Permian, LLC (and any designated affiliates)

Facility: Barnhart Railyard [
Location: Barnhait Loading Facility

44485 W. Hwy 67
Barnhait, TX 76930

Term: September 2018 through December 2019.

Renewal; Subject to the Survival clause below, the Term may be renewed and extended by
Party B for successive 12-month periods by written notice to Party A at least 60
days prior to the end of the then Term, as it may have been previously renewed
and extended.

Products: Crude oil or other hydrocarbons products owned or controlled by Party B or which
Party B is obligated to market or deliver,

Commitment: For the Term, as it may be extended, Party A will limit use of its Barnhart Railyard
property and Facility to the sole purpose of loading Party B’s Products. Party A
will load Products provided by Party B at the Facility, whether from pipeline or

trucks.

Service: Party A’s loading of Party B’s Preducts at Location/Facility and related services,
including maintenance.

Rate: $1.50/barrel of Products loaded into railcsrs at the Location/Facility.

Volume: Party B agrees to provide Products sufficient to fill an average of no fewer than

sixteen railcars per day (11,424 barrels) during each calendar month. If Party B
does not meet its minimum volume obligation for a calendar month, Party A will
be compensated in such month, as that month’s total settlement, in an amount equal
to at least the Rate times 11,424 barrels, or $17,136, times the number of days in
that month so that Party A will be paid as if the minimum volume had been
provided by Party B. Should Party B provide more Products than ils minimum
volume obligation, Party A shall be compensated at the Rate times the excess
volume,

Capital Investment: In no event shall Party A be obligated to provide any capital investment necessary
to perform Service. To the extent more capital investment is needed to satisfy
incremental Volume, the financial burden required to equip the facility shall be
borne by Party B.

Sequitur_001759
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Assignability:

Survival:

Other Terms:

Phase I: Party B will instal] (or pay to install) equipment (to be owned by Party B)
sufficient to load rail cars from trucks such that loading will commencc September
1,2018.

Phase 1. Party B will install (or pay to install) equipment (to be owned by Party
B) sufficient to load rail cars from pipeline,

The Definitive Agreement would be assignable on sale or disposition, and as
otherwisc negotiated. Any sale of the Facility property would be subject to the
Definitive Agreement.

If the Term is not extended, then when Party A is not utilizing the Barnhart
Railyard for the general course of its sand business and desires to usc for loading
of oil, the terms of the Definitive Agreement may be reinstated by Party B at its
option.

The Definitive Agreement will contain customary provisions for transactions
similar to the Service or the Transaction, such as mutual representations,
warranties, and covenants, conditions precedent, termination, remedies, force
majeure, indemnification, and risk of loss,

THIS SUMMARY OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS IS ATTACHMENT "A" TO A LETTER OF
INTENT DATED JUNE 1, 2018, AND IS NOT TO BE CONSIDERED SEPARATELY FROM THE
LETTER OF INTENT. EXCEPT AS MAY BE SET OUT IN THE LETTER OF INTENT, THE
LETTER OF INTENT AND THIS ATTACHMENT A" ARE NOT INTENDED TO BE
COMPLETE AND ALL-INCLUSIVE OF THE TERMS OF THE PROPOSED TRANSACTION,
NOR DOES THE LETTER OF INTENT OR THIS ATTACHMENT "A" CREATE A BINDING
AND ENFORCEABLE CONTRACT BETWEEN OR COMMITMENT OR OFFER TO ANY
PARTY OR PARTIES, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT PROVIDED IN SECTION 11 OF THE
LETTER OF INTENT.
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June 22,2018

Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC
4413 Carey St.
Ft. Worth, Texas 76119
Attn.: Jon Ince
Re: Letter of Intent Amendment
Ladies and Gentlemen: ;
Reference is made to that certain letter of intent (“LOI”) dated June 1, 2018 between Sequitur Permian,
LLC ("Sequitur") and Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC (“Vista™). All capitalized terms used herein are
as defined in the LOL
The Parties agree to amend Section 2 of the LOI to change “June 26, 2018 to “July 6, 2018”,
Except as amended hereby, all other terms of the LOI shall remain in full force and effect.
Very truly yours,
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC

By: / /}. N

Braden Merrill

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
AGREED
this 2 7day of June 2018 by:
VISTA PROPPANTS AND LOGISTICS, LLC
By;vl?;\,u_'}ﬂm { f\)/\!/‘. s <
Name:__¥nenn W. ST 1 A
Title:_ ( FO
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July 9, 2018

Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC
4413 Carey St.
Ft. Worth, Texas 76119

Attn.:  Jon Ince

Re: Letter of Intcnt Amendiment No. 2

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Reference is made to that certain letter of intent (as previously smended, “LOI”) dated June 1, 2018 between
Sequitur Permian, LLC ("Sequitur") and Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC (“Vista”). All capitalized
terms used herein are as defined in the LOJ.

The Parties ngree to amend Section 2 of the LOI to change “July 6, 2018 to “July 23, 2018,

Except as amended hereby, all other terms of the LOI shall remain in full force and effect.

Very truly yours,

SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC 7

") 4 p )
-~ s 71" W
By: ?’“ b / /f-v—* s
Neme: _‘oaden  Mereil)

Title: VP ¢ Fo

AGREED
this {2 day of July 2018 by:

VISTA PROPPANTS AND | OGISTICS, LLC

By:my_é; zgﬁ: - _—:
Name:__An&ThA

Title: CFO

=
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CAUSE NO. CV19-003

MAALT, LP, IN THE DISTRICT COURT
Plaintiff,

V. IRION COUNTY, TEXAS

SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC,

Defendant. 515T JUDICIAL DISTRICT

LT L L A LR L L

DEFENDANT/COUNTER-PLAINTIFF’S
FIRST AMENDED RESPONSE TO REQUEST FOR DISCLOSURE

TO:  Plaintiff, MAALT, LP, by and through its attorneys of record, James Lanter, James Lanter,

PC, 560 N. Walnut Creek, Suite 120, Mansfield, Texas 76063 and Paul O. Wickes, Wickes

Law, PLLC, 5600 Tennyson Parkway, Suite 205, Plano, Texas 75024.

Pursuant to the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff, SEQUITUR
PERMIAN, LLC (“Sequitur”), serves upon Plaintiff MAALT, LP, the foregoing First Amended
Response to Request for Disclosure. Pursuant to Rule 194 of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure:

(a) The correct names of the parties to the lawsuit;

RESPONSE:
The names above are correct.

(b) The name, address and telephone number of any potential party;

RESPONSE:

This will be supplemented upon further discovery.

© The legal theories and, in general, the factual basis of the responding party’s claims
or defenses;

RESPONSE:

Subject to any stipulations, admissions, special exceptions, special and affirmative
defenses which may be alleged, Defendant asserts a general denial, in accordance with Rule 92 of
the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, and demands strict proof of the Plaintiff’s suit, by a
preponderance of the evidence, as required by the Constitution and the laws of the State of Texas.
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By way of further answer, if such be necessary, and without waiving any of the foregoing,
Sequitur asserts, pursuant to Rule 94 of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, the affirmative
defenses of failure of consideration, waiver, including express contractual waiver and/or implied
waiver, statute of frauds, contractual force majeure, excuse and/or justification, failure to mitigate
damages, failure to perform conditions precedent, impossibility, prior material breach of contract
and/or repudiation.

On the effective date of August 6, 2018, Sequitur entered into a Terminal Services
Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Plaintiff Maalt, LP (“Maalt”). Per the Agreement, Maalt
(described as “Terminal Owner”) was the owner and operator of a rail terminal (the “Terminal™)
located in Barnhart, Texas on land owned by Maalt, and Sequitur (described as “Customer”) was
engaged in the business of transportation and marketing of crude oil and other liquid hydrocarbon
products owned or controlled by Sequitur (hereinafter “oil””). Among other contractual duties, the
Agreement provided that Maalt would provide the labor, supervision, and materials necessary to
deliver, handle, measure, and redeliver (hereinafter “transload”) the oil to Sequitur or to Sequitur’s
third-party customers. Sequitur would have the exclusive rights to use the Terminal for
transloading oil.

The Agreement contemplated two methods of delivery of oil to the Terminal, by either
truck or pipeline. Regardless of the method of delivery, upon receipt, Maalt would then transload
the oil into railcars to Sequitur or Sequitur’s third-party customers. In order to facilitate the
transloading into railcars of oil that was delivered by truck, Sequitur, at its sole cost and expense,
would install equipment and facilities at the Terminal, which was described in the Agreement as
the “Phase I Project.” Additionally, if Sequitur elected to do so, it could also install at its sole cost
and expense, equipment and facilities at the Terminal for transloading oil into railcars from
pipelines (versus trucks), which was described in the Agreement as the “Phase II Project.”

Significantly, as to the equipment and facilities installed by Sequitur (collectively
“Customer Terminal Modifications™) in connection with the either the Phase I Project or the Phase
IT Project, Maalt agreed in the Agreement that “title to the equipment and facilities installed by or
at the direction of [Sequitur] in connection with a Customer Terminal Modification shall remain
with and be vested in [Sequitur].” See Agreement, § 2.7. The only exception to Sequitur’s title
and ownership to the Customer Terminal Modifications that it may have installed or directed, at
its own cost and expense, was “any additional rail tracks that may [have been] installed,” which
additional tracks’ ownership, if so installed, would be transferred to Maalt after the expiration of
the Agreement’s term, subject to certain rights of Sequitur. See Agreement, § 2.7.

In very general terms and subject to numerous terms and conditions, in exchange for
Maalt’s operation of the Terminal and its transloading of oil exclusively for Sequitur, further
conditioned upon the occurrence of the Terminal Operations Commencement Date, Maalt would
be paid at least a minimum payment (the “Shortfall Payment”) depending on the amount of oil
actually transloaded through the Terminal. See Agreement, § 3.2.
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Any obligation for Sequitur to pay the Shortfall Payment, however, was expressly made
subject to “the terms of this Agreement, including . . . Force Majeure.” See Agreement, § 3.1. The
Agreement could not have been clearer when it provided, as follows: “There shall be no Shortfall
Payment due and owing for the Shortfall to the extent caused or contributed to by Force Majeure
or due to such Terminal Owner [Maalt] breach.” See Agreement, § 3.2(a).

Additionally, no payment would be due under the Agreement, including any Shortfall
Payment, until “after the Terminal Operations Commencement Date.” See Agreement, § 3.1. The
Terminal Operations Commencement Date was defined as “the date that the Terminal is fully
operational to enable the performance and receipt of the Services and any and all Regulatory
Approvals for the Services have been obtained, in each case, as reasonably determined by
Customer [Sequitur] and as such date is evidenced by a written notice sent by Customer [Sequitur]
to Terminal Owner [Maalt].” See Agreement, § 1.

Importantly, in the event of a Force Majeure, any obligation of Sequitur to make payments
to Maalt only existed for oil “actually Throughput at the Terminal.” See Agreement, § 14.1. The
term “Throughput” was defined as “the delivery of Product [oil] from trucks or pipeline into the
Terminal on behalf of Customer [Sequitur] or Customer’s [Sequitur’s] third-party customers.” See
Agreement, § 1. Subject to the terms of the Agreement, Sequitur was only obligated to pay Maalt
a throughput fee of $1.50 per Barrel for Product Throughput through the Terminal. See Agreement,
§4.1. “Product Throughput” was the metered quantity of oil actually delivered into the Terminal
and transloaded by Maalt into railcars. See Agreement, Art. 5. No oil was ever actually
Throughput at the Terminal.

The Agreement defined both “Force Majeure Event” and “Force Majeure” to mean “any
cause not within the reasonable control of a Party claiming suspension, and that could not have
been avoided or overcome by the exercise of due diligence by such Party,” which included a
lengthy list of various events and occurrences. Included in the list of events and occurrences was
“the unavailability, interruption, delay or curtailment of Product transportation services” and a
catch-all for “any other cause or causes beyond the reasonable control of the Party claiming
suspension, whether similar or not to those listed.” See Agreement, § 14.2. If either party
determined it was necessary to declare a Force Majeure Event, notice was required first by phone
or email and then by mail or overnight carrier. See Agreement, § 14.3.

At no point in time, including between August 6, 2018 and December 7, 2018, did Sequitur
ever send written notice to Maalt that the Terminal Operations Commencement Date had occurred.
At no point in time, including between August 6, 2018 and December 7, 2018, was oil “actually
Throughput at the” Terminal.

On December 7, 2018, in accordance with the terms of the Agreement, Sequitur sent
written notice to Maalt by email and FedEx that Sequitur had declared an existing “Force Majeure”
under the Agreement because of the “unavailability, interruption, delay or curtailment of rail
transportation services” for the oil, “despite continued efforts to procure such services.” More
specifically, a Force Majeure event occurred because crude oil transportation service (e.g., rail
service and capacity) to allow for Sequitur’s use of the Terminal for the intended purposes of the
Agreement was not available despite diligent efforts to procure such service and capacity, and such
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event of Force Majeure was not within the reasonable control of Sequitur. The written notice also
noted that Sequitur anticipated that the Force Majeure event would “continue for the foreseeable
future.”

On January 28, 2019, Sequitur received an invoice from Maalt dated January 25, 2019 for
$531,216.00, which was presumably for an alleged Shortfall Payment.

On January 31, 2019, Sequitur sent written notice to Maalt responding to the January 25,
2019 invoice disputing that such amount was owed because both the Force Majeure event had
occurred and remained continuing, and also because, as noted above, the Terminal Operations
Commencement Date had not been reached per the terms of the Agreement. Sequitur also
indicated that it would inform Maalt of “any changes or developments in the status of the Existing
Force Majeure.”

On February 8, 2019, Sequitur sent written notice to Maalt by email and FedEx that the
declared Force Majeure had continued for sixty days, despite Sequitur’s continued efforts to
procure such services. Accordingly, Sequitur notified Maalt of Sequitur’s right to terminate the
Agreement. Specifically, Sequitur relied on the “Termination for Extended Force Majeure”
provision in the Agreement, which provides, in pertinent part, that “[b]y written notice to the other
Party, a Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement prior to the end of the Term if the
Parties are unable to fulfill the purposes of this Agreement due to Force Majeure for a period equal
to or greater than (a) (60) consecutive Days.” See Agreement, § 8.4. The February 8, 2019 notice
also noted that Sequitur would be contacting Maalt to discuss and coordinate the removal of
Sequitur’s equipment and facilities installed at the Terminal (Customer Terminal Modifications).
See Agreement, §§ 2.5 and 2.7 (describing, upon termination of the Agreement, Sequitur’s “right
of access over, on, and across” the lands upon which the Terminal was located for “purposes of
enforcing” Sequitur’s “rights under this Agreement” to remove the Customer Terminal
Modifications, and also acknowledging Sequitur’s undisputed “title to and ownership of” such
Customer Terminal Modifications).

Notably, as to Sequitur’s notice of Termination for Extended Force Majeure, the
Agreement further provided that “[f]ollowing the giving of such notice, neither Party shall have
any further obligations to the other Party under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, with
respect to the Minimum Volume Commitment),” which included any obligation to pay any
Shortfall Payment, Throughput Fee, or any other fee or payment. See Agreement, §§ 8.4, 3.1, and
3.2.

On or about February 14, 2019, an attorney for Maalt sent a letter dated February 14, 2019
to Sequitur, which disputed that the Force Majeure event had occurred but without any reference
to evidence to the contrary and only a conclusory unfounded assertion of pretext. The letter also
included a copy of the Original Petition filed in this case by Maalt on February 13, 2019, at 5:00
p.m. Significantly, the letter also stated that “Maalt will not allow your company access to the
Barnhart property [ Terminal] to remove equipment or otherwise” and that “[a]ny attempt to access
the property will be considered a trespass.” Notably absent from the letter was any reference to
any terms in the Agreement or legal authority that permitted Maalt to refuse Sequitur access to the
property to retrieve Sequitur’s equipment and facilities or that suggested Sequitur’s undisputed
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“right of access over, on, and across” the property or Terminal for “purposes of enforcing”
Sequitur’s “rights under this Agreement,” including removing and retrieving Sequitur’s equipment
and facilities, had been terminated. See Agreement, § 2.5.

On February 22, 2019, Sequitur’s attorney sent a letter to Maalt’s attorney, responding to
the February 14, 2019 letter noted above. In the letter, Sequitur’s attorney reiterated that Sequitur
had properly terminated the Agreement. Most significantly, however, the letter explained that
earlier on February 22, 2019, Sequitur had learned that its equipment had wrongfully been
removed, stolen, and misappropriated from the Terminal by Maalt, without notice or warning.
Sequitur learned that its equipment and facilities were removed to a location approximately 25
miles away from the Terminal and on real property that Sequitur does not have an express right of
access, like it does with respect to the Terminal per the terms of the Agreement. The letter also
demanded that Sequitur’s equipment and facilities be returned to Sequitur by no later than
February 25,2019, at 5:00 p.m. Despite Sequitur’s letter and demand, Maalt never responded nor
returned Sequitur’s equipment. And Maalt has otherwise failed and refused to honor its obligations
under the Agreement with respect to Sequitur’s rights and access to its equipment and facilities
and all other rights that Sequitur has under the Agreement.

Sequitur’s equipment and facilities, wrongfully removed, stolen, and misappropriated by
Maalt, is valued at approximately $2,576,505.21 in the aggregate, if not more, and includes
numerous devices, components, and items. Because Sequitur does not have legal access to the
property where Maalt has currently relocated Sequitur’s equipment and facilities, Sequitur cannot
properly secure and protect such equipment and facilities from damage, corrosion, vandalism, or
a subsequent theft by persons other than Maalt. Additionally, without immediate access to its
equipment and facilities, Sequitur cannot retrieve the equipment and facilities and use it for other
business opportunities, should they arise. Simply put, the harm being suffered by Maalt’s
wrongfully removing, stealing, and misappropriating Sequitur’s equipment is irreparable and
immeasurable.

Per Rule 37, Sequitur seeks nonmonetary relief, including declaratory, ancillary, and
injunctive (including prohibitive and mandatory) relief, and additionally, or in the alternative, to
such relief, monetary relief of over $1,000,000.00.

Sequitur and Maalt entered into the Agreement. Sequitur properly terminated the
Agreement, while retaining certain rights under the Agreement. Despite the foregoing, Maalt
breached the Agreement. Maalt’s breach has caused Sequitur injury.

Pursuant to Chapter 37 of the Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code, known as the Texas
Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act (hereafter “UDJA”), the parties have a dispute about their
rights and obligations under the Agreement. Sequitur seeks a declaratory judgment from this
Court, as follows:

(1) No Terminal Operations Commencement Date ever occurred;
(2) On December 7, 2018, Sequitur properly sent notice of a Force Majeure, and such
Force Majeure existed;
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(3) On February 8, 2019, Sequitur properly sent notice terminating the Agreement because
a Force Majeure existed for at least sixty days;

(4) Effective February 8, 2019, the Agreement was terminated by Force Majeure;

(5) Sequitur neither owes nor owed a payment of any kind to Maalt under the Agreement;

(6) Sequitur has the exclusive right and title to the equipment and facilities it installed at
the Terminal, and that Maalt wrongfully removed, stolen, and misappropriated such equipment
and facilities; and

(7) Sequitur has the right to retrieve its equipment and facilities from any location where
Maalt has placed such equipment and facilities.

Sequitur owns and has the right to immediate possession of the equipment and facilities
that it installed at the Terminal. The equipment and facilities are personal property. Maalt
wrongfully exercised dominion and control of such property by refusing to allow Sequitur to
retrieve such property from the Terminal, by wrongfully removing, stealing, and misappropriating
Sequitur’s property and placing it at a location approximately 25 miles from the Terminal, and by
refusing to return Sequitur’s property to the Terminal upon remand or otherwise continuing to
refuse Sequitur’s access to its property. As a result of Maalt’s acts and/or omissions, Sequitur has
suffered injury.

Sequitur owns and has the right to immediate possession of the equipment and facilities
that it installed at the Terminal. The equipment and facilities are personal property. Maalt
unlawfully appropriated, secured, and/or stole Sequitur’s property. Maalt’s unlawful taking was
made with the intent to deprive Sequitur to its property and/or to engage in an unlawful attempt to
circumvent the law and the parties’ Agreement by effectively conducting an unauthorized pre-trial
sequestration of Sequitur’s property, despite Maalt lacking any right, title, or interest in such
property, as a matter of law. As a result of Maalt’s theft, Sequitur has suffered injury.

(@ The amount and any method of calculating economic damages;
RESPONSE:
This will be supplemented upon further discovery.

(e) The name, address and telephone number of persons having knowledge of relevant
facts, and a brief statement of each identified persons connection with the case;

BP Energy Company
Michael Porter

Off: (713) 323-4997
Cell: (832) 350-1646

BP Energy Company and its employees and representatives may have knowledge of
whether rail services were available.

EnMark Services, Inc.
Spencer Falls, President
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Derek Jones

1700 Pacific Ave, Ste. 2660
Dallas, TX 75201

Off: (214) 965-9581

Fax: (214) 965-9593

Fusion Industries, LLC
Rick Sosa, Principal

P.O. Box 16340
Oklahoma City, OK 73113
Off: (405) 772-7100

Fax: (405) 730-8086

JET Specialty, Inc.
Chad Darter, VP
211 Market Ave.
Boerne, TX 78006

Jupiter MLP, LLC

Paul Ashy (713) 530-5616

Noah L. Carson

Ken Douglas, CFO

Nathan Ford, Operations Manager (281) 220-9319
Alishia Harris, Settlements (281) 782-7106
Mark Kohutek (972) 741-7806

Caleb Miller (806) 202-2174

Travis Morris, CCO (409) 771-6697
Pedro Ortega (832) 562-8896

Marlen Ozuna, Master Data Analyst

Joey Sullivan, Customer Service Manager/Crude Oil Scheduler (832) 221-63
Dallas office:

15851 Dallas Parkway, Suite 650
Addison, TX 75001

Houston office:

440 Louisiana St., Suite 700

Houston, TX 77002

(713) 600-1600

Odessa office:

2970 South US Hwy. 385

Odessa, TX 79766

Jupiter MLLP, LLC and its employees and representatives have knowledge of the subject
project, including whether rail services were available.
Macquarie Energy North America Trading, Inc.
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Lee Gaunt, Associate Director
Nathan Morris

Mauricio Ramirez

500 Dallas St., Suite 3300
Houston, Texas 77002

Off: (713) 275-6100

Fax: (713) 275-6369

Macquarie Energy North America Trading, Inc. and its employees and representatives may
have knowledge of Jupiter MLP, LLC and its efforts to secure rail services.

Murex, Ltd.

Robert Wright

7160 N. Dallas Pkwy., Ste 300
Plano, TX 75024

Off: (972) 735-3382

Cell: (214) 883-0208

Murex, Ltd. and its employees and representatives may have knowledge of whether rail
services were available.

R & N Trenching, Inc.
Richard Baumann, President
P.O. Box 85

7416 E. US Hwy. 67
Mertzon, TX 76941-0085
Off: (325) 835-7098

Ridetite VSP Technologies

James E. B Frew, Director Transportation Strategic Accounts
Kingsport Office:

3905 Hemlock Park Dr.

Kingsport, TN 37663

Off: (423) 765-9171

Cell: (423) 360-2979

Fax: (804) 452-1251

SafeRack LLC

Curtis Bollinger

John Edwards

Cody Harris

Michele Thompson, Contract Manager
Dan Wiegand

219 Safety Avenue

Andrews, SC 29510

Off: (803) 883-0796
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Fax: (803) 774-7233

SEM Operating Company, LLC
Steve McVay (713) 395-3007

Charlie Odom, Sr. VP (713) 395-3003
10375 Richmond Ave., Ste. 292
Houston, TX 77042

Fax: (713) 395-3099

Two Briarlake Plaza

2050 W. Sam Houston Pkwy. S., Suite 1850
Houston, TX 77042

and

218 N. College Ave.

Tyler, TX 75702

Attn: MSA Department

(903) 526-5800

Sequitur Energy

Alan Aronowitz, Legal Consultant

Off: (713) 395-3000

Mike van den Bold

Blake Cantley

Scott Josey

Braden Merrill, VP & CFO

Off: (713) 395-3008

Rudy Ortiz, Oil Measurement Foremen (Barnhart), Off: (325) 876-5902
Russ Perry, Health Safety & Environmental Manager, Off: (713) 395-3014
David Pharaoh

Sammy Reed

Katy Silva, Financial Reporting Manager
Tony Wroten

Michael Ybarra

Rocky Boggs

Derek Davis

Nicholas Eldridge

Collin Johansen

Neil Wheat

Two Briarlake Plaza

2050 W. Sam Houston Pkwy. S., Suite 1850
Houston, TX 77042

Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff Sequitur Energy and its employees and representatives have
knowledge of the subject contract and project, including whether rail services were
available.
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Shell

Charles Daigle
Glenn Gray

Javier Hinojosa
Cody Rich
Benjamin Thompson

Shell its employees and representatives may have knowledge of whether rail services were
available.

Surber Holdings, LLC
Jason Surber, President
P.O.Box 70

Sonora, TX 76950

Off: (325) 387-3506
Fax: (325) 387-3535

Texas-Pacifico Transportation, Ltd.
Jorge Gonzalez

Stan Meador, VP of Sales & Marketing
Denise Melling

Chad Walter

106 S. Chadbourne Street

San Angelo, TX 76903

Off: (325) 942-8164

Texas-Pacifico Transportation, Ltd. and its employees and representatives may have
knowledge of whether rail services were available.

Tom Thorp Transports, Inc.

Esther P. Thorp, President

P.O. Box 523

Mertzon, TX 76941

Off: (325) 835-4091

Fax: (325) 835-2147

Tom Thorp Transports, Inc. and its employees and representatives may have knowledge of
whether rail services were available.

Vista Proppants and Logistics
Maalt, LP

Chris Favors

(682) 251-5538

David Goodwin
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B. Hecht

Jon Ince

Ben Keith

Brandon McFall
Audra Massey

Marty Robertson

4413 Carey Street
Fort Worth, TX 76119
(682) 252-1716

Vista Proppants and Logistics and Defendant Maalt, LP and their employees and
representatives have knowledge of the subject contract and project, including whether rail
services were available.

Valero
Daniel Willmann
Valero and its employees and representatives may have knowledge of whether rail services

were available.

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
Kimberly D. Bose, Secretary
Washington, DC 20426

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission and its employees and representatives may have
knowledge of whether Sequitur met all regulatory requirements.

RESPONSE:
® For any testifying experts:
¢)) The expert’s name, address and telephone number;
2) The subject matter on which the expert will testify;
3) The general substance of the expert’s mental impressions and opinions and
a brief summary of the basis for them, or if the expert is not retained by,
employed by or otherwise subject to the control of the responding party,

documents reflecting such information;

@) If the expert is retained by, employed by or otherwise subject to the control
of the responding party:
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(A)  All documents, tangible things, reports, models or data compilations that
have been provided to, reviewed by or prepared by or for the expert in
anticipation of the experts’ testimony; and

(B)  The experts current resume or bibliography;
RESPONSE:

Matthew A. Kornhauser

Dylan B. Russell

Hoover Slovacek LLP

5051 Westheimer Rd., Suite 1200
Houston, Texas 77056
713-977-8686

Without waiving the attorney-client privileges and attorney work-product privileges, either
Mr. Kornhauser or Mr. Russell, or both, will testify in their expert capacity to the reasonable and
necessary attorneys’ fees incurred in this proceeding by all parties. Their opinions as to the
reasonableness and necessity of attorneys’ fees incurred by the Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff from
Hoover Slovacek LLP to date, and that are to be incurred through the trial before the 51st Judicial
District of Irion County and on any appeal or original proceeding, if any, will be based on
considering the factors below, as well as the work done by Hoover Slovacek LLP, the redacted
bills of Hoover Slovacek LLP, which will be produced, and their knowledge of this case and their
education, training, and experience:

the novelty and difficulty of the questions involved and the skill requisite to
perform the legal services properly;

the likelihood that the acceptance of the particular employment would preclude
other employment by the respective firm or attorney;

the fee customarily charged in the locality for similar legal services;

the dollar amount involved and the results obtained;

the time limitations imposed by the client or the circumstances;

the nature and length of the professional relationship that respective firm or
attorney has had with the client; and

the experience, reputation and ability of respective firm or attorney.

At this time, neither Mr. Kornhauser nor Mr. Russell have reached any opinions yet
regarding the reasonableness or necessity of either parties’ trial attorney’s fees. As to appellate
fees, in the event of any petitions for writ of mandamus to the court of appeals, Mr. Russell
anticipates and opines that Defendant will incur $30,400 in attorney’s fees (for 80 hours at a rate
of $380/hour) for briefing on such a petition for each such petition, which is a reasonable and
necessary amount. In the event of an interlocutory appeal or an appeal to the court of appeals after
a trial, Mr. Russell anticipates and opines that Defendant will incur $45,600 in attorney’s fees (for
120 hours at a rate of $380/hour) for briefing on such an appeal, which is a reasonable and
necessary amount. In the event oral arguments are made to the court of appeals in either a petition
for writ of mandamus or an any appeal, Mr. Russell anticipates and opines that Defendant will
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incur $22,800 in attorney’s fees (for 60 hours at a rate of $380/hour) for each such oral argument,
which is a reasonable and necessary amount. In the event any motion for rehearing or motion for
rehearing en banc to the court of appeals, Mr. Russell anticipates and opines that Defendant will
incur an additional $15,200 fees (for 40 hours at a rate of $380/hour) in attorney’s fees for each
such motion or any response if one is filed by the Plaintiff, which is a reasonable and necessary
amount. In the event of a petition for review to the Texas Supreme Court, Mr. Russell anticipates
and opines that Defendant will incur an additional $22,800 in attorney’s fees (for 60 hours at a rate
of $380/hour) for a petition for review or response and an additional $30,400 in attorney’s fees
(for 80 hours at a rate of $380/hour) for a brief on the merits or a response, which are reasonable
and necessary amounts. In the event oral arguments are made to the Texas Supreme Court, Mr.
Russell anticipates and opines that Defendant will incur an additional $30,400 (for 80 hours at a
rate of $380/hour) in attorney’s fees, which is a reasonable and necessary amount. In the event
any motion for rehearing to the Texas Supreme Court, whether at the petition stage or on a cause,
Mr. Russell anticipates and opines that Defendant will incur an additional $15,200 fees (for 40
hours at a rate of $380/hour) in attorney’s fees for each such motion or response, which is a
reasonable and necessary amount.

The opinion as to the reasonableness and necessity, if such be the case, of attorneys’ fees
incurred by Plaintiff, through their attorneys, if any, will also be based on the above factors a.
through g., and potentially the work done by Plaintiff’s attorneys, the bills of Plaintiff’s attorneys,
and their knowledge of this case and their education, training, and experience. At this time, neither
Mr. Kornhauser nor Mr. Russell have an opinion as to Plaintiff’s attorney’s fees since documents
(including invoices) showing what fees have been incurred by Plaintiff, if any, have not yet been
produced by Plaintiff. Mr. Kornhauser and Mr. Russell reserve the right to provide such an opinion
upon review of such documents (including invoices) and other relevant discovery.

Defendant incorporates herein by reference the experts’ current résumés, which are found
at the following webpages:

https://hooverslovacek.com/attorneys/matthew-a-kornhauser/

https://hooverslovacek.com/attorneys/dylan-b-russell/

(g) Produce copies of any discoverable indemnity and insurance agreements;
RESPONSE:
None.

(h) Produce copies of any discoverable settlement agreements;

RESPONSE:
None.

(i) Produce copies of any discoverable witness statement;
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RESPONSE:
See documents produced in response to Request for Production.

) In a suit alleging physical or mental injury and damages from the occurrence that
is the subject of the case, all medical records and bills that are reasonably related to
the injuries or damages asserted or, in lieu thereof, an authorization permitting the
disclosure of such medical records and bills;

RESPONSE:
Not applicable.

k) In a suit alleging physical or mental injury and damages from the occurrence that
is the subject of the case, all medical records and bills obtained by the responding
party by virtue of an authorization furnished by the requesting party.

RESPONSE:
Not applicable.

1)) The name, address, and telephone number of any person who may be designated as
a responsible third party.

RESPONSE:

None known at this time.
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Respectfully submitted,
HOOVER SLOVACEK LLP

By: /s/ Dylan B. Russell
Matthew A. Kornhauser
State Bar No. 11684500
Dylan B. Russell
State Bar No. 24041839
Galleria Tower 11
5051 Westheimer, Suite 1200
Houston, Texas 77056
Telephone: 713-977-8686
Facsimile: 713-977-5395
kornhauser@hooverslovacek.com
russell@hooverslovacek.com

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT/COUNTER-
PLAINTIFF, SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LL.C

and

GOSSETT, HARRISON,
MILLICAN & STIPANOVIC, P.C.

Paul D. Stipanovic

State Bar No. 00795669
Galleria Tower II

2 S. Koenigheim Street
San Angelo, Texas 76903
Telephone: 325-653-3291
Facsimile: 325-655-6838
pauls@ghtxlaw.com

CO-COUNSEL FOR
DEFENDANT/COUNTER-PLAINTIFF,
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this, the 6th day of June 2019, a true and correct copy of the
foregoing document was served via e-service, to all counsel of record as follows:

James Lanter

JAMES LANTER, PC

560 N. Walnut Creek, Suite 120
Mansfield, Texas 76063

Paul O. Wickes

WICKES LAW, PLLC

5600 Tennyson Parkway, Suite 205
Plano, Texas 75024

Samuel S. Allen

Jackson Walker LLP

135 W. Twohig Avenue, Suite C
San Angelo, Texas 76093

/s/ Dylan B. Russell
Dylan B. Russell
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irley

District Clerk
Irion County, Texas

Ashley Masters
CAUSE NO. CV19-003

MAALT, LP, § IN THE DISTRICT COURT
Plaintiff, §
§
V. § IRION COUNTY, TEXAS
§
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, §
Defendant. § 515T JUDICIAL DISTRICT

SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC’S NOTICE OF PARTIAL NONSUIT

COMES NOW, Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff/Third-Party  Plaintiff, SEQUITUR
PERMIAN, LLC (“Sequitur”), in the above-numbered and styled cause of action, files this its
Notice of Partial Nonsuit Without Prejudice pursuant to Texas Rule of Civil Procedure 162, with
respect to only its claim of conversion against Plaintiff, Maalt, LP (“Maalt”) and Third-Party

Defendant, Vista Proppants and Logistics, Inc. (“Vista”).
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Respectfully submitted,
HOOVER SLOVACEK LLP

/s/ Matthew A. Kornhauser
Matthew A. Kornhauser

State Bar No. 11684500
Dylan B. Russell

State Bar No. 24041839
Christopher J. Kronzer

State Bar No. 24060120
Galleria Tower 11

5051 Westheimer, Suite 1200
Houston, Texas 77056
Telephone: 713-977-8686
Facsimile: 713-977-5395
kornhauser(zhooverslovacek.com
russell @hooverslovacek.com
kronzer@hooverslovacek.com

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT/COUNTER-
PLAINTIFF, SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC

and

GOSSETT, HARRISON,
MILLICAN & STIPANOVIC, P.C.

Paul Stipanovic

State Bar No. 00795669
2 S. Koenigheim Street
San Angelo, Texas 76903
Telephone: 325-653-3291
Facsimile: 325-655-6838
paulsi@ghtxlaw.com

CO-COUNSEL FOR DEFENDANT/COUNTER-
PLAINTIFF, SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this, the 3rd day of March 2020, a true and correct copy of the
foregoing document was served via e-service to all counsel of record as follows:

James Lanter

JAMES LANTER, PC

560 N. Walnut Creek, Suite 120
Mansfield, Texas 76063

Paul O. Wickes

WICKES LAW, PLLC

5600 Tennyson Parkway, Suite 205
Plano, Texas 75024

Samuel S. Allen

JACKSON WALKER

135 West Twohig Avenue, Suite C
San Angelo, Texas 76903

/s/ Matthew A. Kornhauser
Matthew A. Kormhauser
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irley Graham

District Clerk
Irion County, Texas

Ashley Masters
CAUSE NO. CV19-003

MAALT, LP, § IN THE DISTRICT COURT
Plaintiff, §
§
V. § IRION COUNTY, TEXAS
§
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, §
Defendant. § 515T JUDICIAL DISTRICT
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC’S

RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFF MAALT L.P. AND
THIRD-PARTY DEFENDANT VISTA PROPPANTS AND LOGISTICS INC.’S
PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

COMES NOW, Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff/Third-Party  Plaintiff, =SEQUITUR
PERMIAN, LLC (“Sequitur’), in the above styled and numbered cause and file this Response to
Plaintiff Maalt, LP and Third-Party Defendant Vista Proppants and Logistics, Inc.’s Partial Motion
for Summary Judgment and in support thereof would show unto the Court, as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. Sequitur will show herein that it was reasonable for Sequitur to rely on
Maalt/Vista’s promise that it would connect Sequitur with parties who could provide the railcars
and trains necessary to fulfill the Terminal Service Agreement between the Parties.

BACKGROUND

2. Sequitur is in the crude oil production business, with a couple hundred wells over
an approximately 500 acres in and around Barnhart, Texas.! In May 2018, a differential existed
in the price of crude oil in the Midland Basin versus the Gulf Coast that presented an arbitrage

opportunity.? Sequitur contacted Vista Proppants and Logistics, Inc. (“Vista”), of which the

! Exhibit A, Deposition of Braden Merrill, pg., 53, In. 13 —pg. 54, In. 16.
2[d. at pg. 26, In. 14 — pg. 27, In. 21., pg. 31, Ins. 2-14.
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Plaintiff Maalt, LP (“Maalt”)("Maalt/Vista” collectively) is an affiliate about utilizing their
transloading facility in Barnhart, Texas to ship crude oil to the Gulf Coast by rail. The purpose of
obtaining a transloading facility would be to transfer crude oil that is delivered to the facility by
trucks or via pipeline into train railcars, which is an efficient, cost-effective, and safe way to
transport crude oil to refineries near the Louisiana Gulf Coast.

3. In May 2018, Sequitur had initial discussions with an employee of Vista regarding
a rail depot that Maalt owned in Barnhart, Texas that could be converted into the crude-by-rail
transloading facility (the “Terminal™) to which Sequitur sought access.’ During the May 2018
discussions, Sequitur made it clear that it was seeking to procure the services of Maalt’s terminal
on an exclusive basis for the shipment of Sequitur’s crude oil to take advantage of a steep discount
as to the barrels sold in the Midland Basin as compared to those sold on the Louisiana Gulf Coast.*
Therefore, if Sequitur or its downstream oil buyers could sell barrels of oil for more on the
Louisiana Gulf Coast (less transport costs) than they could sell barrels of oil for in Midland, Texas,
additional earnings would be achieved.’

4. Sequitur made it clear to Maalt that it was inexperienced with rail transportation
and securing rail cars to transport crude from the Barnhart Terminal to the Gulf Coast.® To alleviate
the inexperience factor, Maalt, through its representatives, Chris Favors and Jon Ince, promised
Sequitur during discussions with Braden Merrill, VP & CFO of Sequitur, and Mike van den Bold,
President of Sequitur’, that Maalt would be able to connect Sequitur with parties who could provide

the necessary rail cars and rail service at the Terminal:

3 Exhibit A, pg. 17, Ins. 5-17, pg. 26, In. 13 — pg. 27, In. 6 & Exhibit D, Deposition of John Ince, pg. 15, In. 3 — 15
4 Exhibit A & Exhibit D, pg. 18, lns. 10— 17.

5 Exhibit A, pg. 26, In. 13 —pg. 27, 1n. 6

6 Exhibit C, Deposition of Chris Favors, pg. 68, In. 20 — pg. 69, In. 5.

7 Mr. Favors admitted to negotiating with Mr. Merrill and Mr. van den Bold initially prior to the execution of any
agreement or letter of intent. J/d. at pg. 71, Ins. 10 — 16.

SEQUITUR’S RESPONSE TO MAALT/VISTA’S PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT Page | 2
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Q. (Mr. Wickes) Okay. From a factual standpoint, what do you
contend that Vista or Maalt did that should cause it
to have to pay Sequitur damages for electing to go
forward with the contract?

A. (Mr. Van Den Bold) Well. Long before we even signed the TSA in our
discussions with Maalt, you know, they made
representations that they were rail experts, their
employees had worked for the railroads, that they
could help us get a deal done, that they had
relationships, they had the expertise, that they
could help, you know, help coordinate and
collaborate to get these contracts in place, to help
get the deal done, and they weren’t able to do

things they promised.?

Q. Okay. Did they promise to do anything other than
help?

A, The — the — I mean, the promises they made is that

they — they were experts and knew the business,
the rail by — sand by rail, and had relationship.
And - yeah they would help us — get this venture

off the ground.’
sk
Q. Okay. And — and I want to go back and make sure

I’'ve got everything of the - the general
representations that are the basis for the
counterclaim. One was that they are rail experts and
that some of their employees are former rail and
worked for railroad?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. The other was that they would assist in getting
a deal done?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay And getting a deal done, what all does that
include?

8 Exhibit B, Deposition of Mike Van den Bold, pg. 10, Ins. 4 — 16.
9Id., pg. 11, Ins. 1-7.

SEQUITUR’S RESPONSE TO MAALT/VISTA’S PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT Page | 3
{171480/00002/01393690.DOCX 1 }

Removal Appendix 0209



Case 20-04064-elm Doc 1-1 Filed 09/04/20 Entered 09/04/20 10:53:27 Page 210 of 862

A, Well, the getting the deal done, Sequitur needed
an arrangement where somebody that had rail
cars, that had rates and volumes and contract
with the railroads to get from Barnhart to the
Gulf Coast.!’

5. Shortly after the first contacts were made, on May 9, 2018, Jon Ince reached out to
Sequitur to inform them of an individual name Jonas Struthers who could “get [Sequitur] cars that
you need:”

Q. (Mr. Lanter) Now on the second paragraph he says, “Let me
introduce Jonas Struthers, the railcar guy I
mentioned to you on our call.” He said, He has been
a great partner for me in the past with our sand cars. ..
and I am sure he will be able to get you the cars that
you need for your fleet. I'm sure he can get you cars
that you need at a really good rate. He has done
amazing work for me in the past.” Did you
understand that Mr. Ince was just simply telling you
about his experience with Jonas Struthers?

Mpr. Kornhauser: Objection form.

A. (Mr. Merrill) I understood that he said that Jonas could get us
cars if we needed it.!!

Mr. Favors confirmed that these connections were made because Maalt knew that Sequitur was
inexperienced in the rail industry:

Q. (Mr. Kornhauser) But this — then why is Mr. Ince introducing his rail
guy to Braden Merrill and Tony early on?

A. (Mr. Favors) Yeah, because Sequitur, you know, made it clear
that they had no rail experience. Right? So that
was an introduction to a guy who could help them
acquire those railcars."”

10 74, at pg. 14, In. 22 — pg. 15, In. 12.
It Exhibit A, pg. 107, In. 15 — pg. 108, In. 4 & Exhibit D-1.
12 Exhibit C, pg. 69, Ins. 17 -22.

SEQUITUR’S RESPONSE TO MAALT/VISTA’S PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT Page | 4
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6. On June 1, 2018, Sequitur and Vista entered into a Letter of Intent (“LOI”)
regarding the use of the Terminal to continue with their investigation into the feasibility of an
agreement to lease the terminal to transport crude by rail.!* The LOI reflected the parties’ intent,
but not obligation, to enter into a Terminal Services Agreement (“TSA”) for a term of September
2018 to December 2019 for Sequitur to utilize the Barnhart Terminal to ship crude by rail.'*

7. After the execution of the LOI, Mr. Favors emailed Mr. Merrill and Travis Morris,
the Chief Commercial Officer of Jupiter Marketing & Trading LLC (“Jupiter”), concerning Vista
working with both Sequitur and Jupiter regarding the Terminal.!> Mr. Favors testified this
introduction was just another connection because “Sequitur had no rail experience... so the
introduction was there to Jupiter to facilitate the logistics side of it” meaning “acquiring railcars,
getting rates, moving railcars, making sure service was there.”'®

8. After an initial meeting between Sequitur and Jupiter, Mr. Ince confirmed to Mr.
Merrill that Jupiter could get them the necessary railcars:

Q. (Mr. Lanter) Okay. And so I take it by that that you verified that
they were a company that you would be willing to
do business with independently of anything that
Chris Favors or John Ince may have told you?

A. (Mr. Merrill) Not exactly. Actually, Jon told me that — that he
had called around to his railroad contacts and
that Jupiter was a — the real deal in terms of
being able to get it done. They had the rates.

They were able to get cars and that we should go
with those guys.!”

13 Exhibit A, pg. 251, Ins. 2-6 & Exhibit A-1.
“1d.

15 Exhibit B-1.

16 Exhibit C, pg. 84, In. 25 —pg. 85, In. 12.

17 Exhibit A, pg. 46, Ins. 9 — 18.

SEQUITUR’S RESPONSE TO MAALT/VISTA’S PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT Page | 5
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Mr. Wroten, Senior Finance Associate of Sequitur, confirmed that during Maalt/Vista -Sequitur
negotiations Mr. Ince promised that Jupiter would deliver the trains:

Q. (Mr. Wickes) What specifically do you recall that was said by John
Ince regarding Jupiter’s capability?

A. (Mr. Wroten) We had — you know, I guess this was back in July,
August, time frame, it was our preference to work
with Shell at the time. We had been introduced to
Jupiter by, you know, the Vista guys, Jon and
Chris, and you know, we had initial conversations
with them. It just seems like there were promising
the world and you know, we were kind of
distrustful of them. So we, you know, in our
conversations with Jon, we wanted to get their
take on — on their ability and their — their — their
capabilities, you know, and he was fully endorsing
their ability to do it. And that — you know, we kind
of relied on that and you know, that — that helped
us feel, you know, get some comfort around
potentially doing something with Jupiter if things
with Shell didn’t — didn’t pan out.!®

0. From late June, and during July, and the first week of August 2018, Maalt/Vista
and Sequitur continued to discuss the TSA for the exclusive use of the Terminal in Barnhart.
During these negotiations, Mr. Merrill testified that Maalt/Vista continued to promise that Jupiter
could provide the contact to get Sequitur rail:

Q. (Mr. Lanter) Okay. During the whole course of events you have
never came [sic] across anything in this contract
otherwise that obligated Maalt to procure trains or
rail services or rates for your company?

Mr. Kornhauser: Objection form.

A. (Mr. Merrill) I don’t remember it in this contract. I remember
never discussing them getting us rates, but that
they offered to help us get — or help us with the

logistics and understanding the railroad and with
connection to people inside the railroads.!®

18 Fxhibit E, pg. 34, In. 12 —pg. 35, In. 3.
19 Exhibit A, pg, 25, Ins. 13 - 22.

SEQUITUR’S RESPONSE TO MAALT/VISTA’S PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT Page | 6
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skeek
Q. (Mr. Kornhauser) Okay. What do you recall specifically, as best you
can, being told by Mr. Favors or Mr. Ince in that
regards?
A. (Mr. Merrill) I remember with railcars -- this is just in regards

to railcars?

Yes, sir.

That he represented the he could help us find
railcars or put us in contact with people who

could find railcars.

Q. And did he tell you that trains and railcars were
available?

Mr. Lanter:  Objection, form.

A. He said it would be a difficult thing to do but that
we could — but that we could do it*°

ook

Q. Okay. And you said the — when did those
representations that your lawyers asked you about
take place, was that May and June?

A. That was May and June through — through the
sioning of the TSA.*!

10. Then, on August 3, 2018, Mr. Favors emailed Mr. Merrill and Mr. Mike van den
Bold, pressuring Sequitur to execute the TSA.?? Favors stated “I am receiving heavy pressure to
get the agreement fully executed” and that “[w]e have been offered slightly better terms from

[an]other party that said they will execute an agreement today.” At the time, Mr. Merrill

20 Id. at pg. 246, 1In. 13 —pg. 247, In. 1.

21 Exhibit A, pg. 249, In. 23 —pg. 150, In. 2.

22 Exhibit C-2.

23 14 Mr. Favors admitted that this email was sent just to pressure Sequitur as there was in fact no other purchaser as
represented. Exhibit C, pg. 127, In. 25 — pg. 128, In. 13.

SEQUITUR’S RESPONSE TO MAALT/VISTA’S PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT Page | 7
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informed Mr. Favors that he had not yet had a commitment from any joint venture partner to
provide rail cars to the Terminal.>* Mr. Favors recalls telling Mr. Merrill that if Sequitur needs a
partner to provide the railcars that Jupiter was a “prospect ... [for] helping with logistics.”> Mr.
Merrill informed Sequitur that he was in talks with Shell as a joint venture partner and if that did
not go through then Sequitur would turn to Jupiter.?® Mr. Merrill was relying on Mr. Ince in making
this decision because without the promises of Mr. Ince, Mr. Merrill would not have believed that
Jupiter could get the railcars and the transportation rates:

Q. (Mr. Lanter) Sure. The — the thrust of your decision to go ahead

and move forward with Jupiter was based on your
own due diligence and research into that company,

wasn’t it?
Mpyr. Kornhauser: Objection form.
A. (Mr. Merrill) Well it was that and what Jon had said about his
due diligence.
Q. Okay. Now, if Jon hadn’t told you that would you

have done business with Jupiter based on what you
found about them doing your own research and

diligence?
A, Probably not.”’
11.  In reliance on the promises that Maalt’s logistics would help facilitate the needed

trains and railcars, Sequitur entered into the TSA with Maalt, with an effective date of August 6,
2018.28 Consistent with the entire premise and purpose of the TSA—that Sequitur would be able

to cost-effectively deliver oil to the Terminal to be transloaded onto railcars that would be

2 Exhibit A, pg. 37, Ins. 14— 24.

5 Exhibit C, pg. 134, Ins. 5-10.

26 Exhibit A, pg. 37, Ins. 14 — 24,

Y Id., pg. 49, Ins. 12 — 23,

28 Sequitur’s intent was not to sign the TSA until they had a contract in place for rail. Exhibit B, pg. 34, Ins. 2-5. But
for the promises made by Maalt/Vista about railcars and train, Sequitur would not have entered in the contract. Exhibit
A, gg. 248, Ins. 3 - 7.

SEQUITUR’S RESPONSE TO MAALT/VISTA’S PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT Page | 8
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delivered to the Louisiana Gulf Coast refineries—throughout the TSA references are made to
“railcars” as well as a reference to the “train loading area.”®® Thus, it was expressly made clear to
and understood by both parties that without access to trains and railcars on a viable basis, the
essential purpose of the TSA was for naught.

12.  The TSA provided that Maalt would provide the labor, supervision, and materials
necessary to deliver, handle, measure, and redeliver (hereinafter “transload”) the oil to Sequitur or
to Sequitur’s third-party customers. Sequitur would have the exclusive rights to use the Terminal
for transloading oil. In order to facilitate the transloading into railcars of oil that was delivered by
truck, Sequitur, at its sole cost and significant expense, installed equipment and facilities at the
Terminal, which was described in the Agreement as the “Phase I Project.” Sequitur made this
investment and incurred these costs in reliance on Vista/Maalt’s promises that Sequitur would be
able to have access to sufficient trains, rail cars and other means to transport the crude oil via rail
as referenced in the Agreement.*

13.  In very general terms and subject to numerous terms and conditions, in exchange
for Maalt’s operation of the Terminal and its transloading of oil exclusively for Sequitur, further
conditioned upon the occurrence of the Terminal Operations Commencement Date, Maalt would
be paid at least a minimum payment (the “Shortfall Payment”) depending on the amount of oil
actually transloaded through the Terminal.’! Any obligation for Sequitur to pay the Shortfall

Payment, however, was expressly made subject to “the terms of this Agreement, including . . .

29 Exhibit B-1.
30 Exhibit A, pg. 247, In. 23 — pg. 248, In. 1.
3! Exhibit B-1 at § 3.2.

SEQUITUR’S RESPONSE TO MAALT/VISTA’S PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT Page | 9
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Force Majeure.”*? Importantly, in the event of a Force Majeure, any obligation of Sequitur to
make payments to Maalt only existed for oil “actually Throughput at the Terminal.**?

14.  Despite Vista/Maalt’s promises to Sequitur that Sequitur would be able to secure
sufficient numbers of trains and rail cars and at a really good rate, and Vista/Maalt’s introduction
to Sequitur of Vista/Maalt’s agents, who were self-professed “railcar guys”, it became obvious
that said promises were false. Specifically, sufficient trains, rail cars, and other means of
transporting crude oil via rail were not readily available to Sequitur. In fact, there became an
unavailability, interruption, delay, or curtailment of oil transportation services that were beyond
the control of Sequitur. Therefore, on December 7, 2018, in accordance with the terms of the
Agreement, Sequitur sent written notice to Maalt that Sequitur had declared an existing “Force
Majeure” under the Agreement because of the “unavailability, interruption, delay or curtailment
of rail transportation services” for the oil, “despite continued efforts to procure such services.”*
More specifically, a Force Majeure event occurred because crude oil transportation service (e.g.,
rail service and capacity) to allow for Sequitur’s use of the Terminal for the intended purposes of
the Agreement was not available despite diligent efforts to procure such service and capacity, and
such event of Force Majeure was not within the reasonable control of Sequitur.*® The written notice
also noted that Sequitur anticipated that the Force Majeure event would “continue for the
foreseeable future.” On February 8, 2019, Sequitur sent Maalt/Vista further notice that the Force

Majeure event could not be remedied, and the TSA was terminated per its terms.*

3214 at § 3.1.

3 1d at § 14.1.

34 Exhibit C-2.

35 Exhibit A, pg. 9, Ins 1 - 11, pg. 10, Ins. 4-20.
36 Exhibit A-2.

SEQUITUR’S RESPONSE TO MAALT/VISTA’S PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT Page | 10
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15.  Maalt initiated this lawsuit seeking payment despite the Force Majeure event.
Sequitur has counterclaims for promissory estoppel seeking recoupment of those monies spent on
the Terminal that would not have been expended had Vista/Maalt not promised that train service
was available on viable basis.

SUMMARY JUDGMENT EVIDENCE

EXHIBITS DESCRIPTION
A ' Deposition of Braden Merrill
A-l Letter of Intent
] Exhibit No. 6
| A2 W Notice of Termination of TSA
Exhibit No. 32
B Deposition of Mike Van Den Bold
B-1 Terminal Services Agreement |
Exhibit No. 13 |
‘ C Deposition of Chris Favors
! e e B
C-1 . Email from Favors to Merrill and Morris
' Exhibit No. 7
C-2 Email from Favors to Merrill and Van den Bold
) Exhibit No. 15
‘ c-3 Notice of Force Majeure
Exhibit No. 27
D Deposition of John Ince :

Email from Ince to Merrill regarding Struthers |

| Exhibit No. 2 |
e Ly !
|

‘ E Deposition of Tony Wroten
SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD
16.  Pursuant to Rule 166a(b), a movant must show no genuine issue of material fact

exists in order to be entitled to a summary judgment as a matter of law. Nixon v. Mr. Property

Management Co., 690 S.W.2d 546, 548 (Tex. 1985). The movant has the burden of establishing

SEQUITUR’S RESPONSE TO MAALT/VISTA’S PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT Page | 11
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that no material fact issue exists. M.D. Anderson Hosp. and Tumor Inst. v. Willrich, 28 S.W.3d 22,
23 (Tex. 2000). Trial courts must not weigh the evidence at the summary judgment stage.
Huckabee v. Time Warner Entm’t Co., 19 S.W.3d 413, 422 (Tex. 2000). A trial court’s only duty
at the summary judgment stage is to determine if a fact issue exists. Id.

17. When the defendant asserts a counterclaim, for the plaintiff to be entitled to a
summary judgment, the plaintiff must disprove only one element of the cause of actions asserted
by defendant. Stanfield v. Neubam, 494 S.W.3d 90, 96 (Tex. 2016). If the defendant disproves as
a matter of law one or more essential element of the plaintiff’s cause of action, the defendant is
entitled to a summary judgment unless the plaintiff can either (1) identify a fact issue in the
elements the defendant negated or (2) create a fact issue by producing controverting evidence that
raises a fact issue on one of the elements the defendant negated. /d., 494 S.W.3d at 97.

ARGUMENTS & AUTHORITIES

18.  Sequitur’s live pleading states the following counterclaim and/or third-party claim
for promissory estoppel:

“Vista and Maalt made promises to Sequitur, expressly, either orally or in writing,

and/or or impliedly through Vista’s and Maalt’s conduct, which included the

promises that trains and railcars would be available, including at a reasonable price,

at the right time, and for the right term. Sequitur reasonably relied on Vista’s and

Maalt’s promises to Sequitur’s detriment. Sequitur’s reliance was foresceable by

Vista and Maalt. Injustice can be avoided only by enforcing Vista’s and Maalt’s

promises. In addition, or in the alternative, Sequitur has incurred reliance damages

due to Vista’s and Maalt’s promises, in an amount over $4,000,000. Sequitur seeks

recovery of its damages, interest, court costs, and attorney’s fees.”’

As stated in its claims, Vista/Maalt promised that if Sequitur entered the TSA that railcars

would be available at the Terminal. As expounded upon in the testimony supra, Vista/Maalt

37 See Sequiturs’ Second Amended Counterclaims and First Amended Third-Party Claims.
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promised that Sequitur would be connected to parties that could get railcars and rail service to the
Terminal to fulfill the TSA.

19. Promissory estoppel may be asserted by a plaintiff as an affirmative ground for
relief when a promisee has acted to his detriment in reasonable reliance on an otherwise
unenforceable promise. Wheeler v. White, 398 S.W.2d 93, 96-97 (Tex. 1965)). A claim for
promissory estoppel entails (1) a promise; (2) foreseeability of reliance by the promisor; and (3)
substantial reliance by the promisee to his detriment. English v. Fischer, 660 S.W.2d 521, 524
(Tex. 1983). In its Motion, Maalt argues that (1) there was no promise and (2) there was no
reasonable reliance by Plaintiff.

A. A QUESTION OF FACT EXISTS AS TO WHETHER MAALT/VISTA PROMISED

SEQUITUR THAT ITS CONNECTIONS WOULD BE ABLE TO GET TRAINS TO

SHIP SEQUITUR’S CRUDE OIL FROM THE TERMINAL TO THE GULF
COAST.

20. A promise is a declaration which binds the person who makes it, either in honor,
conscience, or law, to do or forbear a certain specific act, and which gives to the person to whom
made a right to expect or claim the performance of some particular thing. Traco, Inc. v. Arrow
Glass Co., 814 S.W.2d 186, 190 (Tex. App. — San Antonio 1991, writ denied) citing BLACK’S LAW
DICTIONARY 1092 (5th ed. 1979). A promise may be inferred in whole or in part from expressions
other than words on a party of a promisor. Haws & Garrett Gen. Contractors, Inc. v. Gorbett Bros.
Welding Co., 480 S.W.2d 607, 610 (Tex, 1972). In addition, a person’s silence may constitute a
binding promise if, under the circumstances, the person had a duty to speak and did not. “One,
who by speech or conduct induces another to act in a particular manner should not be permitted to
adopt an inconsistent position, attitude, or course of conduct which causes loss or injury to
another." Donaldson v. Lake Community Improvement Ass'n, 718 S.W.2d 815, 818 (Tex. App.-

Corpus Christi 1986, writ ref'd n.r.e.).

SEQUITUR’S RESPONSE TO MAALT/VISTA’S PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT Page | 13
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21.  As stated supra, Vista/Maalt promised that Sequitur would be connected to parties
that could get railcars and rail service to the Terminal to fulfill the TSA. This promise has specific
terms: If Sequitur enters the TSA, Maalt/Vista’s connection will have railcars and train
transportation rates to provide to Sequitur. Maalt’s argues that the promise is too vague but doesn’t
specifically state what information is missing that should be part of the promise.

22. In making this argument, Vista/Maalt relies on Allied Vista, Inc v. Holt, 987 S.W.2d
138, 142 (Tex. App. — Houston [14th Dist.] 1999, pete. Denied) In Allied Vista, the court
determined that a promise to provide “surplus equipment” was not definitive because it did not
identify the specific equipment needed. That is not the case here. The goods needed i.e. “railcars”
and/or “rail service” was definite and known by all parties.

23.  Further, the Third Court of Appeals has held that in a promise for performance by
a third party that the third party need not be specifically identified. In Evers v. Arnold 210 S.W.2d
270, 271 (Tex. Civ. App. — Austin 1948, no writ) a couple was approached by a real estate broker
to entice them to purchase of land. Relying on the promises of the broker that he could obtain them
a loan, the couple entered into a contract with the broker to purchase a parcel of land and deposited
earnest money. The loaner was never identified but nonetheless, the court held that the brokers’
promise to obtain performance, a loan, from a third party was a sufficient enforceable promise.

24, Therefore, in this situation, the promises of Maalt/Vista that it could connect
Sequitur with a supplier of railcars and train transportation rates was sufficiently definitive for
Sequitur to know what action Maalt/Vista would be taking.

B. A QUESTION OF FACT EXISTS AS TO WHETHER SEQUITUR’S RELIANCE
ON MAALT/VISTA WAS REASONABLE.

25. Whether a reliance was reasonable is generally a question of fact. Hall v. Harris
County Water Control & Improvement Dist. No. 50, 683 S.W.2d 863, 868 (Tex. App.-Houston

SEQUITUR’S RESPONSE TO MAALT/VISTA’S PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT Page | 14
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[14th Dist.] 1985, no writ). As shown in the testimony supra, Sequitur relied on the promises made
by Maalt/Vista in entering the TSA and expending money on the Terminal. Maalt/Vista asserts
that Sequitur’s reliance on its promises were unreasonable due to a “due diligence” and a “no oral
agreement” clause in the LOIL This argument fails because the representations of Maalt/Vista
continued after the execution of the LOIL In addition, there was no “entire agreement/merger
clause” in the TSA itself that would bar any reliance on promises made by Maalt/Vista prior to
and up to and including when Sequitur entered the TSA.

26. In addition, considering the relationship between the parties, it was reasonable for
Sequitur to rely on Maalt/Vista. As opposed to the cases cited by Plaintiff, this was not an
adversarial relationship.>® The Parties were working together in a “mutual pursuit” to ship crude
oil by rail out of the Terminal.** Maalt/Vista knew that Sequitur was relying on their expertise in
entering the TSA because they lacked knowledge of transporting crude by rail.*® In addition,
Maalt/Vista actually worked with Sequitur to explain the financials of utilizing railcars. Mr. Ince
testified that he had multiple phone calls with Sequitur where he would “walk [Sequitur] through”

1.1 These are not the actions of adversaries.

the process of shipping crude to the Gulf Coast by rai
Under these circumstances, €.g. a business partner, it was reasonable for Sequitur to have relied

upon the clear promises of Maalt/Vista.

38 See Ortiz v. Collins, 203 S.W.3d 414, 422 (Tex. App.--Houston [14th Dist.] 2006, no pet.)(stating that reliance was
unjustified in an adversarial context during litigation); see also Coastal Bank SSB v. Chase Bank of Tex., N.4., 135
S.W.3d 840, 843 (Tex. App. - Houston [1st Dist.] 2004, no pet.)(stating that reliance in a business transaction is not
justified in an adversarial context.)

3 Exhibit D, pg. 24, Ins. 15- 20.

0 Id., pg. 20, Ins. 13 - 19.

7d,pg. 20,1ns.2 - 12,In. 20— pg. 22, In. 2.
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PRAYER
WHEREFORE, Sequitur Permian, LLC respectfully requests that the Court deny the
Partial Motion for Summary Judgment as to Sequitur’s claim of promissory estoppel and for all
other relief to which Sequitur shall show itself entitled.
Respectfully submitted,
HOOVER SLOVACEK LLP

/s/ Matthew A. Kornhauser
Matthew A. Kornhauser

State Bar No. 11684500
Dylan B. Russell

State Bar No. 24041839
Christopher J. Kronzer

State Bar No. 24060120
Galleria Tower 11

5051 Westheimer, Suite 1200
Houston, Texas 77056
Telephone: 713-977-8686
Facsimile: 713-977-5395
kornhauser(chooverslovacek.com
russelliczhooverslovacek.com
kronzer(«hooverslovacek.com

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT/COUNTER-
PLAINTIFF, SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC

and

GOSSETT, HARRISON,
MILLICAN & STIPANOVIC, P.C.

Paul Stipanovic

State Bar No. 00795669
2 S. Koenigheim Street
San Angelo, Texas 76903
Telephone: 325-653-3291
Facsimile: 325-655-6838
pauls@ghtxlaw.com

CO-COUNSEL FOR DEFENDANIT/COUNTER-
PLAINTIFF, SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this, the 3rd day of March 2020, a true and correct copy of the

foregoing document was served via e-service to all counsel of record as follows:

James Lanter

JAMES LANTER, PC

560 N. Walnut Creek, Suite 120
Mansfield, Texas 76063

Paul O. Wickes

WICKES Law, PLLC

5600 Tennyson Parkway, Suite 205
Plano, Texas 75024

Samuel S. Allen

JACKSON WALKER

135 West Twohig Avenue, Suite C
San Angelo, Texas 76903

/s/ Matthew A. Kornhauser

Matthew A. Komhauser
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Filed 3/3/2020 5:43 PM
Shirley Graham
District Clerk

Irion County, Texas

Ashley Masters
CAUSE NO. CV19-003

MAALT, LP, § IN THE DISTRICT COURT
Plaintiff, §
§
V. § IRION COUNTY, TEXAS
§
SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, §
Defendant. § 5157 JUDICIAL DISTRICT

DEFENDANT, SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC’S AMENDED
RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFF MAALT L.P. AND
THIRD-PARTY DEFENDANT VISTA PROPPANTS AND LOGISTICS INC.’S
PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

COMES NOW, Defendant/Counter-Plaintift/Third-Party  Plaintiff, SEQUITUR
PERMIAN, LLC (“Sequitur”), in the above styled and numbered cause and file this Amended
Response to Plaintiff Maalt, LP and Third-Party Defendant Vista Proppants and Logistics, Inc.’s
Partial Motion for Summary Judgment and in support thereof would show unto the Court, as
follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. Sequitur will show herein that it was reasonable for Sequitur to rely on
Maalt/Vista’s promise that it would connect Sequitur with parties who could provide the railcars
and trains necessary to fulfill the Terminal Service Agreement between the Parties.

BACKGROUND

2. Sequitur is in the crude oil production business, with a couple hundred wells over

an approximately 500 acres in and around Barnhart, Texas.! In May 2018, a differential existed

in the price of crude oil in the Midland Basin versus the Gulf Coast that presented an arbitrage

! Exhibit A, Deposition of Braden Merrill, pg., 53, In. 13 — pg. 54, In. 16.
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opportunity.? Sequitur contacted Vista Proppants and Logistics, Inc. (“Vista”), of which the
Plaintiff Maalt, LP (“Maalt”)(”Maalt/Vista” collectively) is an affiliate about utilizing their
transloading facility in Barnhart, Texas to ship crude oil to the Gulf Coast by rail. The purpose of
obtaining a transloading facility would be to transfer crude oil that is delivered to the facility by
trucks or via pipeline into train railcars, which is an efficient, cost-effective, and safe way to
transport crude oil to refineries near the Louisiana Guif Coast.

3. In May 2018, Sequitur had initial discussions with an employee of Vista regarding
a rail depot that Maalt owned in Barnhart, Texas that could be converted into the crude-by-rail
transloading facility (the “Terminal”) to which Sequitur sought access.> During the May 2018
discussions, Sequitur made it clear that it was seeking to procure the services of Maalt’s terminal
on an exclusive basis for the shipment of Sequitur’s crude oil to take advantage of a steep discount
as to the barrels sold in the Midland Basin as compared to those sold on the Louisiana Gulf Coast.*
Therefore, if Sequitur or its downstream oil buyers could sell barrels of oil for more on the
Louisiana Gulf Coast (less transport costs) than they could sell barrels of oil for in Midland, Texas,
additional earnings would be achieved.’

4. Sequitur made it clear to Maalt that it was inexperienced with rail transportation
and securing rail cars to transport crude from the Barnhart Terminal to the Gulf Coast.® To alleviate
the inexperience factor, Maalt, through its representatives, Chris Favors and Jon Ince, promised

Sequitur during discussions with Braden Merrill, VP & CFO of Sequitur, and Mike van den Bold,

2 Id atpg. 26, In. 14 — pg. 27, In. 21., pg. 31, Ins. 2-14.

3 Exhibit A, pg. 17, Ins. 5-17, pg. 26, In. 13 - pg. 27, In. 6 & Exhibit D, Deposition of John Ince, pg. 15, In. 3 — 15
* Exhibit A & Exhibit D, pg. 18, Ins. 10— 17.

> Exhibit A, pg. 26, In. 13 —pg. 27, In. 6

¢ Exhibit C, Deposition of Chris Favors, pg. 68, In. 20 — pg. 69, In. 5.
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President of Sequitur’, that Maalt would be able to connect Sequitur with parties who could
provide the necessary rail cars and rail service at the Terminal:

Q. (Mr. Wickes) Okay. From a factual standpoint, what do you
contend that Vista or Maalt did that should cause it
to have to pay Sequitur damages for electing to go
forward with the contract?

A. (Mr. Van Den Bold) Well. Long before we even signed the TSA in our
discussions with Maalt, you know, they made
representations that they were rail experts, their
employees had worked for the railroads, that they
could help us get a deal done, that they had
relationships, they had the expertise, that they
could help, you know, help coordinate and
collaborate to get these contracts in place, to help
get the deal done, and they weren’t able to do
things they promised.?

Q. Okay. Did they promise to do anything other than
help?
A. The — the — I mean, the promises they made is that

they — they were experts and knew the business,
the rail by — sand by rail, and had relationship.
And — yeah they would help us — get this venture

off the ground.’
kkk
Q. Okay. And — and I want to go back and make sure
I’'ve got everything of the - the general

representations that are the basis for the
counterclaim. One was that they are rail experts and
that some of their employees are former rail and
worked for railroad?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. The other was that they would assist in getting
a deal done?

7 Mr. Favors admitted to negotiating with Mr. Merrill and Mr. van den Bold initially prior to the execution of any
agreement or letter of intent. /d. at pg. 71, Ins. 10 — 16.

8 Exhibit B, Deposition of Mike Van den Bold, pg. 10, Ins. 4 — 16.

% Id., pg. 11, Ins. 1-7.
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A. Correct.

Q. Okay And getting a deal done, what all does that
include?

A. Well, the getting the deal done, Sequitur needed

an arrangement where somebody that had rail
cars, that had rates and volumes and contract
with the railroads to get from Barnhart to the
Gulf Coast.*

5. Shortly after the first contacts were made, on May 9, 2018, Jon Ince reached out to
Sequitur to inform them of an individual name Jonas Struthers who could “get [Sequitur] cars that
you need:”

Q. (Mr. Lanter) Now on the second paragraph he says, “Let me
introduce Jonas Struthers, the railcar guy I
mentioned to you on our call.” He said, He has been
a great partner for me in the past with our sand cars...
and I am sure he will be able to get you the cars that
you need for your fleet. I’m sure he can get you cars
that you need at a really good rate. He has done
amazing work for me in the past.” Did you
understand that Mr. Ince was just simply telling you
about his experience with Jonas Struthers?

Mpr. Kornhauser: Objection form.

A. (Mr. Merrill) I understood that he said that Jonas could get us
cars if we needed it.!!

Mr. Favors confirmed that these connections were made because Maalt knew that Sequitur was
inexperienced in the rail industry:

Q. (Mr. Kornhauser) But this — then why is Mr. Ince introducing his rail
guy to Braden Merrill and Tony early on?

A. (Mr. Favors) Yeah, because Sequitur, you know, made it clear
that they had no rail experience. Right? So that

0 /d. at pg. 14, In. 22 — pg. 15, In. 12.
' Exhibit A, pg. 107, In. 15 — pg. 108, In. 4 & Exhibit D-1.

SEQUITUR’S RESPONSE TO MAALT/VISTA’S PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT Page | 4
{171480/00002/01393690.DOCX 1 }

Removal Appendix 0227



Case 20-04064-elm Doc 1-1 Filed 09/04/20 Entered 09/04/20 10:53:27 Page 228 of 862

was an introduction to a guy who could help them
acquire those railcars.2

6. On June 1, 2018, Sequitur and Vista entered into a Letter of Intent (“LOI”)
regarding the use of the Terminal to continue with their investigation into the feasibility of an
agreement to lease the terminal to transport crude by rail.’* The LOI reflected the parties’ intent,
but not obligation, to enter into a Terminal Services Agreement (“TSA”) for a term of September
2018 to December 2019 for Sequitur to utilize the Barnhart Terminal to ship crude by rail.™

7. After the execution of the LOI, Mr. Favors emailed Mr. Merrill and Travis Morris,
the Chief Commercial Officer of Jupiter Marketing & Trading LLC (“Jupiter”), concerning Vista
working with both Sequitur and Jupiter regarding the Terminal.'> Mr. Favors testified this
introduction was just another connection because “Sequitur had no rail experience... so the
introduction was there to Jupiter to facilitate the logistics side of it” meaning “acquiring railcars,
getting rates, moving railcars, making sure service was there.”'®

8. After an initial meeting between Sequitur and Jupiter, Mr. Ince confirmed to Mr.
Merrill that Jupiter could get them the necessary railcars:

Q. (Mr. Lanter) Okay. And so I take it by that that you verified that
they were a company that you would be willing to
do business with independently of anything that
Chris Favors or John Ince may have told you?

A. (Mr. Merrill) Not exactly. Actually, Jon told me that — that he
had called around to his railroad contacts and
that Jupiter was a — the real deal in terms of
being able to get it done. They had the rates.

They were able to get cars and that we should go
with those guys.'’

12 Exhibit C, pg. 69, Ins. 17 -22.

13 Exhibit A, pg. 251, Ins. 2-6 & Exhibit A-1.
14 1d.

15 Exhibit B-1.

16 Exhibit C, pg. 84, In. 25 — pg. 85, In. 12.

17 Exhibit A, pg. 46, Ins. 9 — 18.
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Mr. Wroten, Senior Finance Associate of Sequitur, confirmed that during Maalt/Vista -Sequitur
negotiations Mr. Ince promised that Jupiter would deliver the trains:

Q. (Mr. Wickes) What specifically do you recall that was said by John
Ince regarding Jupiter’s capability?

A. (Mr. Wroten) We had - you know, I guess this was back in July,
August, time frame, it was our preference to work
with Shell at the time. We had been introduced to
Jupiter by, you know, the Vista guys, Jon and
Chris, and you know, we had initial conversations
with them. It just seems like there were promising
the world and you kmnow, we were kind of
distrustful of them. So we, you know, in our
conversations with Jon, we wanted to get their
take on — on their ability and their — their — their
capabilities, you know, and he was fully endorsing
their ability to do it. And that — you know, we kind
of relied on that and you know, that — that helped
us feel, you know, get some comfort around
potentially doing something with Jupiter if things
with Shell didn’t — didn’t pan out.!®

9. From late June, and during July, and the first week of August 2018, Maalt/Vista
and Sequitur continued to discuss the TSA for the exclusive use of the Terminal in Barnhart.
During these negotiations, Mr. Merrill testified that Maalt/Vista continued to promise that Jupiter
could provide the contact to get Sequitur rail:

Q. (Mr. Lanter) Okay. During the whole course of events you have
never came [sic] across anything in this contract
otherwise that obligated Maalt to procure trains or
rail services or rates for your company?

Mr. Kornhauser: Objection form.
A. (Mr. Merrill) I don’t remember it in this contract. I remember

never discussing them getting us rates, but that
they offered to help us get — or help us with the

'8 Exhibit E, pg. 34, In. 12 — pg. 35, In. 3.
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logistics and understanding the railroad and with
connection to people inside the railroads.!®

* %k Kk
Q. (Mr. Kornhauser) Okay. What do you recall specifically, as best you
can, being told by Mr. Favors or Mr. Ince in that
regards?
A. (Mr. Merrill) I remember with railcars -- this is just in regards

to railcars?
Yes, sir.

A, That he represented the he could help us find
railcars or put us in contact with people who

could find railcars.

Q. And did he tell you that trains and railcars were
available?

Mr. Lanter:  Objection, form.

A. He said it would be a difficult thing to do but that
we could — but that we could do it.*°
*kok
Q. Okay. And you said the — when did those

representations that your lawyers asked you about
take place, was that May and June?

A. That was May and June through — through the
signing of the TSA.”'

10. Then, on August 3, 2018, Mr. Favors emailed Mr. Merrill and Mr. Mike van den

Bold, pressuring Sequitur to execute the TSA.?? Favors stated “I am receiving heavy pressure to

get the agreement fully executed” and that “[w]e have been offered slightly better terms from

19 Exhibit A, pg, 25, Ins. 13 — 22.

20 Id. at pg. 246, In. 13 —pg. 247, In. 1.

21 Exhibit A, pg. 249, In. 23 —pg. 150, In. 2.
22 Exhibit C-2.

SEQUITUR’S RESPONSE TO MAALT/VISTA’S PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT Page | 7
{171480/00002/01393690.DOCX 1 }

Removal Appendix 0230



Case 20-04064-elm Doc 1-1 Filed 09/04/20 Entered 09/04/20 10:53:27 Page 231 of 862

[an]other party that said they will execute an agreement today.”?® At the time, Mr. Merrill
informed Mr. Favors that he had not yet had a commitment from any joint venture partner to
provide rail cars to the Terminal.?* Mr. Favors recalls telling Mr. Merrill that if Sequitur needs a
partner to provide the railcars that Jupiter was a “prospect ... [for] helping with logistics.”?> Mr.
Merrill informed Sequitur that he was in talks with Shell as a joint venture partner and if that did
not go through then Sequitur would turn to Jupiter.?® Mr. Merrill was relying on Mr. Ince in making
this decision because without the promises of Mr. Ince, Mr. Merrill would not have believed that
Jupiter could get the railcars and the transportation rates:

Q. (Mr. Lanter) Sure. The — the thrust of your decision to go ahead

and move forward with Jupiter was based on your
own due diligence and research into that company,

wasn’t it?
Mr. Kornhauser: Objection form.
A. (Mr. Merrill) Well it was that and what Jon had said about his

due diligence.

Q. Okay. Now, if Jon hadn’t told you that would you
have done business with Jupiter based on what you
found about them doing your own research and

diligence?
A. Probably not.?’
11. In reliance on the promises that Maalt’s logistics would help facilitate the needed

trains and railcars, Sequitur entered into the TSA with Maalt, with an effective date of August 6,

2 Id. Mr. Favors admitted that this email was sent just to pressure Sequitur as there was in fact no other purchaser as
represented. Exhibit C, pg. 127, In. 25 — pg. 128, In. 13.

24 Exhibit A, pg. 37, Ins. 14 — 24.

2 Exhibit C, pg. 134, Ins. 5-10.

26 Exhibit A, pg. 37, Ins. 14 — 24,

27 1d., pg. 49, Ins. 12 —23.
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2018.28 Consistent with the entire premise and purpose of the TSA—that Sequitur would be able
to cost-effectively deliver oil to the Terminal to be transloaded onto railcars that would be
delivered to the Louisiana Gulf Coast refineries—throughout the TSA references are made to
“railcars” as well as a reference to the “train loading area.”®® Thus, it was expressly made clear to
and understood by both parties that without access to trains and railcars on a viable basis, the
essential purpose of the TSA was for naught.

12. The TSA provided that Maalt would provide the labor, supervision, and materials
necessary to deliver, handle, measure, and redeliver (hereinafter “transload”) the oil to Sequitur or
to Sequitur’s third-party customers. Sequitur would have the exclusive rights to use the Terminal
for transloading oil. In order to facilitate the transloading into railcars of oil that was delivered by
truck, Sequitur, at its sole cost and significant expense, installed equipment and facilities at the
Terminal, which was described in the Agreement as the “Phase I Project.” Sequitur made this
investment and incurred these costs in reliance on Vista/Maalt’s promises that Sequitur would be
able to have access to sufficient trains, rail cars and other means to transport the crude oil via rail
as referenced in the Agreement.*

13.  In very general terms and subject to numerous terms and conditions, in exchange
for Maalt’s operation of the Terminal and its transloading of oil exclusively for Sequitur, further
conditioned upon the occurrence of the Terminal Operations Commencement Date, Maalt would
be paid at least a minimum payment (the “Shortfall Payment”) depending on the amount of oil

actually transloaded through the Terminal.’! Any obligation for Sequitur to pay the Shortfall

28 Sequitur’s intent was not to sign the TSA until they had a contract in place for rail. Exhibit B, pg. 34, Ins. 2-5. But
for the promises made by Maalt/Vista about railcars and train, Sequitur would not have entered in the contract. Exhibit
A, gg.248,Ins. 3 - 7.

2 Exhibit B-1.

3 Exhibit A, pg. 247, In. 23 —pg. 248, In. 1.

31 Exhibit B-1 at § 3.2.

SEQUITUR’S RESPONSE TO MAALT/VISTA’S PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT Page | 9
{171480/00002/01393690.DOCX 1 }

Removal Appendix 0232



Case 20-04064-elm Doc 1-1 Filed 09/04/20 Entered 09/04/20 10:53:27 Page 233 of 862

Payment, however, was expressly made subject to “the terms of this Agreement, including . . .
Force Majeure.”*? Importantly, in the event of a Force Majeure, any obligation of Sequitur to
make payments to Maalt only existed for oil “actually Throughput at the Terminal.”33

14.  Despite Vista/Maalt’s promises to Sequitur that Sequitur would be able to secure
sufficient numbers of trains and rail cars and at a really good rate, and Vista/Maalt’s introduction
to Sequitur of Vista/Maalt’s agents, who were self-professed “railcar guys”, it became obvious
that said promises were false. Specifically, sufficient trains, rail cars, and other means of
transporting crude oil via rail were not readily available to Sequitur. In fact, there became an
unavailability, interruption, delay, or curtailment of oil transportation services that were beyond
the control of Sequitur. Therefore, on December 7, 2018, in accordance with the terms of the
Agreement, Sequitur sent written notice to Maalt that Sequitur had declared an existing “Force
Majeure” under the Agreement because of the “unavailability, interruption, delay or curtailment
of rail transportation services” for the oil, “despite continued efforts to procure such services.”>*
More specifically, a Force Majeure event occurred because crude oil transportation service (e.g.,
rail service and capacity) to allow for Sequitur’s use of the Terminal for the intended purposes of
the Agreement was not available despite diligent efforts to procure such service and capacity, and
such event of Force Majeure was not within the reasonable control of Sequitur.?® The written notice
also noted that Sequitur anticipated that the Force Majeure event would “continue for the
foreseeable future.” On February 8, 2019, Sequitur sent Maalt/Vista further notice that the Force

Majeure event could not be remedied, and the TSA was terminated per its terms.>¢

274 at §3.1.

BId at§ 14.1.

3 Exhibit C-2.

35 Exhibit A, pg. 9, Ins 1 — 11, pg. 10, Ins. 4-20.
3 Exhibit A-2.
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15.  Maalt initiated this lawsuit seeking payment despite the Force Majeure event.
Sequitur has counterclaims for promissory estoppel seeking recoupment of those monies spent on
the Terminal that would not have been expended had Vista/Maalt not promised that train service
was available on viable basis.

SUMMARY JUDGMENT EVIDENCE

EXHIBITS DESCRIPTION
A Deposition of Braden Merrill
A-1 Letter of Intent
- Exhibit No. 6
A2 Notice of Termination of TSA
Exhibit No. 32
B Deposition of Mike Van Den Bold
B-1 Terminal Services Agreement
Exhibit No. 13
C Deposition of Chris Favors
C-1 Email from Favors to Merrill and Morris
Exhibit No. 7
C2 Email between Merrill, Favors and Van den Bold
) Exhibit No. 15
C3 Notice of Force Majeure
Exhibit No. 27
D Deposition of John Ince
D-1 Email from Ince to Merrill regarding Struthers
Exhibit No. 2
E Deposition of Tony Wroten
SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD
16. Pursuant to Rule 166a(b), a movant must show no genuine issue of material fact

exists in order to be entitled to a summary judgment as a matter of law. Nixon v. Mr. Property

Management Co., 690 S.W.2d 546, 548 (Tex. 1985). The movant has the burden of establishing
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that no material fact issue exists. M.D. Anderson Hosp. and Tumor Inst. v. Willrich, 28 S.W.3d 22,
23 (Tex. 2000). Trial courts must not weigh the evidence at the summary judgment stage.
Huckabee v. Time Warner Entm’t Co., 19 S.W.3d 413, 422 (Tex. 2000). A trial court’s only duty
at the summary judgment stage is to determine if a fact issue exists. /d.

17.  When the defendant asserts a counterclaim, for the plaintiff to be entitled to a
summary judgment, the plaintiff must disprove only one element of the cause of actions asserted
by defendant. Stanfield v. Neubam, 494 S.W.3d 90, 96 (Tex. 2016). If the defendant disproves as
a matter of law one or more essential element of the plaintiff’s cause of action, the defendant is
entitled to a summary judgment unless the plaintiff can either (1) identify a fact issue in the
elements the defendant negated or (2) create a fact issue by producing controverting evidence that
raises a fact issue on one of the elements the defendant negated. /d., 494 S.W.3d at 97.

ARGUMENTS & AUTHORITIES

18. Sequitur’s live pleading states the following counterclaim and/or third-party claim
for promissory estoppel:

“Vista and Maalt made promises to Sequitur, expressly, either orally or in writing,

and/or or impliedly through Vista’s and Maalt’s conduct, which included the

promises that trains and railcars would be available, including at a reasonable price,

at the right time, and for the right term. Sequitur reasonably relied on Vista’s and

Maalt’s promises to Sequitur’s detriment. Sequitur’s reliance was foreseeable by

Vista and Maalt. Injustice can be avoided only by enforcing Vista’s and Maalt’s

promises. In addition, or in the alternative, Sequitur has incurred reliance damages

due to Vista’s and Maalt’s promises, in an amount over $4,000,000. Sequitur seeks

recovery of its damages, interest, court costs, and attorney’s fees.”3’

As stated in its claims, Vista/Maalt promised that if Sequitur entered the TSA that railcars

would be available at the Terminal. As expounded upon in the testimony supra, Vista/Maalt

37 See Sequiturs’ Second Amended Counterclaims and First Amended Third-Party Claims.
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promised that Sequitur would be connected to parties that could get railcars and rail service to the
Terminal to fulfill the TSA.

19. Promissory estoppel may be asserted by a plaintiff as an affirmative ground for
relief when a promisee has acted to his detriment in reasonable reliance on an otherwise
unenforceable promise. Wheeler v. White, 398 S.W.2d 93, 96-97 (Tex. 1965)). A claim for
promissory estoppel entails (1) a promise; (2) foreseeability of reliance by the promisor; and (3)
substantial reliance by the promisee to his detriment. English v. Fischer, 660 S.W.2d 521, 524
(Tex. 1983). In its Motion, Maalt argues that (1) there was no promise and (2) there was no

reasonable reliance by Plaintiff.

A. A QUESTION OF FACT EXISTS AS TO WHETHER MAALT/VISTA PROMISED
SEQUITUR THAT ITS CONNECTIONS WOULD BE ABLE TO GET TRAINS TO

SHIP SEQUITUR’S CRUDE OIL FROM THE TERMINAL TO THE GULF
COAST.

20. A promise is a declaration which binds the person who makes it, either in honor,
conscience, or law, to do or forbear a certain specific act, and which gives to the person to whom
made a right to expect or claim the performance of some particular thing. Traco, Inc. v. Arrow
Glass Co., 814 S.W.2d 186, 190 (Tex. App. — San Antonio 1991, writ denied) citing BLACK’S LAW
DICTIONARY 1092 (5th ed. 1979). A promise may be inferred in whole or in part from expressions
other than words on a party of a promisor. Haws & Garrett Gen. Contractors, Inc. v. Gorbett Bros.
Welding Co., 480 S.W.2d 607, 610 (Tex, 1972). In addition, a person’s silence may constitute a
binding promise if, under the circumstances, the person had a duty to speak and did not. “One,
who by speech or conduct induces another to act in a particular manner should not be permitted to
adopt an inconsistent position, attitude, or course of conduct which causes loss or injury to
another." Donaldson v. Lake Community Improvement Ass'n, 718 S.W.2d 815, 818 (Tex. App.-

Corpus Christi 1986, writ refd n.r.e.).
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21.  As stated supra, Vista/Maalt promised that Sequitur would be connected to parties
that could get railcars and rail service to the Terminal to fulfill the TSA. This promise has specific
terms: If Sequitur enters the TSA, Maalt/Vista’s connection will have railcars and train
transportation rates to provide to Sequitur. Maalt’s argues that the promise is too vague but doesn’t
specifically state what information is missing that should be part of the promise.

22. In making this argument, Vista/Maalt relies on Allied Vista, Inc v. Holt, 987 S.W.2d
138, 142 (Tex. App. — Houston [14th Dist.] 1999, pete. Denied) In Allied Vista, the court
determined that a promise to provide “surplus equipment” was not definitive because it did not
identify the specific equipment needed. That is not the case here. The goods needed i.e. “railcars”
and/or “rail service” was definite and known by all parties.

23.  Further, the Third Court of Appeals has held that in a promise for performance by
a third party that the third party need not be specifically identified. In Evers v. Arnold 210 S.W.2d
270, 271 (Tex. Civ. App. — Austin 1948, no writ) a couple was approached by a real estate broker
to entice them to purchase of land. Relying on the promises of the broker that he could obtain them
a loan, the couple entered into a contract with the broker to purchase a parcel of land and deposited
earnest money. The loaner was never identified but nonetheless, the court held that the brokers’
promise to obtain performance, a loan, from a third party was a sufficient enforceable promise.

24, Therefore, in this situation, the promises of Maalt/Vista that it could connect
Sequitur with a supplier of railcars and train transportation rates was sufficiently definitive for
Sequitur to know what action Maalt/Vista would be taking.

B. A QUESTION OF FACT EXISTS AS TO WHETHER SEQUITUR’S RELIANCE
ON MAALT/VISTA WAS REASONABLE.

25. Whether a reliance was reasonable is generally a question of fact. Hall v. Harris

County Water Control & Improvement Dist. No. 50, 683 S.W.2d 863, 868 (Tex. App.-Houston
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[14th Dist.] 1985, no writ). As shown in the testimony supra, Sequitur relied on the promises made
by Maalt/Vista in entering the TSA and expending money on the Terminal. Maalt/Vista asserts
that Sequitur’s reliance on its promises were unreasonable due to a “due diligence” and a “no oral
agreement” clause in the LOIL. This argument fails because the representations of Maalt/Vista
continued after the execution of the LOI. In addition, there was no “entire agreement/merger
clause” in the TSA itself that would bar any reliance on promises made by Maalt/Vista prior to
and up to and including when Sequitur entered the TSA.

26. In addition, considering the relationship between the parties, it was reasonable for
Sequitur to rely on Maalt/Vista. As opposed to the cases cited by Plaintift, this was not an
adversarial relationship.*® The Parties were working together in a “mutual pursuit” to ship crude
oil by rail out of the Terminal.’® Maalt/Vista knew that Sequitur was relying on their expertise in
entering the TSA because they lacked knowledge of transporting crude by rail.** In addition,
Maalt/Vista actually worked with Sequitur to explain the financials of utilizing railcars. Mr. Ince
testified that he had multiple phone calls with Sequitur where he would “walk [Sequitur] through”
the process of shipping crude to the Gulf Coast by rail.*! These are not the actions of adversaries.
Under these circumstances, €.g. a business partner, it was reasonable for Sequitur to have relied

upon the clear promises of Maalt/Vista.

38 See Ortiz v. Collins, 203 S.W.3d 414, 422 (Tex. App.--Houston [14th Dist.] 2006, no pet.)(stating that reliance was
unjustified in an adversarial context during litigation); see also Coastal Bank SSB v. Chase Bank of Tex., N.A., 135
S.W.3d 840, 843 (Tex. App. - Houston [1st Dist.] 2004, no pet.)(stating that reliance in a business transaction is not
justified in an adversarial context.)

3 Exhibit D, pg. 24, Ins. 15- 20.

4 1d., pg. 20, Ins. 13 — 19.

1 1d., pg. 20, Ins. 2 — 12, In. 20 — pg. 22, In. 2.
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PRAYER
WHEREFORE, Sequitur Permian, LLC respectfully requests that the Court deny the
Partial Motion for Summary Judgment as to Sequitur’s claim of promissory estoppel and for all
other relief to which Sequitur shall show itself entitled.
Respectfully submitted,
HOOVER SLOVACEK LLP

/s/ Matthew A. Kornhauser
Matthew A. Kornhauser

State Bar No. 11684500
Dylan B. Russell

State Bar No. 24041839
Christopher J. Kronzer

State Bar No. 24060120
Galleria Tower 11

5051 Westheimer, Suite 1200
Houston, Texas 77056
Telephone: 713-977-8686
Facsimile: 713-977-5395
kornhauser@hooverslovacek.com
russell@hooverslovacek.com
kronzer@hooverslovacek.com

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT/COUNTER-
PLAINTIFF, SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC

and

GOSSETT, HARRISON,
MILLICAN & STIPANOVIC, P.C.

Paul Stipanovic

State Bar No. 00795669
2 S. Koenigheim Street
San Angelo, Texas 76903
Telephone: 325-653-3291
Facsimile: 325-655-6838
pauls@ghtxlaw.com

CO-COUNSEL FOR DEFENDANT/COUNTER-
PLAINTIFF, SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

[ hereby certify that on this, the 3rd day of March 2020, a true and correct copy of the

foregoing document was served via e-service to all counsel of record as follows:

James Lanter

JAMES LANTER, PC

560 N. Walnut Creek, Suite 120
Mansfield, Texas 76063

Paul O. Wickes

WICKES LAW, PLLC

5600 Tennyson Parkway, Suite 205
Plano, Texas 75024

Samuel S. Allen

JACKSON WALKER

135 West Twohig Avenue, Suite C
San Angelo, Texas 76903

/s/ Matthew A. Kornhauser

Matthew A. Kornhauser
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1 CAUSE NO. 18-003
2

MAALT, LP, § IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF
3 §

Plaintiff, §

4 8

VS. § IRION COUNTY, TEXAS
5 §

SEQUITUR PERMIAN, LLC, §
6 §

Defendant. § 51st JUDICIAL DISTRICT

7
B e m e e e e e e e
9 ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF
10 BRADEN MERRILL
11 November 19, 2019
12 Volume 1
B e e e s i
14
15 ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF BRADEN MERRILL,
16 produced as a witness at the instance of the Plaintiff
17 and duly sworn, was taken in the above-styled and

18 numbered cause on the 19th day of November, 2019, from

19 9:32 a.m. to 5:25 p.m., before Patricia Palmer, CSR, in
20 and for the State of Texas, reported by machine

21 shorthand, at the offices of Mr. Matthew A. Kornhauser,
22 Hoover Slovacek LLP, 5051 Westheimer Road, Suite 1200,

23 Houston, Texas 77056, pursuant to the Texas Rules of
24 Civil Procedure and the provisions stated on the record
25 herein.
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1 EXHIBITS 1 Q. Okay. Now, you were -- you understand why we
2 NO. DESCRIPTION PAGE 2 are here, don't you?
Exhibit 80.....ccccovevviriniiininnns 238 3 A Ido.
3 Exhib(i:iog orateUpdate 244 4 Q. A deposition in a case brought by Maalt; and is
4 First Amended Counterclaim and Original > thata yes?
Third-party Claims 6 A, Ido, yes. I'm sorry.
5 7 Q. Okay. You were the person who signed the
6 8 letter declaring force majeure under the terminal
7 9 services agreement that your company held at Maalt; is
8 10 that right?
9 11 A, I'm not sure if it was either me or Mike Van
10 12 den Bold, but it would have been one of us.
} ;_ 13 Q. Okay. You don't remember that -- that you were
13 14 the one who signed it?
14 15  A. Idon't remember that.
15 16 MR. LANTER: I am going to hand you what
16 17 was previously marked as Exhibit 32 in earlier
17 L8 depositions.
18 19 THE WITNESS: All right.
19 20 Q. And that is the February 8th of 2019 letter
;? 21 that was sent by Sequitur Permian reportedly to
22 22 terminate the terminal services agreement, correct?
23 23 A. Yes, sir,
24 24 Q. And that was signed by you, right?
25 25 A. That was signed by me.
Page 6 Page 8
1 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Today's date is 1 Q. Okay. Would you tcll me all of the reasons why
2 November 19th, 2019. This is the video deposition of 2 you determined that a force majeure event occurred?
3 Braden Merrill. The time is 9:32. We are on the 3 MR. KORNHAUSER: Iam going to object to
4 record. 4 the form of the question. You can answer.
5 The court reporter may now swear in the 5 MR. LANTER: Go ahead.
6 witness. 6 THE WITNESS: Okay.
7 THE REPORTER: Are there any stipulations? 7  A. We -- we invoked the force majeure or we -- we
8 MR. KORNHAUSER: We are -- we are 8 sent the letter because we were unable to get trains to
9 proceeding by agreement and by notice. 9 the facility, we -- and I guess, it was -- the primary
10 MR. LANTER: And by notice, yeah. 10 is the trains to the facility and also we never got our
11 MR. KORNHAUSER: Yeah. We would liketo 11 pollution liability -- or legal lLiability,
12 have the opportunity to read and sign, please. 12 Q. Never got what?
13 MR. LANTER: Sure. 13 A. The pollution legal liability.
14 BRADEN MERRILL, 14 Q. Okay. Allright. So make sure I understand
15 having been first duly sworn, testified as follows: L5 you, the first reason was you were unable to get trains
16 EXAMINATION 16 to the facility and -- is that yes?
17 BY MR. LANTER: 17  A. Yes. And -- and trains out of the facility,
18 Q. Good moming. 18 yes.
19 A. Good morning. 19 MR. LANTER: Okay. She can't takc down
20 Q. Would you state your name, please. 20 shakes of the head.
21 A. Tt's Braden Merrill. 21 THE WITNESS: No, [ get you. I am sorry
22 Q. Okay. And what is your position with Sequitur 22 about that.
23 Permian? 23 MR. LANTER: It looks -- uh-huh (positive
24  A. Tam vice president and senior -- I am vice 24 response) and uh-uh (negative response) look exactly the
25 president and chief financial officer. 25 same, okay.
Page 7 Page 9
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THE WITNESS: Gotit. 1

MR. LANTER: -- on paper, so I may prompt 2

you. 3
Q. So you're unable to get trains in and out of 4
the facility? 5
A. Yes, sir. 6

Q. And then your second reason for declaring for 7
force majeure was you never got a pollution legal 8
liability policy? 9
A. That's correct. 10
Q. Allright. Anything else? 11

A. That's it. 12

Q. Okay. When you say you were unable to get 13
trainings in or out of the facility, what do you mean by 14
that? 15
A. We had spoken with multiple logistics companies 16
about service in and out of the Barnhart facility and 17
all -- all that we talked to. Well -- so let me go back 18
here. So we were unable to get in and out of the 19
facility. 20
Q. Okay. And specifically, what was the problem? 21

A. The -- the -- my understanding is that the 22
carriers, it is a convoluted system of -- of class ones 23
and smaller catriers, but -- and logistics companies, 24
but my understanding is the class one carriers were not 25

Page 10

interested in providing crude oil rail service in and |
out of the Permian Basin. 2
Q. Okay. So you when you -- when you say that you 3
couldn't get trains in or out of the facility, who made 4
that determination within your company? 5
A. It was Mike Van den Bold and I. 6

Q. Okay. Anybody else involved in that decision? 7
A. No. 8

Q. Okay. So you are not testifying that there is 9
any curtailment of rail services or product 10
transportation services, are you? 11
MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection form. 12

A. What -- what do you mean by curtailment? [ am 13
SOITY. 14
Q. What do you understand that word to mean? 15

A. [mean, ceasing of -- 16

Q. Okay. 17

A. Is that what you are asking? 18

Q. That's what [ am asking. 19

A. T--Twould say that there was ceasing of rail 20
services, my understanding, to the Permian Basin. 21
Q. Did you ever get rail service to this facility 22
atall? 23
A. No. 24

Q. So no rail service that you obtained had ever 25

Page 11

ccascd for any reason?

A. No rail services would have been obtained --
no.

Q. Okay. And no rail service that you ever
obtained had been delayed for any reason, correct?

A. Well, we had -- had two trains sent to the
facility, which were not able to get there and then
therefore, had to be rerouted to another facility.

Q. Okay. When you say "we had two trains at the
facility," who is we?

A. We as in Jupiter was coordinating the trains.

Q. Okay. So you and Jupiter?

A. Jupiter was coordinating on our behalf, yes.

Q. And -- so when you say "we," are you talking
about you and your company?

A. Yes.
Q. -- Jupiter?
A. Yes, I am. When I said we that's what I meant.
Q. Okay. So Jupiter and Sequitur is we?
A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Was any rail transportation that you
were able to procure ever interrupted?

A. No.

Q. Okay. And was there any rail service

unavailablc?
Page 12

MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection form.

A. Yes.

Q. And how did you determine that rail service was
unavailable?

A. We reached out to every logistics provider and
every purchaser that we knew of. We went through our
personal relationships. We talked to Vista about it,
asking them for help. And we also asked our third-party
marketing consultant.

Q. Okay. So every -- you mentioned that you
reached out to purchasers and you reached out to
logistics providers?

A. Uh-huh (positive response).

Q. Tell me who the purchasers were that you
reached out to.

A. From the beginning, we reached out to BP,
Valero, Shell, Sunoco, Arm, Jupiter. [ don't remember
who I said at this point, but Shell.

Q. Okay.

A. Murex, Nustar. I may have said some multiple
times.

Q. What was the last one you said?

A. Nustar.

Q. Nustar. Any other purchasers?

A. Those are the ones that 1 remember.
Page 13

4 (Pages 10 - 13)

Veritext Legal Solutions
800-336-4000

Removal Appendix 0243



Case 20-04064-elm Doc 1-1 Filed 09/04/20 Entered 09/04/20 10:53:27 Page 244 of 862

1 Q. Okay. And how aboul logistic providers? 1 you never had any contact with anybody, right?
2 A. Well, all of those were logistic providers 2 A. No, I -- Steve McCarley, I believe --
3 slash purchasers. 3 Q. OkKay.
4 Q. Okay. Which ones -- I want to separate the 4  A. - wasonsite. And I'm not sure which -- what
5 two. Which ones were purchasers, BP, Valero, Shell, 5 the name of -- it was either the president or the CEOQ
6 Sunoco? 6 came to one of our meelings. [ don't remember his name.
7 A. All of them would have purchased our oil. 7 Tremember he has a deer -- deer breeding facility.
8 Q. Okay. So they would have all had purchased and 8 That's what I remember.
9 then they would have provided logistics after the point 9 Q. Okay. Did you ever go to that deer facility?
10 of purchase I take it? 10  A. No, I did not.
11 A. Yes, that's correct. 11 Q. Anybody else that youn ever talked to with
12 Q. Allright. Did you ever reach out to any 12 Maalt?
13 companies who were just pure logistic providers to pick 13 A. Iwas introduced to Blake DeNoyer at the
14 your oil up at the Bamnhart facility and transport if to 14 beginning.
15 a purchasers location somewhere else? 15 Q. Okay. And how do you know Blake DcNoyer?
16  A. Not that I know of. 16  A. He tried to sell sand to our company.
17 Q. Okay. So the only thing you did was reach out 17 Q. Okay.
18 to purchasers? 18  A. And we had contact through that so I received
19  A. That's my recollection. 19 his information from our operations team.
20 Q. Okay. And what was your rol¢ in doing so? 20 Q. Allright. And that was SIM that was talking
21 A. 1--Tfacilitated most of the -- or | was the 21 to Vista about purchasing sand, correct?
22 one who called on most of the companies. 22 A. That's correct.
23 Q. Okay. So you were personally involved in the 23 Q. Okay. Do you have any involvement in that at
24 day-to-day activities of that? 24 all?
25 A. Yes, I was. 25 A. No, I did not.
Page 14 Page 16
i Q. Was Mr. Wroten working with you on that? 1 Q. Allright. When all of this [irst started in
2 A. Yes, he was. 2 early to mid 2018, you were the one who reached out to
3 Q. What was his role? 3 Blake DeNoyer, weren't you?
4 A. Mr. Wroten works for me. He did a lot of the 4 A. Yecs, I was.
5 day-to-day as well. 5 Q. Okay. And you made the initial contact with
6 Q. Uh-huh (affirmative response). 6 his company or with Maalt Service entities about running
7 A. Sohe and [ both would call these companies at 7 transloading services, right?
8 the beginning. 8 A Idid
9 Q. Okay. In your dealings with Maalt, who were 9 Q. Okay. And after your initial conversation with
10 the individuals that you primarily dealt with? 10 Blake DeNoyer -- or was it an e-mail or conversation?
11 A. Primarily at the beginning it was Jon Ince and 1] A, Tdon't remember.
12 then it switched to Chris Favors pretty quickly, but Jon 12 Q. Okay. After that first communication, did you
13 Ince stayed in the picture somewhat. 13 have anymore discussions or communications with -- with
14 Q. Okay. So just those two individuals? 14 Mr. DeNoyer?
15 A. That's correct. 15 A. No, | -- after -- after talking with him about
16 Q. Now, you never had any contact with any officer 16 using the facility we -- he set me in touch with Jon
17 of director of Sequitur -- excuse me, of Vista Proppants 17 fairly quickly and then Chris fairly quickly after that.
18 and Logistics, Incorporated, did you? 18 Q. Okay. Now, [ want to ask you this up front and
19 A, I--honestly [ don't know the difference 19 we will talk about it some more potentially. Bul during
20 between Vista and Maalt, so I'm not -- I'm kind of... 20 your conversations with Jon Ince and Chris Favors?
21 Q. Okay. I'm you very specifically, did you have 21 A. Uh-huh (positive response), yes.
22 any contact with anybody who is an officer, director of 22 Q. Did they ever make any promises to you that
23 Vista Proppants and Logistics, Inc.? 23 they did not keep?
24 A. I--Tam not sure. 24  A. I am not sure.
25 Q. Okay. But other than Jon Ince and Chris Favors 25 Q. Youare not aware of any as you sit here today?
Page 15 Page 17
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A. I'm -- I'm -- I'm trying to think of any. I
can't think of any off he top of my head right now.

Q. Okay. You can't think of any examples of
anything they promised to do and did not do, correct?

A. Individually?

Q. Individually or together?

A. Tcan't remember any off the top of my head
right now.

Q. Okay. And if there was such a promise made,
you would know about that, wouldn't you?

A. Most likely unless they made it to someone
else.

Q. Okay. If some -- if something was like was
said to somebody else your other people would have told
you wouldn't they?

A. Most likely, yes.

Q. Yes. Now, the pollution liability policy that
you mentioned earlicr.

A, Yes.

Q. That has nothing to do with force majeure, does
it?

MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection form.

A. Tdo not believe that that -- T am sure if that

has to do with force majeure, I am -- I am not a lawyer.

But I do -- yeah I am not sure.
Page 18

Q. Okay. You were involved in the preparation --
the drafting and writing of the terminal services
agreement in this case weren't you?

A. Yes, I was.

MR. LANTER: Okay. Isit 13?7 Ma'am, [ am
just going to mark this. It's a copy, I am going to
mark it as 13 just for him to use right now. Do you
want a copy?

MR. KORNHAUSER: No, I've got it.

MR. LANTER: Okay. Why don't you go ahead
and take a look at that and turn to Article 14.

THE WITNESS: Okay.

Q. Allright. Would you look at -- look at that
Article 14 and tell me if insurance appears anywhere in
there as a force majeure event?

MR. KORNHAUSER: Wait a second. What page
are you on?

MR. LANTER: Article 14, It is on 22.

MR. KORNHAUSER: And what's your question?

MR. LANTER: Would you read back the
question.

(Requested porlion read back. )

MR. KORNHAUSER: Object to form.

A. The only thing I can see is in 14-1, Breach of

this agreement.
Page 19
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Q. Where are you referring to?

A. Tt says, "It is further agreed that the
obligations of the parties that are effected by such
force majeure, except as provided above, shall be
suspended without liability for breach of this agreement
during the continuation of continuance of force
majeure."”

Q. Okay. So nothing in this Article 14 that you
were involved in writing has any mention of failure to
providc an insurance policy is a force majeure event,
does it?

A. Well, it refers to the agreement, the breach of
the agreement, but I mean, nothing specifically calls
out the insurance.

Q. Okay. If youread 14.2.

A. Okay.

Q. It defines what a force majeure event is,
correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. And there is no mention in here anywhere of
failure to write an insurance policy?

MR, KORNHAUSER: Objection form.

A. Not that I -- I saw, no.

Q. Okay. And with respect to the pollution

policy, your company's goal was to get $5 million of
Page 20

pollution coverage in place, wasn't it?

A. Tbelieve thal's the case, yes.

Q. Okay. Did you go back through the documents
that were submitted through your INS system to determine
whether $5 million worth of pollution coverage was
obtained by Maalt?

A. My -- our lawyer checked on that, so I --1 was
told that it was not in place.

Q. Okay. My -- did you look?

A. 1 personally did not.

Q. Okay. Tell me what the INS system is?

A. I'm -- honestly, [ was not involved in the INS
system.

Q. Okay so you don't know what (hat is?

A. No.

Q. Okay. Did you ever have any involvement in
reviewing the insurance certificate -- the insurance
certificates that were uploaded through the INS system
by Maalt?

A. No, that would have been our HSC group and our
legal feam.

Q. Okay. And was that Russ?

A. Russ, yes.

Q. Okay. Did Russ ever come to you and tell you

that all of the policies that were required under the
Page 21

6 (Pages 18 - 21)

Veritext Legal Solutions
800-336-4000

Removal Appendix 0245



Case 20-04064-elm Doc 1-1 Filed 09/04/20 Entered 09/04/20 10:53:27 Page 246 of 862

contract were not in place?

A. Idon't remember.

Q. Okay. Did you -- did your company ever send
out a notice of default to Maalt claiming that they were
in default because they had not provided the required
insurance certificates?

A. Not that I remember.

Q. And certainly, I haven't seen a default notice
from your company to Maalt anywhere in the documents
produced. If there had been one it would be in those
documents, correct?

A. Tbelieve so.

Q. Okay. With respect to the terminal scrvice
agreement that is Exhibit 13, what was your role in
preparing that document?

A. So our outside legal counsel drafted most of
the document. Most -- most of my role is involved in
the commercial aspect of the contract.

. Who is that outside counsel?

. Vinson and Elkins.

. Okay. So they drafted this document?
. That's my understanding, yes.

el el o]

. Okay. And then once it was drafted it came to
you and what did you do with it?

A. So most of the efforts that we put into it were
Page 22

involved in kind of writing the commercial terms and
making sure that they stuck with what we had agreed to
with Vista.

Q. Okay. This contract was not contingent upon
Sequitur obtaining any type of favorable rail rates, was
it?

MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection form.

A. Tam -- ] am not sure what -- I'm not sure.
would have to go back and read the document.

MR. LANTER: Okay. Well, why don't we take
a minute and look through there and tell me --

MR. KORNHAUSER: Well, what's -- what's --
what's your question specifically?

MR. LANTER: Did you understand my
question?

THE WITNESS: It is my understanding that
the question is that this document doesn'l have any word
in it that says that there's -- that we have to secure
reasonable rail rates. Is that --

Q. My question to you was, is there any provision
in this contract that makes this contract contingent
upon Sequitur Permian obtaining any type of favorable
rail rates?

MR. KORNHAUSER: Object to form.

A T--1-
Page 23
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MR. KORNHAUSER: You need o define these
term, Jim. I mean, favorable rail rates. I mean, your
question is vague and ambiguous.

MR. LANTER: No. I can ask him what | want
and you can say objection form. And if there is a
problem he can tell me. I think he understood my
question.

MR. KORNHAUSER: Do you want to go off the
record and have him take a Jook at it?

MR.LANTER: Sure.

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is 9:55. Off
the record.

(Break taken.)

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is 10:03. We
are back on the record.

Q. Okay Mr. Merrill, we took a break off the
record and gave you time to go through the terminal
services agreement. Now, we are going to go back to my
question. Is there any provision in that contract that
makes it contingent on Sequilur Permian obtaining
favorable rail rates?

MR. KORNHAUSER: We object to form.

A, 1didn't read that in the agreement.
Q. Okay. Is there anything in that contract that

makes it contingent on Sequitur Permian obtaining a JV
Page 24

partner?
MR, KORNHAUSER: Objection form.

A. Not that I read, no.

Q. So you know what JV partner means, don't you?

A. Joint ventures.

Q. Yes. And in that contract, the terminal
services agreement, Maalt, was not hired by your company
to provide any logistic services other than the
transloading itself, correct?

MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection form. A.

A. 1--1don't remember seeing that in the
contract,

Q. Okay. During this whole course of events you
have never come across anything in this contract
otherwise that obligated Maalt to procure trains or rail
service or rates for your company?

MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection form.

A. Tdon't remember it in this contract. 1
remember never discussing them petting us rates, but
that they offered to help us get -- or help us with the
logistics and understanding the railroads and with
connections to people inside the railroads.

Q. Okay. And they did that on a gratuitous basis,
right?

A. What do you mean by that?
Pape 25
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1 Q. Just because they were trying to be a good 1 T-T1mean, I sent in the discovery I had, an economics
2 provider of services to you. 2 folder, I had an Excel file thal had from May -- T
3 A. T'mean, I think they -- I mean, they were 3 believe from May through December --
4 trying -- I think they were trying to do it to get the 4 Q. Okay.
5 rail terminal up and operational so they can start 5  A. -- of what the differentials were.
6 making moncy faster. 6 Q. Allright. Now, the December was look forward,
7 Q. Okay. So they are irying to help you get 7 right?
8 started so you can make money faster, loo, correct? 8 A Yes.
9  A. Yeah for both -- both of us. 9 Q. And so was that your projections?
10 Q. But they didn't have a contractual obligation 10 A. Yes.
11 to do any of that, did they? 11 Q. Or was it based on futures?
12 MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection form. 12 A. That was based on the CME, so Chicago
13 A. I mean, written contract, [ don't believe so. 13 Mercantile Exchange futures.
14 Q. Okay. Now, when we go back a little bit in 14 Q. Okay. And what other selling point locations
15 time you mentioned that your first contact with Maalt 15 were you comparing to Midland at the time?
16 was through Blake DeNoyer? 16  A. LLS, Louisiana Light Sweet.
17 A. Yes. 17 Q. Okay. So that would be Gulf Coast?
18 Q. What prompted you to call him? 18  A. That would be Saint James, Louisiana.
19  A. The -- what prompted me to call them was 19 Q. Saint James, Louisiana, okay. And that is on
20 differentials and the Midland Basin for the price of oil 20 the Gulf Coast, right?
21 was -- was becoming a lot higher or so -- more of a 21 A. Ttis on the Gulf Coast.
22 discount to our -- the price that we would receive for a 22 Q. Allright. Were you looking at the spread
23 barrel of a well. And I knew that EOG who was the 23 between Midland and any other selling points, such as
24 company that we bought our assets from, our oil and gas 24 Houston, Beaumont, Port Arthur?
25 assets from, owned a rail facility. I had been out 25 A, We -- we looked at -- we looked at Houston, but
Page 26 Page 28
L there when they still owned it. They -- I knew that it 1 Houston was becoming a -- kind of a narrower spread, so
2 was set up initially for -- for oil service. Andsol 2 we focused on Louisiana Light Sweet.
3 -- [ asked kind of what was the status of that facility. 3 Q. Okay. And where did you go to determine what
4 And so I was told by somebody in the organization, 1 4 the Saint James prices were at the time, was that CME as
5 don't remember who at this point, that it was now owned 5 well?
6 by Vista Maalt. 6 A Yes.
1 Q. Okay. And that prompted you to call Blake 7 Q. And when you go to CME, tell me as if you are
8 then? 8 -~ you are telling your mom or your aunt, somebody who
9 A, After got his contact information from our 9 is not in the oil industry what you would go on their
10 operations team. 10 website and what data you would pull up and look at?
11 Q. Okay. What was the differential between what 11 A. Okay. So the CME has the settlements, so the
12 you were receiving for your oil at Midland and the other 12 market closing price, the last price that a contract
13 place that you were looking at? 13 settled on its website from the day before. And so
14 A. Tt -- it depended on the month, but it got as 14 those are the -- the values that T would pull up. So
15 high as $20 a month. 15 there is two differentials that I would pull up every
16 Q. Okay. And? 16 night. One would be the difference between Midland and
17 MR. KORNHAUSER: $20 a barrel. 17 WTI and the other one would be the differential between
18 A. $20 a barrel, yes. 18 WTI and LLS, because WTI is the standard cost of a
19 Q. Do you remember what time frame this was when 19 barrel in Cushing, Oklahoma with a grade of west -- what
20 was you first reached out to Blake DeNoyer? 20 is called a west Texas grade barrel. There may be
21 A. 1believe it was early May. 21 something a little hit more scientific than that, but
22 Q. Okay. So in the May time frame what was the 22 that's just kind of how it is vemacular of the
23 difference between the Midland price for oil in the 23 industry.
24 other locations you were looking at? 24 Q. Yeah.
25  A. 1--Tcan't remember exactly what it was, but 25  A. And so I would take what was in essence the

Page 27 Page 29
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difference between the Midland to WTI differential or
what was the differential and then I would -- which was
a negative number. And I would then have the LLS
differential, which was a positive number, which is the
-- the benefit between getting it from Cushing lo -- to

an LLS market. So let's say, for -- for -- for example,
that there was a $5 differential between WTI and LLS and
then there was a negative $10 differential between WTI
and Midland then 1 would take LLS, which was $5 and [
would subtract out the $10 -- the negative $10, which
would then give me a $15 benefit between the two.

Q. And then from that I guess you would reduce out
your transportation cost?

A. That's correct.

Q. And then the difference is what you guys call
the arbitrage?

A. Yes,

Q. Okay. Now, when you first contacted Mr.
DeNoyer in May, I'm not going to hold you to an exact
number right now, but it would be on your spreadsheet,
right?

A. Yes, it will.

Q. The spread difference will be on there?

A. Tt will.

Q. Okay. What is your recollection of what that
Page 30

was in the ballpark?

A. My recollection at that time -- so the hard
part is it changed month by month. But at that point I
would say it was probably around a $15 differential.

Q. Okay. And did that make moving crude by rail
to Saint James attractive?

A Itdid.

Q. Okay. And how attractive?

A. At that point it was -- it would have been a
very lucrative venture. It was -- I think our initial
forecast, it is in that spreadsheet. I -- I can't
remember exactly how much the benefit to us would have
been. But it would have been probably in the
$10 million range.

Q. Okay. Over what period of time?

A. Over the period from September to -- September
of 2018 through December of 2019.

Q. Okay. And that would be extra profit over and
above what you would typically expect on your oil sales?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And was that $10 million then also after
taking into consideration your -- your build-out cost on
a transloading facility?

A. I am not sure if that would be after that or

not. I --1 can't remember.
Page 31
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Q. Would that be in your spreadsheet?

A. Tt would be in my spreadsheet.

Q. Okay.

A. Well, actually it is not in my spreadsheet. So
you would then have to deduct out the -- the -- the cost
of seeking the build-out.

MR. LANTER: Okay. I am going to pull that
spreadsheet out in a little bit.

THE WITNESS; okay.

MR. LANTER: And then we'll talk about it.
It was too big to print.

THE WITNESS: I completely understand. Tt
is a lot of data.

MR. LANTER: But I will get the computer
out and you can walk me through it --

THE WITNESS: That'd be great.

MR. LANTER: --in a little bit, okay?

THE WITNESS: Yeah.

Q. So then in May you are looking at, you know,
hey, we've got this potential $10 million --

A. Uh-huh (positive response).

Q. -- you know, bonanza.

A. Yep.

Q. You know, minus out build-out cost on a

terminal.
Page 32

A. That's right.

Q. And so you contacted Mr. DeNoycer, Bcefore that
had you talked to any of your customers or your
potential JV partners about doing this?

A. T--1don't remember.

Q. Okay. When did you first start talking to
Shell about it?

A. Tt -- it would have been in May.

Q. Okay. And who were your discussions with at
Shell?

A. Ben Thompson.

Q. What were you talking to him about?

A. About the possibility of them being -- or -- or
entering into a joint venture with us whereby they would
pick up the -- or they would send trains to the Barnhart
facility, Vista would load them. We would -- or we
would provide the o1l and Shell would take them to Saint
James to market.

Q. Okay. When -- when you are talking to him, was
Shell already a customer for your oil?

A. No.

Q. So this was a new?

A. This was a new relationship.

Q. New relationship, okay. And how long did you

continue to have those discussions with him?
Page 33
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1 A. Through January of 2019. 1 Q. And how did you leam that they were unable to
2 Q. And all of those discussions in that period of 2 get a rate from the railroad?

3 May through January '18 to '19 involved rail 3 A, Italked to Ben.

4 transportation of -- of 0il? 4 Q. So Ben Thompson told you that?

5  A. Notall of them, but -- be we continued the 5 A. Yes.

6 rail conversation, but they also became a purchaser of 6 Q. And he told you that he was unable to get a

7 our oil. 7 rate from what railroad?

8 Q. Okay. 8 A. Ibelieve it was the Union Pacific, but I am

9  A. Through that stretch and we thought that they 9 not positive on that.

<

Q. Okay. Any others besides UP?

f=1

were going to be the purchaser of our -- or the train.

11 We had to switch over our -- our purchasers so that they 11 A. Ibelieve he also talked to the BNSF.
12 would be able to take our oil when the train showed up. 12 Q. Okay. So maybe BNSF, but for sure based on
13 Q. Okay. So you are talking to Shell and 13 your memory, thc UP?
14 initially you are talking to them about buying your oil 14 A Yes.
15 and moving it to Saint James or wherever within the 15 Q. Did he ever mention talking to KCS?
16 Shell organization? 16  A. Ido notremember.
17 A. Yes. 17 Q. Okay. Were you ever involved in any of the
18 Q. So that logistics would be out of your hands 18 talks that he had with either the UP or the BNSF?
19 and then basically transferred over to Shell? 19 A. No, he actually didn't handle the talks
20 A. Yes. 20 himself. He -- he -- they have a rail logistic group
21 Q. And what were -- what were you going to gain 21 that handled those talks to my understanding.
22 and your company going to gain from doing that? 22 Q. Okay. Were you involved in any of those
23 A. We would receive half the arbitrage that you 23 conversations between Shell and the railroads?
24 spoke of earlier. 24 A. No.
25 Q. Okay. So Shell would buy your oil at, I guess 25 Q. Like, a party on a phone call or?
Page 34 Page 36

1 whatever the WTI, was the spot price that you were 1 A. No.

2 looking at the time? 2 Q. Sono involvement whatsoever?

3 A. No, the WTI was Mid-Cush differential. 3 A. Nope.

4 Q. Okay. Atthat price and then they would ship 4 Q. You were just going to turn it over to Shell

5 it down to Saint James? 5 and let them figure it out and then reap the arbitrage

6 A. Uh-huh (positive response). 6 advantage?

7 Q. And then whatever the difference was you would 7 A. Yes.

8 split that 50/50?7 8 Q. Wag anybody else in your company involved in

9 A, That's correct. 9 those Sheil railroad conversations?
10 Q. And you then would be able to receive that 10 A. Not that I know of.
11 arbitrage without having any logistics cost; is that 11 (. So then Shell couldn't get it worked out, 1
12 correct? 12 guess, in what month?
13 A, That's correct. 13 A. August.
14 Q. Okay. Were you going to have to build out a 14 Q. August. And then what did you do?
15 transload facility in order to do that deal, that type 15 A. Tkept talking to them. But -- so basically, I
16 of deal with Shell? 16 -- when we signed our TSA with Vista, [ told -- or Vista
17 A Yes. 17 Maalt. I told Vista Maalt that I needed would Shell --
18 Q. And was that going to be the Barnhart one? 18 that I needed Lo give one -- Shell one more week in
19 A, Yes. 19 order to -- because [ owed them that, before signing on
20 Q. Okay. What happened to those talks? 20 with Jupiter and then [ told Jupiter that and we all
21 A, So they were our primary desire partner because 21 went to lunch that day. And then -- so when I got done
22 they had such a large rail presence initially. But 22 with the meeting I called Shell and told them that you
23 those -- those talks ended in August when they were 23 had one week, otherwise we told Vista Maalt and Tupiter
24 unable to get trains or get a rate from the -- the 24 that we are going to go with Jupiter.
25 railroad. 25 Q. Okay. Now, your terminal services agreement,

Page 35 Page 37
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MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection form,

A. T--Twould agree with that.

Q. Okay. And after that meeting or before that
meeting, did y'all do due diligence into that company to
see what they were all about?

A. We did. We -- we - went on and searched the
internet and -- to see what they were and looked at
their financials.

Q. Okay. And so I take it by that that you
verified that they were a company that you would be
willing to do business with independently of anything
that Chris Favors or Jon Ince may have told you?

A. Not exactly. Actually, Jon told me that --
that he had called around to his railroad contacts and
that Jupiter was a -- the real deal in terms of being
able to get it done. They had the rates. They were
able to get the cars and that we should go with those
guys.

Q. Okay. Did you confirm that on your own?

A. 1don't have railroad contacts, so [ don't know
who to --

Q. Did you confirm it through your discussions
with Jupiter?

A. Yeah I asked Jupiter about it.

Q. Uh-huh (positive response).
Page 46

A. And Jupiter also confirmed it, but -
Q. Okay.
A. --Twasrelying a lot on Jon as, you know, we
were -- Jon gave them the -- kind of the bill of good
health.
Q. Are you telling us that you relied on Jon Ince,
who you never met until this deal, more so than your own
internal due diligence and research into Jupiter?
A, Well, Jon -- Jon is an expert in logistics and
I am -- I am not an expert in rail logistics.
MR. LANTER: Objection nonresponsive.
Q. Let's answer my question. Are you telling is
that you are relying more on what Jon Ince told you,
somebody who had never done business with before verus
your own due diligence and research into Jupiter?
MR. KORNHAUSER: I am going to object. The
question has been asked and answered.
MR. LANTER: Go ahead answer that question.
A. 1say that it was a mix between the two.
Q. Okay. If you were relying on Jon Ince so much
why did you do your own research and due diligence?
A. That's a good question. I-- I would say that
it is just a standard form to -- to -- to do my own due
diligence. A lot of mine due diligence was kind of more

on the financial side and their -- and their sizing.
Page 47
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Q. Yeah.

A. Like, if we could trust them from a credit
perspective.

Q. And Jon Ince didn't provide you with any
Jupiter financials, did he?

A. No, he did not.

Q. Didn't provide you any internal information
about that company, did he?

A. No.

Q. The only thing he gave you was in the e-mail
that you were referring to when you said they are the
real deal, right?

A. No, it was phone call.

Q. A phone call?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So other than that phone call and
perhaps that e-mail, that's al that you got from Jon
Ince, right?

A. I'mean, I think I talked with Jon twice about
Jupiter.

Q. Okay. But other that that's all you got about
Jupiter from Jon Ince, right?

A. Tbelieve so.

Q. Okay. And all the rest of your information

that you obtained in order to decide whether or not to
Page 48

do business with it came from your own work and your own
due diligence?

A. I would say that Chris also was very
encouraging to do business with Jupiter.

Q. Putting aside encouraging, I am talking about
specific information.

A. Oh, okay. Then -- then yes.

Q. Okay.

A. 1 --well, what was your answer again -- or
your question again? I'm sorry. I want to make sure
I'm answering.

Q. Sure. The -- the thrust of your decision to go
ahead and move forward with Jupiter was based on your
own due diligence and research into that company, wasn't
it?

MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection form.

A. Well, it was that and what Jon had said about
his due diligence.

Q. Okay. Now, if Jon hadn't told you that would
you have done business with Jupiter based on what you
found out about them doing your own research and
diligence?

A, Probably not.

Q. Probably not. Why not?

A. Because they didn't have a strong balance sheet
Page 49
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1 and so -- 1 those meetings and conversations?
2 Q. Uh-huh (positive response). 2 MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection form.
3 A. T'mean, it really -- at the end of the we knew 3 A. Mainly it's Travis Morris, Albert, T can't
4 that it was going to take a lot more hurdles of getting 4 remember his last name at -- at Jupiter, who [ met a
5 through, of finding some way to do credit and -- and we 5 fewer times than Travis, but -- and then Tony Wroten
6 hadn't heard of Jupiter before. So it was not kind of 6 would have also been in those discussions as well.
7 an optimal situation for us having a Shell or somebody 7 Q. Okay. Did you ever end up entering into any
8 clse or a BP, or a Sunoco or somebody that has a lot of 8 kind of contract with Jupiter?
9 railcars and -- and kind of their own logistic group 9  A. We did for the purchase of our oil by truck.
10 would have been a preferred. 10 Q. Okay. Was that it?
11 Q. Uh-huh (positive response). Before all of this i1 A. ThatIremember, yes.
12 came up how werc you moving your oil? 12 Q. Allright. And which oil did you end up
13 A. Viatruck. 13 selling them under thal contract?
14 Q. Truck. And where were you taking it to sell? 14 A, Wesold them -- 1 don't know how many barrels.
15  A. That was based on whoever was purchasing our-- 15 We sold all of our barrels through on Bamhart. And
16 our oil at the time. They -- they took it to their own 16 most of our barrels on Tcxon through -- through, I
17 spot, it was point of sale. That bought it at our tank 17 believe January.
|8 battery. 18 Q. What did you say last after January?
19 Q. Okay. So you truck from the well site t0 19  A. Ibelieve -- [ believe through January.
20 wherever your customers point of sale was? 20 Q. Through January, okay. So when did you start
21 A. No. They would pick it up al our -- our well 21 selling it to them?
22 sile. So we -- they had no visibility beyond our -- our 22 A. Tam notsure. My recollection -- it was after
23 well site. 23 --1am not sure.
24 Q. Okay. So you didn't have any trucking 24 Q. Okay. So at some point in 2018 you entered
25 either -- 25 into a contract to sell Jupiter 0il?
Page 50 Page 52
1 A. No. 1 A. Yes.
2 Q. --that youdid? 2 Q. And that conlract ran or the aclivities under
3 A. No. 3 that contract ran so sometime in January of 2019?
4 Q. It was your customer who would bring their 4 A. That's correct.
5 trucks in -- 5 Q. Allrght. And you sold them all of your
G A. That's correct. 6 production at Barnhart?
7 Q. --topick up the 0il? Okay. 7  A. Yes.
8 Once you had -- I'm sorry, do you need a 8 Q. And some of your production at Texon?
9 drink? 9 A Yes.
10 Once you had the meeting with the people at 10 Q. Okay. And when you talk about all of your
11 Jupiter at your offices? 11 production at Barnhart, how many wells do you have there
12 A. Yes. 12 and how wide is the geographic area?
13 Q. Tunderstand you had a series of additional 13 A, It's -- the geographic area, it is a -- pretty
14 mectings and phone calls and things of that nature -- 14 expansive, It's -- it's -- I would estimate it's
15 A. Uh-huh (positive response). 15 probably 25 to 30 miles across., And it is probably
16 Q. -- going inlo time, correct? 16 25 miles across, 25 to 30 miles across.
17 A. That's correct, 17 Q. Okay.
18 Q. Was anybody from Maalt ever involved in any of 18  A. Andit's probably 20 miles north south.
19 those meetings or conversations that you had with 19 Q. So about what, 400, 500 square miles?
20 Jupiter? 20 A, Well, itis not all our acreage, so it's --
21 A. Tdon’t remember them being involved. 2] Q. Sure.
22 Q. Okay. Ifthey were there you would probably 22 A. Some of it's -- but yeah, [ mean, in terms of
23 remember that wouldn't you? 23 kind of the geographical area that it covers.
24  A. [ am not sure. 24 Q. And it probably goes up just a little bit
25 Q. Okay. Who do you recall being involved in 25 doesn't it with your wells?
Page 51 Page 53
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A. Ttis--itis very -- it is like an oval
basically.

Q. Yeah.

A. But then with some gaps in the middle.

Q. Okay.

A. So it looks likc an -- an oblong donut.

Q. All right. So if you are looking at the
picture you are probably at 4 or 500 acres?

A. Twould -- I would imagine.

Q. Or square miles rather?

A. Yeah, I would imagine so, yeah.

Q. Yeah. And then with the wells dotted
throughout?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. How many wells are in that area?

A. A couple of hundred.

Q. Okay. So Jupiter is buying all of the oil from
a couple hundred wells in the Bamnhart region that you
had there?

A Yes.

Q. Did they pay you for all that?

A. We actually didn't have an agreement with
Jupiter -- so we had a credit sleeve with Jupiter, so
actually our contract was with Macquarie who then had a

contract with -- with Jupiter.
Page 54

Q. Explain to us how that worked.

A. It's a back-to-back to contract is what they
call it. So basically we would sign a contract with
Macquarie who has a investment grade balance sheet. So
we know -- we felf very comfortable that they would pay
us. So put a back-to-back with Jupiter and they -- or
with -- excuse me, with Macquarie. So we did a contract
with Macquarie who immediately then signed the same
contract in essence with -- with Jupiter. So we sold to
Magquarie and instantaneously it would flip to -- to
Jupiter.

Q. Jupiter. Under that scenario, how is Macquarie
making money?

A. They made $0.25 in credit, I believe. 1--1
am not privy to that, but that's my understanding, is
probably aboul that. That's kind of the market rate, I
believe.

Q. Aliright. So thereis a little bit of a
markup from Macquarie to Jupiter?

A. That's right.

Q. All right. And how did you end up entering
into that arrangement?

A. Through Macquarie or through Jupiter?

Q. With Macquarie then the Jupiter.

A. So the deal was with Jupiter. So in order to
Page 55

sell our oil via train we had to for -- let go our
commitments with -- with Plains, who was then -- well,
Plains then Shell. Excuse me. So Shell who is
purchasing our oil at that time and Barnhart. And then
in order to do that, we had to have a purchaser. So we
had to go with - we didn't know when the trains was
going to -- the trains would eventually show up.

Q. Uh-huh (positive response).

A. So we had to have a contract in place with

o 00 N1 AN W bW N —

10 Jupiter because if it came in the middle of the month

11 you can't -- you can't cease service with somebody else.
12 Q. Right.

13 A. Sowe -- we talked to Jupiter and initially

14 Shell was going to be that credit sleeve. And so

15 keeping them in the contract somewhat, Shell decided not
16 to do that. And so Jupiter found Macquarie who then
17 came in as the -- the intermediate in that contract.

18 Q. Okay. So then you would sell to Macquarie,

19 Macquarie would sell to Jupiter and if the train came in
20 the oil would go on the railcars and then Jupiter would
21 transport it to where?

22 A. They would transport it to the Nustar -- the

23 Nustar facility in Saint James.

24 Q. Nustar, okay. And was there a -- a part of

25 that agreement that provided for your company to share
Page 56

1 in the arbitrage with Jupiter?

2 A. Yes.

3 Q. Okay. Soyou would sell --

4 A, If we signed that agreement, you are talking
5 about the rail -- I'm sorry, the rail facility agreement
6 that we did?

7 Yes.

8 . We never executed.

9 . Okay you never got to that.

Okay.

. On the credit sleeve?

. The credit sleeve?

. Yeah. Was there any --

. So that -- that was -- that was a similar

15 trucking situation where they pick up at the wellhead.
16 And it was -- there was -- there was items built into
17 the contract whereby we could -- we could switch to a
18 rail contract. But it was -- at that point it was just
19 a pickup at our wellhead and -- and purchase at that
20 point.

21 Q. Okay. So Macquarie bought at the wellhead?
22 A. Yes.

23 Q. Itake it Jupiter bought at the wellhead from
24 Macquarie?

25 A. Yes.

o
POPOPOPO
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Q. Do you know who was in charge of doing that? 1 Struthers?

A. Tdon't 2 MR, KORNHAUSER: Objection form.
Q. Do you know if Tony ever did it? 3 A Tunderstood that he said that Jonas could get
A. I am not sure. 4 us cars if we needed it.

. And then Mr. Falls asked if the terminal owner 5 Q. Uh-huh (positive response). And there is

was Vista San, you -- Tony said yes, sit. Did you ever 6 nothing in this e-mail that promises you that Jon would
have discussion with Spencer Falls about Vista San or 7 be able to get Jonas to do that, is there?

Maalt or any of those companies that were involved? 8 A, Itsays, "I am sure he will be able to get you

O 01N U AW —
e}

A. T don't remember. 9 cars that you need for your fleet."
10 Q. So in this context, what were you trying to get 10 Q. But it doesn't say that he promises that he
11 from Enmark? 11 will be able to do so, does it?
12 MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection, form. 12 MR. KORNHAUSER: Objcction form.
13 A. We were trying to receive help on finding a 13 A. He never articulates the word promise.
14 market and logistics for our oil. 14 Q. Uh-huh (positive response). And then once you
15 Q. Okay. And was it in your mind something that 15 had the introduction then you had your direct
16 they had to go hand in hand, the market and logistics 16 communications with Mr. Struthers, correci?
17 had to be from the same provider? 17 A Yes.
18 A. Not necessarily. 18 Q. Now, it says that you are going to have -- or
19 Q. So at that point you were willing to entertain 19 that you offered to have a phone call that same day on
20 athird-party logistics company? 20 May 10th or after 10:30 a.m. on the 11th, did you have
21 A. [--Tcan't speak to my -- what I was thinking 21 such a call?
22 at the time on that. 22 A. T'mnot sure if it was that time frame, but I
23 Q. But I take it after that you never pursued the 23 -- we did speak with Jonas.
24 third-party logistics -- 24 Q. Okay. And when you talked to Jonas, tell us
25 A. Not that T can recall, 25 what your discussion was.
Page 106 Page 108
1 Q. -- avenues did you? 1 A. Basically we tried to articulatc the need as we
2 MR. LANTER: Here is Exhibit 36. 2 understood at that time, it was very early.
3 (Exhibit 36 marked.) 3 Q. Uh-huh (positive response).
4 THE WITNESS: All right, Thank you. 4 A. Forrailcars, timing and volume and he -- he
5 Q. Tt looks like this is your first introduction 5 said that it would be -- he had some more questions for
6 to Jonas Struthers; does that look right? 6 us about what railcars we would need for it, which we
7 A Itlooks like it. 7 didn't really have that information at the time. And he
8 Q. Okay. And if you look at Page 2. 8 had -- and -- but he said well -- I don't know, 1am
9 A, Okay. 9 trying to think exactly. But basically for this
10 Q. On May 9th we have what appears to be the 10 conversation it was let's keep the conversation going.
11 introductory e-mail by Jon Ince where he is telling you 11 Q. Okay. Did he ever tell you that he would not
12 about Jonas Struthers, right? 12 be able to get railcars for you?
13 A. That's correct. 13 MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection form. At this
14 MR. LANTER: Excuse me. 14 point in time?
15 Q. Now, on the second paragraph he says, "Let me 15 MR. LANTER: No, I said did he ever.
16 introduce Jonas Siruthers, the railcar guy 1 mentioned 16 MR. KORNHAUSER: Okay.
17 to you on our call.” He said, "He has been a great 17 A. [ -- I do not remember him saying that, no.
18 partner for me in the past with our sand cars." 18 MR. LANTER: Okay. Since [ am having a
19 MR, LANTER: I'm sorry. 19 little bit of a coughing fit, why don't we go ahcad and
20 Q. "AndIam sure he will be able to get you the 20 take our lunch break.
21 cars that you need for your fleet. I'm sure he can get 21 MR. KORNHAUSER: Sounds good to me.
22 you cars thal you need at a really good rate. He has 22 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is
23 done amazing work for me in the past.” 23 12:00 o'clock. Off the record.
24 Did you understand that Mr. Ince was just 24 (Brcak taken.)
25 simply telling you about his experiences with Jonas 25 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is 1:11. Back
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needed to do, they had the experience and they access to
cars, and so we werc relying upon that when we made our
final dccision to sign the TSA.

Q. Okay.

A. And to actually spend the remainder of the cap
X at that point.

Q. Did Mr. Ince or did Mr. Favors promise or
represent to Sequitur that trains and railcars would be
available?

MR. LANTER: Objection, form.

Q. To your knowledge?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. What do you recall specifically, as best
you can, being told by Mr. Favors and Mr. Ince in that
regards?

A. 1remember with railcars -- this is just in
regards to railcars?

Q. Yes, sir.

A. That he represented that he could help us find
railcars or put us in contact with people who could find
railcars.

Q. And did he tell you that trains and railcars
were available?

MR. LANTER: Objection, form.

A. He said it would be a difficult thing to do,
Page 246

but that we could -- but that we could do it.

Q. Okay. Did he tell you from whom that trains or
railcars would be available?

A. Tdon't know that he specifically specified
whom, but he did tell us in an e-mail, I believe, that
-- that Jonas Struthers would be able to help us.

Q. Okay. And did you rely upon these promises and
representations?

MR. LANTER: Objection, form.

A. Yes we did.

Q. Okay. Did these promises and representations
prove to be true?

A. For the railcars?

Q. Yes and trains?

A. And what do you mean by frains?

Q. Well, the power?

A. The power? Oh, no they did not tum oul (o be
true.

Q. Okay. Has Sequitur suffered damages as a
result of the promises and representatjons that you just
stated not being true?

MR, LANTER: Objection, form.

A. Yes, we have spent a lot of money. We have

spent millions and millions of dollars in cap X on these

-- upgrading the faculties, which is the sub-cost and
Page 247
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transloaders that are no longer in market.
MR. LANTER: Objection nonresponsive.

Q. But for the representations and promises that
were made by Mr. Ince and Mr. Favors to Sequitur about
the availability trains and railcars, would Sequitur
have signed the TSA?

A. No.

MR. KORNHAUSER: We pass the witness.
EXAMINATION
BY MR. LANTER:

Q. Did your company purchase the transloaders
before you signed the TSA?

A. We signed purchase orders for the, I believe,
but I can't verify that.

. Before the TSA?

Yes.

And your company has in-house lawyers, right?
. That's correct.

. And what's your -- what's your education?

O PO PO

. I've got a finance degree and an MBA.
Q.
educated people, right?
A. Yes.
Q. You are used to doing due diligence?
A. Yes.

Okay. So you have people who are highly

Page 248

Q. You are used to making your decisions based on
your own due diligence and research, aren't you?

A. We are.

Q. Okay. And you had every capability of
determining whether or not there were railcars available
on your own, didn't you?

MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection, form.

A. We would have had to relied on somebody at some
point.

MR. LANTER: Objection nonresponsive.

Q. You had the capability of making phone calls
and asking people if railcars were available, didn't
you?

MR. KORNHAUSER: Objection, form.

A. Asking people on the -- yes.

Q. Yes. Earlier in your deposition I asked you
about roughly about 10 to 15 railcar manufacturers and
leasing companies and you said you didn't recall a
single one of them; that's true isn't it?

A. That is true.

Q. But you certainly could have couldn't you?

A. Tcould have called them, yes.

Q. Okay. And you said the -- when did those

24 representations that your lawyers asked you about take

25

place, was that May and June?
Page 249
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\ A. That was May and June through -- through the 1 of Jupiter didn't you?
2 signing of the TSA. 2 A. We did some, yes.
3 Q. Okay. And do you have the letter of intent in 3 Q. But then less despite your own due diligence
4 that stack? 4 and the research you did in that company you decided to
5 A, Isure do. I'm sorry, let me -- 5 make the business decision to move forward with whoever
6 MR. LANTER: Pull it out and let me see 6 dealings you had with it, right?
7 that. 7  A. Say that again, [ am sorry.
8 THE WITNESS: Oh, wait no letter of intent. 8 Q. Yes. Despite your own due diligence and the
9 MR. KORNHAUSER: Did you remark it, I've 9 research you did into Jupiter, your company made the
10 gotit. 10 decision to move forward and do business with it?
11 MR. LANTER: Yeah I believe itis. And I 11  A. We -- we did make the decision to move forward
12 can find it in my -- 12 with the agreement.
13 THE WITNESS: You gave me too many papers. 13 MR. LANTER: Okay. Pass the witness.
14 MR. LANTER: -- briefcase, but it might 14 MR. KORNHAUSER: We will pass the wilness.
15 take longer. 15 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The time is 5:25. We
16 THE WITNESS: Do you think what exhibit it 16 are off the record.
17 is by chance? 17 [Proceedings concluded at 5:25 p.m.]
18 MR. LANTER: Yeah not offhand I don't. 18
19 There it is. Exhibit 6. 19
20 THE WITNESS: Okay. Well, you gave it to 20
21 me later though, right? 21
22 MR. LANTER: Here, let's do this, why don't 22
23 we remark it. [ will just pull it out of this. Let's 23
24 go back. We will talk about it as being Exhibit 6 24
25 today. 25
Page 250 Page 252
1 THE WITNESS: Okay. Perfect. Thank you. 1 CORRECTION SHEET
2 Q. And your letter of intent, I mean, let's kind 2 WITNESS NAME: BRADEN MERRILL ~ DATE: 11/19/2019
3 of shuffle that, it is dated June 1?7 3 PAGE/LINE CHANGE REASON
4 A. Yes. 4
5 Q. 2018, right? 5
6 A. That's -- T am -- I am not sure, yes. 6
7 Q. And when you signed this letter of intent, you 7
8 agreed with Paragraph 8, did you not? 8
9 A, We--wesignedit. 9
10 Q. In fact, you wrote it, didn't you? Your -- 10
Il your company wrote it, didn't it? 11
12 A. I don't remember. 12
13 Q. Okay. It's not on Maalt or Vista letterhead is 13
14 it? 14
15 A, I--Tcanlseethe-- 15
16 MR. LANTER: Sure. 16
17 A. No, it is not. 17
18 Q. Okay. And you signed it first asking Maalt or 18
19 Vista to execute it as well, didn't you? 19
20 A ldid. 20
21 Q. Once you had the introduction made to Jupiter, 21
22 you guys took it from there and had all of your 22
23 negotiations just between Sequitur and Jupiter, correct? 23
24 A, On terms of commercial terms, yes. 24
25 Q. And you conducted your own due diligence of -- 25 Job No. TX3569876
Page 251 Page 253
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June 1,2018

Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC
4413 Caiey St.
Ft. Worth, Texas 76119

Attn.:

Re:

Jon Ince

Letter of Intent

Ladies and Gentlemer:

Sequitur Permian, LLC (“Sequitur") and Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC (“Vista™) intend to enter into
a transaction pursuant to a service agreement covering Vista's (or an affiliate’s) provision of the Service
(as defined in Attachment “A” hereto) to Sequitur. Pending the preparation and execution of a Definitive
Agreement (as hereinafter defined), this letter will confirm the intent of such parties (“Parties”) to enter
into the contemplated transaction (“Transaction") to be governed by the Definitive Agreement in
accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this letter. The Parties agree as follows:

1.

Term Shest. The Parties intend to negotiate in good faith a mutually acceptable agreement
governing the Service. To the extent there is any conflict between the Term Sheet and this letter,
this letter shall control.

Definitive Agreement. The Parties shall endeavor to incorporate the terms and conditions
expressed herein in a mutually acceptable definitive agreement (the "Definitive Agreement,"
whether one or more) no later than June 26, 2018 (“LOI Term"), unless extended by the Parties in
writing, which the Parties would expect to do if the negotiations toward & Definitive Agreement
and other relevant agreements and activities have sufficiently progressed. In the event the Parties
do not agree upon and execute the Definitive Agreement by the end of the LOI Teym, this letter
(and the understandings set forth herein) shall be deemed terminated, and neither Party shall have
any further obligation to the other Party, provided, however, that the provisions of Section 3 shall
survive the termination of this letter for a period of one (1) year.

Confidentiality. The existence of this letter (and its contents) are intended to be confidential and
are not to be discussed with or disclosed to any third party, except {i) with the express prior written
consent of the other Party hereto, (ii) as may be required or appropriate in response to any summeons,
subpoena or discovery order or to comply with any applicable law, order, regulation or ruling or
(iii) as the Parties or their representatives (who shall also be bound by the confidentiality hereof)
reasonably deem appropriate in order to conduct due diligence and other investigations relating to
the contemplated Transaction.

Exelusive Desling Period, The Parties agree that from the date of this [etter through the end of the
LOI Term, neither Party nor any of its controlled affiliates shall, directly or indirectly, enter into

any agreements with any other petson or entity regarding any transaction similar to the Service or
the Transaction or any other transaction related, in whole or in part, to the Service, except as

1

EXHIBIT

Al
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Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC

June 1,

Page 2

10.

1L

2018

approved in writing by the other Party, Additionally, neither Vista nor any of its controlled
affiliates shall, directly or indirectly, enter into any negotiations, discussions or agreements with
BP, Valero, Suncco, NuStar or Shell, or any of their respective affiliates, for provision of the
Service to them, or any other transaction similar to the Service, within 75 miles of Vista’s rail
facility in Barnhart, Texas, except as approved in writing by the Sequitur. Nothing in this section
shall prohibit Vista from selling any sevvice or product more than 75 miles from its rail facility in
Barnhart, Texas.

Expenses. Each Party shall bear its own costs associated with negotiating and performing under
this letter,

Due Diligence, Following the execution of this letter until the end of the LOT Term, the Parties
and their designated representatives will conduct due diligence reviews to analyze the feasibility of
the contemplated Transaction, which reviews have not yet been conducted and completed.

Approval. No Party shall be bound by any Definitive Agreement relating to the Transaction until
(a) sach Party has completed its due diligence to its satisfaction, (b) such Party’s senior
management, or other governing body or authorized person, shall have approved the Definitive
Agreement, (c) such Party shall have executed the Definitive Agreement, and (d) all conditions
precedent to the effectiveness of any such Definitive Agreement shall have been satisfied, including
obtaining any and all requisite government or third party approvals, licenses and permits (which
are satisfactory in form and substance to each Party in its sole discretion), if such approvals, licenses
and pennits are required.

No Oral Agreements. Subject to the foregoing, this letter (and the Term Sheet) sets out the Parties’
understanding as of this date, there are no other written ar oral agreements or understandings among
the Parties.

Governing Law, THIS LETTER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT
TO CONFLICT OF LAWS PRINCIPLES.

Assignment. Neither Party shall assign its rights or obligations under this lefter without the prior
written approval of the other Party, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.
Any attempted assignment in contvavention of this paragraph shall be null and void.

Binding Status. Except as to Sections 3 through 10 (which are intended to be binding upon
execution and delivery of this letter by both Parties), the Parties understand and agree that this letter
(a) is not binding and sets forth the Parties’ current understanding of agreements that may be set
out in a binding fashion in the Definitive Agreement to be executed at a later date and (b) may not
be relied upon by either Party as the basis for a contract by estoppel or otherwise, but rather
evidences a non-binding expression of good faith understanding to endeavor, subject to completion
of due diligence to the Parties’ satisfaction, to negotiate a mutually agreeable Definitive Agreement.
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Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC
June 1, 2018
Page 3

If the terms and conditions of this letter are in accord with your understandings, please sign, and return the
enclosed countsrpart of this letter to the undersigned, by no later than close of business on Juns 4, 2018,
after which date, if not signed and returned, this letter shall be null and void.

Very truly yours,

SEQUITUR PERMIAN, L1LC )
2y Afd )
~f L N |
By: =

Name:  Brade W{r:f[_ :
Title: vPe c £y

AGREED

this _ & day of June 2018 by:

VISTA PROPPANTS AND LOGISTICS, LIL.C
By: 2 _
Name:_|diahin W, S
i = o e —
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Party A
Pearty B:
Facility:

Location:

Term:

Renewal;

Products:

Commitment:

Service:

Rate:

Volume:

Capital Investment:

ATTACHMENT "A"

to
Letter of Intent
(Term Sheet)

Vista Proppants and Logistics, LLC (and any designated affiliates)
Sequitur Permian, LLC (and any designated aftiliates)
Barnhart Railyard

Barnhart Loading Facility
44485 W.Hwy 67
Barnhart, TX 76930

September 2018 through December 2019.

Subject to the Survival clause below, the Term may be renewed and extended by
Party B for successive 12-month periods by written notice to Party A at least 60
days prior to the end of the then Term, as it may have been previously renewed
and extended.

Crude oil or other hydrocarbons products owned or controlled by Party B or which
Party B is obligated to market or deliver.

For the Term, as it may be extended, Party A will [imit use of its Barnhart Railyard
property and Facility to the sole purpose of loading Party B's Products. Party A
will load Products provided by Party B at the Facility, whether from pipeline or
trucks.

Party A’s loading of Party B’s Praducts at Location/Facility and related servicss,
including maintenance.

$1.50/barre] of Products loaded into railcars at the Location/Facility.

Party B agrees to provide Products sufficient to fill an average of no fewer than
gixteen railears per day (11,424 barrels) during each calendar month. If Party B
does not meet its minimum volume obligation for a calendar month, Party A will
be compensated in such monih, as that month’s total settlement, in an amount equal
to at least the Rate times 11,424 barrels, or $17,136, times the number of days in
that month so that Party A will be paid as if the minimum volume had been
provided by Party B. Should Party B provide more Products than its minimum
volume obligation, Party A shall be compensated at the Rate times the excess
volume.

In no event shall Party A be obligated to provide any capital investment necessary
to perform Service. To the extent more capital investment is needed to satisfy
incremental Volume, the financial burden required to equip the facility shall be
borne by Party B.
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Assignability:

Survival:

Other Terms;

Phase I: Party B will instal] (or pay to install) equipment (to be owned by Party B)
sufficient to load rail cars from trucks such that loading will commence September
1,2018.

Phase 11; Party B will install {or pay to install) equipment (to be owned by Party
B) sufficient to load rail cars from pipeline,

The Definitive Agreement would be assignable on sale or disposition, and as
otherwise negotiated. Any sale of the Facility property would be subject to the
Definitive Agreement.

